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Name, Registered Office and Objects

§1.
The name of the Company is Genmab A/S.

§ 2.
The registered office of the Company shall be in the municipality of
Copenhagen.

§ 3.
The objects of the Company are to engage in medical research,
production and sale of such products and related business.

The Company’s Share Capital

§ 4.
The share capital of the Company equals DKK 44,583,648 divided into
shares of DKK 1 each or any multiple hereof.

§ 4A.

The Board of Directors is until April 19, 2012 authorized to increase the
nominal registered share capital on one or more occasions by up to nominally DKK
15,000,000 negotiable shares issued to the bearer that shall have the same rights
as the existing shares of the Company. The capital increase can be made by cash or
by non-cash payment and with or without pre-emption rights for the existing
shareholders. Within the autharization to increase the share capital by DKK
15,000,000 shares, the Board of Directors may on one or more occasions and
without pre-emption rights for the existing shareholders of the Company issue up to
DKK 2,000,000 shares to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries by cash
payment at market price or at a discount price as well as by the issue of bonus
shares. No transferability restrictions or redemption obligations shall apply to the
new shares which shall be negotiable instruments issued to the bearer. The new
shares shall give right to dividends and other rights as determined by the Board in
its resolution to increase the capital.
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Warrants

§ 5.

Under four previous authorisations of February 25, 1999, January 20,
2000, May 23, 2000 and August 25, 2000 by the general meeting to issue warrants
to subscribe shares (warrants) in the Company the Board of Directors and the
Compensation Committee have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 845,000 of
the Company’s shares {adjusted as a consequence of the issue of bonus shares on
August 25, 2000}, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to members of the Board of
Directors (including the Chief Executive Officer}; 800,000 shares (adjusted as a
consequence of the issue of bonus shares on August 25, 2000}, each with a
nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s senior management (excluding the Chief
Executive Officer); 20,000 shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of bonus
shares on August 25, 2000), each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to members of the
Scientific Advisory Board; 624,000 shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue
of bonus shares on August 25, 2000), each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the
Company's employees and other consultants. All of these warrants have been
exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The terms and conditions for the issued
warrants are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are an
integral part of these articles. ‘

Under an authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the general meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company the Board of Directors have
issued warrants to subscribe for up to 212,500 of the Company’s shares, each with
a nominal value of DKK 1 to the employees of the Company and the employees of
the Company's subsidiary. All of these warrants have been exercised or have lapsed
as non exercised. The terms and conditions for the issued warrants are set out in
schedule A to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants) the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 563,500 of the Company’s
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s senior management,
employees, consultants and employees of the Company's subsidiary. All of these
warrants have been exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The decisions of the
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Board of Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are
an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 254,300 of the Company’s
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s senior management,
employees, consultants and employees of the Company’s subsidiary. All of these
warrants have been exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The decisions of the
Board of Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are
an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 84,000 of the Company’s
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s senior management,
employees, consultants and employees of the Company's subsidiary. All of these
warrants have been exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The decisicns of the
Board of Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are
an integral part of these articles, .

Under the authorisg_tipn of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 139,100 of the Company's
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s senior management,
employees, consultants and employees of the Company’s subsidiary. All of these
warrants have been exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The decisions of the
Board of Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are
an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 75,000 of the Company’s
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to new members of the Board of
Directors. All of these warrants have been exercised or have lapsed as non
exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule A to these
Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.
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Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 18,750 of the Company’s
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s senior management,
employees, consultants and employees of the Company’s subsidiary. All of these
warrants have been exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The decisions of the
Board of Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are
an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for up to 210,000 of the Company's
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company's employees,
consultants and board members as well as its subsidiaries. All of these warrants
have been exercised or have lapsed as non exercised. The decisions of the Board of
Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Association and are an
integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of August 25, 2000 by the General Meeting to
issue warrants to subscribe shares in the Company (warrants), the Board of
Directors have issued warrants to subscribe for ub to 414,925 of the Company's
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company’s employees,
consultants and board members as well as its subsidiaries. All of these warrants
have been exercised or have Ia;;éed as non exercised. The decisions‘of the Board of
Directors are set out in schedule A to these Articles of Associatioﬁ and are an
integral part of these articles.r

§ 6.
[Deleted by the Board of Directors on August 30, 2005]

§ GA.
By decision of the General Meeting on April 24, 2003 the Board of
Directors was authorized to issue warrants to subscribe the Company’s shares up to
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a nominal value of DKK 500,000 and to increase the nominal registered share
capital of the Company up to the nominal value of DKK 500,000 through cash
payments in connection with the exercise of warrants. The authorization was
originally granted for a period ending on April 23, 2008 but was by decision by the
General Meeting on April 1, 2004 prolonged until March 31, 2009 as regards the
issuance of the warrants in question and the related cash capital increases.

Further, by decision of the General Meeting cn April 1, 2004 the Board of
Directors is authorized to issue on one or more occasions additional warrants to
subscribe the Company’s shares up to a nomina! value of DKK 1,250,000 and to
make the related capital increases in cash up to a nominal value of DKK 1,250,000.
This authorization shall remain in force for a period ending on March 31, 2009,

Moreover, by decision of the General Meeting on April 20, 2005 the Board
of Directors is authorized to issue on one or more occasions warrants to subscribe
the Company’s shares up to a nominal value of DKK 2,500,000 and to make the
related capital increases in cash up to a nominal value of DKK 2,500,000. This
authorization shall remain in force for a period ending on April 19, 2010.

Moreover, by decision of the General Meeting on April 25, 2006 the Board
of Directors is authorized to issue on one or more occasions warrants to subscribe
the Company’s shares up to a nominal value of DKK 1,200,000 and to make the
related capital increases in cash up to a nominal value of DKK 1,200,000. This
authorization shall remain in force for a period ending on April 24, 2011.

Moreover, by decision of the General Meeting on April 19, 2007 the Board
of Directors is authorized to issue on one or more occasions warrants to subscribe
the Company's shares up to a nominal value of DKK 1,000,000 and to make the
related capital increases in cash up to a nominal value of DKK 1,000,000. This
autherization shall remain in force for a period ending on April 19, 2012,

The authorizations entitle the Board of Directors to issue warrants to
members of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company's employees and
consultants as well as employees and consultants of the Company’s subsidiaries in
that it is noted that pursuant to the authorization originally granted on April 24,
2003 (as prolonged in accordance with the first full sectio'n of this Article 6A) no
warrants can be granted to members of the Board of Directors or registered
managers to whom warrants have previously been issued. The existing
shareholders of the Company shall not have a right of pre-emption in connection
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with the issue of warrants based on these authorizations. One warrant shall give
the right to subscribe one share with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a subscription
price per share determined by the Board of Directors which, however, shall be no
less than the market price per share of the Company’s shares at the time of issue.

The exercise period for the issued warrants shall be determined by the
Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors is authorized to set out more detailed terms for
the warrants that are to be issued based on these authorizations.

The existing shareholders of the Company shatl not have a right of pre-
emption in connection with issue of shares on the basis of warrants. The shares
that are issued through the exercise of warrants shall have the same rights as
existing shares cf. these Articles of Association

Under the authorisation of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to issue
up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company the Board of Directors
have on June 24, 2003 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 146,025 of the
Company's shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company's
employees and consultants as well as employees and consultants of its subsidiaries.
129,651 of these warrants had on April 1, 2008 been exercised. The decisions of
the Board of Directors are set out in schedule B to these Articles of Association and
are an integral part of these artlcles

Under the authonsatson of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to issue
up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company the Board of Directors
have on October 10, 2003 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 57,600 of the
Company's shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to the Company's
employees and consultants as well as employees and cansultants of its subsidiaries.
All of these warrants had on April 1, 2008 been exercised. The decisions of the
Board of Directors are set out in schedule B to these Articles of Association and are
an integral part of these articles.

Under fhe authorisation of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company the Board of
Directors have on November 11, 2003 issued warrants to subscribe for up to
25,000 of the Company's shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to a member
of the Board of Directors. All of these warrants had on February 14, 2007 been
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exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule B to these
Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company, the Board of
Directors have on December 4, 2003 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 7,250
of the Company's shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of its
subsidiaries. All of these warrants had on February 14, 2007 been exercised. The
decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule B to these Articles of
Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorisation of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and authorization
of April 1, 2004 to issue 1,250,000 warrants, the Board of Directors has on April 1,
2004 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 68,750 of the Company’s shares, each
with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.
The Board has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the
amount of DKK 68,750 related to the warrants issued. 42,525 of these warrants
had on April 1, 2008 been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set
out in schedule B to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of these
articles. . ) .

Under the authbrfzation of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and authorization
of April 1, 2004 to issue 1,250,000 warrants, the Board of Directors has on August
3, 2004 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 730,550 of the Company’s shares,
each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of
shares in the amount of DKK 730,550 related to the warrants issued. 65,700 of
these warrants had on April 1, 2008 heen exercised. The decisions of the Board of
Directors are set out in séhedule C to these Articles of Association and are an
integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and authorization
of April 1, 2004 to issue 1,250,000 warrants, the Board of Directors has on
September 22, 2004 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 33,575 of the
Company's shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the
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Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time resolved the
necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 33,575 related to the
warrants issued. 12,425 of these warrants had on November 21, 2007 been
exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these
Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and authorization
of April 1, 2004 to issue 1,250,000 warrants, the Board of Directors has on
December 1, 2004 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 81,750 of the Company’s
shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of
shares in the amount of DKK 81,750 related to the warrants issued. 32,250 of
these warrants had on June 1, 2007 been exercised. The decisions of the Board of
Directors are set out in schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an
integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 24, 2003 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 500,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and authorization
of April 1, 2004 to issue 1,250,000 warrants, the Board of Directors has on April 20,
2005 issued warrants to subscri}be for up to 67,500 of the Company’s shares, each
with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.
The Board has at the same tifne resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the
amount of DKK 67,500 related to the warrants issued. 13,884 of these warrants
had on September 18, 2007 been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors
are set out in schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of
these articles.

Under the authorization of April 1, 2004 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 1,250,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and
authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000 warrants, the Board of Directors
has on June 7, 2005 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 565,000 of the
Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to officers and employees of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time resolved the
necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 565,000 related to the
warrants issued. 28,343 of these warrants had on April 1, 2008 been exercised. The
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decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these Articles of
Assoclation and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 1, 2004 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 1,250,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and
authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000 warrants, the Board of Directors
has on August 10, 2005 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 307,000 of the
Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time resolved the
necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 307,000 related to the
warrants issued, 26,644 of these warrants had on April 1, 2008 been exercised. The
decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these Articles of
Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 1, 2004 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 1,250,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and
authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000 warrants, the Board of Directors
has on September 21, 2005 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 7,250 of the
Company's shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries..;The Board has at the same time resolved the
necessary cash issue of sharés in the amount of DKK 7,250 related to the warrants
issued. 1,250 of these warrants had on November 3, 2006 been exercised. The
decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these Articles of
Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 1, 2004 by the General Meeting to
issue up to 1,250,000 warrants to subscribe shares in the Company and
authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000 warrants, the Board of Directors
has on December 1, 2005 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 23,250 of the
Company’s shares, each v;rith a nominal value of DKK 1 to employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time resolved the
necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 23,250 related to the
warrants issued. 5,462 of these warrants had on September 18, 2007 been
exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these
Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants, the Board of Directprs has on March 2, 2006 issued warrants to subscribe
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for up to 148,375 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has at the same time
resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 148,375 related
to the warrants issued. 3.849 of these warrants had con June 1, 2007 been
exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these
Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on April 25, 2006 issued warrants to subscribe
for up to 54,500 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board has at the éame time
resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 54,500 related to
the warrants issued. 5,586 of these warrants had on June 1, 2007 been exercised.
The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C te these Articles of
Association and are an integjral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on June 21, 2006 issued warrants to subscribe
for up to 604,000 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to
members of the board of directors, managers and employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors has at the same time resolved the necessary
cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 604,000 related to the warrants issued.
2,403 of these warrants had on, November 21, 2007 been exercised. The decisions
of the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these Articles of Association
and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on September 19, 2006 issued warrants to
subscribe for up to 146,550 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors
has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of
DKK 146,550 related to the warrants issued. 2,749 of these warrants had on
November 21, 2007 been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set
out in schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of these
articles.

Under the authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on December 13, 2006 issued warrants to
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subscribe for up to 80,500 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors
has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of
DKK 80,500 related to the warrants issued. None of these warrants to subscribe
shares have been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in
schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorization of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on April 19, 2007 issued warrants to subscribe
for up to 372,400 of the Company's shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to
members of the board of directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Board of Directors has at the same time resolved the necessary
cash issue of shares in the amount of DKK 372,400 related to the warrants issued.
None of these warrants to subscribe shares have been exercised. The decisions of
the Board of Directors are set out in schedule C to these Articles of Association and
are an integral part of these articles.

Under the authorizations of April 20, 2005 to issue 2,500,000
warrants and of April 25, 2006 to issue 1,200,000 warrants, the Board of Directors
has on June 27, 2007 issued warrants to subscribe for up to 826,045 of the
Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of DKK 1 to members of the board of
directors, managers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board
of Directors has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the
amount of DKK 826,045 related to the warrants issued. None of these warrants to
subscribe shares have been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are
set out in schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of
these articles.

Under the authorization of April 25, 2006 to issue 1,200,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on October 4, 2007 issued warrants to
subscribe for up to 188,900 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors
has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of
DKK 188,900 related to the warrants issued. None of these warrants to subscribe
shares have been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in
schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.
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Under the authorization of April 25, 2006 to issue 1,200,000
warrants, the Board of Directors has on December 13, 2007 issued warrants to
subscribe for up to 132,030 of the Company’s shares, each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board of Directors
has at the same time resolved the necessary cash issue of shares in the amount of
DKK 132,030 related to the warrants issued. None of these warrants to subscribe
shares have been exercised. The decisions of the Board of Directors are set out in
schedule C to these Articles of Association and are an integral part of these articles.

§57.

The shares are issued to the bearer and they may be entered in the name
of their holders in the Company’s Register of Shareholders. Until the board decides
otherwise the register of shareholders shall be kept by VP Investor Services A/S (VP
Services A/S), currently located at Helgeshej Allé 61, P.O. Box 20, 2630 Taastrup,
which has been designated as the Company’s registrar.

No restrictions shall apply to the transferability of the shares. The shares
shall be negotiable instruments.

No shares shall conter any special rights upon the holder, and no
shareholder shall be under an obligation to allow his shares to be redeemed.

§ 8.

The shares shall be Issued through the Danish Securities Centre (in
Danish: “Veerdipapircentralen™). The distribution of dividends etc. shall be subject
to the rules of the Danish Securities Centre.

The General Meeting

§ 9.
The Company's General Meetings shall be held in the municipality of
Copenhagen or in the greater Copenhagen area.
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Ordinary General Meetings shall be held each year not later than 4
months after the end of the financial year.

Extraordinary General Meetings shall be held when resolved by the Board
of Directors or one of the Company's auditors, or when the Board of Directors is so
requisitioned in writing by shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the
Company’s share capital. When so requisitioned the Board of Directors shall within
2 weeks convene an extraordinary General Meeting by giving the shortest possible
notice.

The Board of Directors shall call the General Meeting with no less than 2
weeks' notice and not more that 4 weeks’ notice by advertisements inserted in no
less than one Danish nationwide newspaper and in the computer information
system of the Danish Commerce and Companies Agency. The length of the notice
shall be reckoned from the first advertisement. General meetings shall moreover be
convened by sending a notice in writing to all shareholders having so requested, to
the address indicated to the Company. The length of the notice shall be reckoned
from the first advertisement. General Meetings shall moreover be convened be
sending a notice in writing to all shareholders entered in the Company’s Register of
Shareholders having so requested, to the address indicated to the Company.

The notice shall include the agenda and specify the place and the date of
the meeting and an indica_tit_)n of the essentials of any proposed adoptions to the
articles.

In order to be transacted at the annual General Meeting, resolutions
proposed by the shareholders shall be submitted to the Board of Directors no less
than 4 weeks prior to the date of the annual General Meeting.

§ 10.

No later than eight days prior to the General Meeting the agenda and the
complete proposals to be proposed at a General Meeting shall be made open to
inspection by the shareholders. at the Company’s office. As regards the ordinary
annual General Meeting the documents to be made open for inspection shall include
the audited Annual Report.

At the‘ Ordinary General Meeting the following business shall be

transacted:
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1. Report of the Bdard of Directors on the Company's activities during
the year.

2. Presentation of the audited Annual Report for approval and the
discharge of the Board of Directors and the Management.

3. Decision as to the appropriation of profit or settlement of deficit
according to the approved Annual Report.

4.  Election of members of the Board of Directors.
Election of auditor.

6. Proposals from the Board of Directors and/or the shareholders, if

any.

§ 11.

Each share of DKK 1 entitles the shareholder to one vote.

Only shareholders having obtained admission cards in due time shall be
entitled to vote. The voting rights attached to shares acquired by transfer shall
moreover be subject to the shareholder having been entered in the Register of
Shareholders no later than at the time when the General Meeting is convened, or
the shareholder having registered and documented his acquisition at the above
time at the latest,

All shareholders shall be entitled to attend a General Meeting after having
submitted a request for an admission card no later than five days prior to the date
of the meeting. Admission cards shall be issued to shareholders entered in the
Company's Register of Shareholders, or against presentation of a custody account
statement from the Danish Securities Centre or the account-holding bank to
substantiate the shareholding, dated within the last eight days.

Shareholders may appear in person or by proxy, and shall be entitled to
bring an advisor. Voting rights may be exercised under the instrument of proxy
subject to the proxy, against the delivery of the instrument of proxy, having
cbtained an admission card to appear on behalf of the shareholder issuing the
instrument. The holder of the proxy shall present a dated instrument of proxy.
Instruments of proxy may not _be issued for a period exceeding one year and may
_ be issued for one General Meeﬁpg only.

1
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§ 12.

The Board of Directors shall appoint a chairman to preside at the General
Meeting. The chairman shall decide all matters relating to the transaction of
husiness and voting, including the issue of whether a written poll shall be taken.

Unless otherwise provided by the Companies Act all business transacted
at General Meetings shall be resolved upon a simple majority of votes,

Unless the Companies Act otherwise provides, the adoption of any
resolution to alter the Company's Articles of Association or wind up the Company
shall be subject to the affirmative vote of not less than two thirds of the votes cast
as well as of the voting share capital represented at the General Meeting.

Minutes of the proceedings of the General Meeting shall be entered into a
minute book, which shall be signed by the chairman of the meeting.

Board of Directors and Management

§ 13.

A Board of Directors with a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of nine
{9} members, elected at the General Meeting, shall manage the Company,

The Board of Directors shall be classified with respect to the duration of
the term which they severally hold office into three classes as nearly equal in
number as possible.

Such classes shall originally consist of one class of directors ("Class 1)
who shall be elected at the annual General Meeting held in 2001 for a term expiring
at the annual General Meeting to be held 2004; a second class of directors ("Class
11") who shall be elected at the annual General Meeting held in 2001 for a term
expiring at the annual Generalj Meeting to be held in 2003; and a third class of
directors (“Class II1") who shall be elected at the annual éeneral Meeting in 2001
for a term expiring at the annual General Meeting to be held in 2002. The
shareholders shall increase or decrease the number of Directors, in order to ensure
that the three classes shall be as nearly equal in number as possible; provided,
however, that no decrease shall have the effect of shortening the term of any other
Director. At each annual General Meeting beginning in 2002, the successors of the
class of directors whose term expires at that meeting shall be elected to hold office
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for a term expiring at the annual General Meeting held in the third year following
the year of their election.

No Directors shall be entitled to be on the board after the first annual
General Meeting in the calendar year in which the member attains the age of 75.
For as long as Lisa N. Drakeman maintains her position as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company she is appointed as member of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall elect one of its members as chairman of the
Board.

The specific rules governing the activities of the Board of Directors shall
be laid down in rules of procedure drawn up by the Board.

The Board of Directors shall form a quorum when more than half of its
members are present.

The business of the Board of Directors shall be resolved upon by a simple
majority of votes.

The Board of Directors shall receive an annual rermuneration the size of

which shall be stated in the Annual Report.

§ 14.

The chéirman of the Board of Directors shall ensure that the Board of
Directors meets whenever required. A member of the Board of Directors or a
member of the Management may demand that a meeting of the Board of Directors
be convened.

Minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors shall be entered into
a minute book, which shall be signed by all attending members of the Board of
Directors.

The Board of Directors shall appoint 1-5 registered managers in charge of
the day-to-day operations of the Company. The Board of Directors may grant
powers of procure and determine rules as to who shall be authorized to sign for the

Company in relation to banks etc.

Authority to Bind the Company |

§ 15.
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The Company shall be bound by the joint signature of a member of the
Board of Directors and a member of the Management or by two members of the

Board of Directors.

Accounting and Auditing

§ 16.
The accounting year of the Company shall be the calendar year.

517,
The Company's accounts shall be audited by one or more state authorized
public accountants elected by the ordinary General Meeting for one year at a time.

§ 18.

The Company's accounts shall give a true and fair view of the Company’s

assets and liabilities, of its financial position, and profit and loss, in accordance with

Danish financial reporting rules, international financial reporting standards (IFRS)
and possibly US GAAP.
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Schedule A

Under authorisations by the General Meeting of February 25, 1999, and
January 20, 2000 and May 23, 2000 and August 25, 2000 the Board of Directors
and the Compensation Committee have as of June 28, 2002 granted warrants to
employees, members of the Board of Directors and members of the Scientific
Advisory Board conferring on them the right to subscribe for shares in the Company

as follows:

Employees, Management (excluding the Chief Executive Officer)
and external consultants

The Board of Directors issued on February 11, 2000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 259,500 ordinary shares {adjusted as a consequence of the issue
of bonus shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price
of DKK 48.90.

The Board of Directors issued on March 15, 2000 warrants with the right
to subscribe 75,000 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of
bonus shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 48,50.

The Board of Directors issued on June 26, 2000 warrants with the right to
subscribe 200,500 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of
bonus shares on August 25, 2000} each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 59.70.

The Board of Directors issued on July 31, 2000 warrants with the right to
subscribe 695,500 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of
bonus shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 59.70.

The Board of Directors issued on December 6, 2000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 203,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 300. .

The Board of Directors issued on March 6, 2001 warrants with the right to
subscribe 212,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
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DKK 222. The price has by decision by the Board of Directors of July 30, 2001 been
changed to 148.

The Board of Directors issued on July 30, 2001 warrants with the right to
subscribe 563,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 165. '

The Board of Directors issued on November 7, 2001 warrants with the
right to subscribe 253,300 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 117.5.

The Board of Directors issued on December 5, 2001 warrants with the
right to subscribe 84,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 116.

The Board of Directors issued on February 15, 2002 warrants with the
right to subscribe 139,100 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 190.

The Board of Directors issued on March 20, 2002 warrants with the right
to subscribe 18,750 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price
of DKK 183.

The Board of Directors issued on June 28, 2002 warrants with the right to
subscribe 204,0()0 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 139.50. _ .

The Board of Directors issued on September 26, 2002 warrants with the
right to subscribe 409,925 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 33.70.

Members of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors issued on February 11, 2000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 220,000 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue
of bonus shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price
of DKK 48.90.

The Board of Directors issued on June 26, 2000 warrants with the right to
subscribe 115,000 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of
bonus shares on August 25, 2000} each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 59.70.
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The Board of Directors issued on July 31, 2000 warrants with the right to
subscribe 395,000 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of
bonus shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 59.70.

The Board of Directors issued on December 6, 2000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 105,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 300.

The Board of Directors issued on November 7, 2001 warrants with the
right to subscribe 1,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 117.5.

The Board of Directors issued on March 7, 2002 warrants with the right
to subscribe 75,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price
of DKK 196.

The Board of Directors issued on June 28, 2002 warrants with the right to
subscribe 1,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 139.50.

The Board of Directors issued on September 26, 2002 warrants with the
right to subscribe 5,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 33.70. '

Members of Scientific Advisory Board

The Board of Directors issued on June 26, 2000 warrants with the right to
subscribe 10,000 ordinary shares (adjusted as a consequence of the issue of bonus
shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of DKK
59.70.

The Board of Directors issued on July 31, 2000 warrants with the right to
subscribe 10,000 ordinary shares {adjusted as a consequence of the issue of bonus
shares on August 25, 2000) each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of DKK
59.70.

The Board of Directors issued on June 28, 2002 warrants with the right to
subscribe 5,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price of
DKK 139.50.
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All warrants to employees, members of the Board of Directors and
the Scientific Advisory Board have been issued on the following terms and

conditions:

Allotment of warrants to the Owner is free of charge.

One warrant entitles the Owner to subscribe for ane ordinary share of a
nominal value of DKK 1 of at least DKK [price per share] (the "Exercise Price”).

Half of the granted warrants can be exercised one (1) year after the date
of allotment and the second half of the granted warrants can be exercised two (2)
years after the date of allotment and thereafter for a period of up to three (3) years
{the “"Exercise Period”).

Warrants are exercised by the Owners sending a written request to the
board of directors of the Company for the issue of new shares to these
shareholders.

The exercise of warrants is not conditional upon the Owner being
employed by/affiliated to the Company at the time when a written request is sent
to the Board of Directors.

In the event of the Coirnpany terminating the employment/consultancy
contract with the Owner or in‘th”e event of the Owner terminating the
employment/consultancy contract with the Company within 4 years from the date
of commencement, the Owner shal! be entitled to keep 25% of the shares -
subscribed for on the basis of the warrant allotted - for each year that the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force:

- In the event of termination before the

employment/consultancy contract has been in force for 1
year, the Owner shall be obliged to sell back to the Company
all the shares subscribed, Employees/consultants in Genmab

B.V. shall only be obliged to sell back 95% of the shares
subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force between
1 and 2 years, the Owner shall be obliged to sell back to the
Company 75% of the shares subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force between
2 and 3 years, the Owner shall be obliged to sell back to the
Company 50% of the shares subscribed. . .
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- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force between
3 and 4 years, the Owner shall be obliged to sell back to the
Company 25% of the shares subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force for more
than 4 years, the Owner shall be entitled to keep all the
shares subscribed.

The purchase price for the shares shall be fixed at the Owner’s Exercise
Price paid to the Company. . j

In case of grant of warrants not carried out in connection with the
commencement of the employment/ consultancy agreement, i.e. later grants, the
above vesting periods in respect of these later granted warrants shall be calculated
from the date of such later grant and not the commencement of the
employment/consultancy agreement. In the event of termination within 1 year after
grant, the Owner sha!l be obliged to sel back to the Company all the shares
subscribed and so forth.

The Owner shall not be obliged or entitled to sell back his or her shares to
the Company in instances where the Company terminates the
employment/consultancy contract with the Owner without the Owner having given
the Company good reason to do so or where the Owner terminates the
employment/consultancy contract as a result of breach on the part of the Company.

The Qwner shall not be obliged to sell back his or her shares to the
Company in case of a direct or indirect transfer of shares in the Company which
entails that the acquirer achieves either one or more of the below mentioned:

1) holds the majority :of voting rights in the Company,

2) becomes entitled to appoint or dismiss a majority of the company's

members of the Board of Directors,

3) obtains the right to exercise a controlling influence over the Company
according to the articles of association or otherwise in agreement with
the Company,

4) according to agreement with other shareholders will control the
majority of voting rights in the Company or

5) will be able to exercise a controlling influence over the Company and

will possess more than one third of the voting rights.
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Termination means the expiry of the term of notice applicable to the
employment/consuitancy contract irrespective of whether the Owner ceases to work
inf/for the Company at an earlier date.

Existing shareholders of the Company do not have a right of pre-emption
to the shares issued on the basis of the Owner’s exercise of a warrant.

The shares are issued to the bearer.

The warrants issued are non-transferable. However, the Owner may
transfer his/her Warrants to a company that is wholly-owned (100%) by the Owner
him/herself. In such case the receiving company’s rights will be identical to those of
the Owner. The Board of Directors can on a case-by-case basis decide that a
warrant holder can transfer his or her warrants to a third party. The Board of
Directors will determine the conditions for such transfer on a case-by-case basis.

At the request of the Owner, the Board of Directors of the Company shall
issue certificates concerning the Owner’s right to warrants.

Where the warrants are nat exercised within the period stated, they shall
lapse without any separate consideration or other compensation.

The issue of bonus shares in the Company before the commencement of
the Exercise Period results in an adjustment of the number of granted warrants so
that the Owner is compensated for not having received bonus shares for the shares
that can be subscribed for on the basis of the warrants issued. The adjustment is
made with effect from the date when the resolution to issue bonus shares is passed
but is conditional upon registration with the Danish Commerce and Companies
Agency. The adjustment is hade by the thereto applicable number of granted
warrants being divided by i:he following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

1= a
{(a + b)
where a = number of shares before the issue of
bonus shares
where b = number of shares by which the share

cap'ital has been increased.
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The number of granted warrants at which the Owner is entitled to
subscribe for shares on the basis of the warrants issued is divided by (J).

Example:

(a) Number of shares before the issue of bonus shares: 100.
(b) Number of shares by which the share capital has been increased:
900.

J=__100
(100 + 900)

= 0.10

The number of granted warrants (e.g.) 100 is divided with (J), i.e.
100/0.10 = 1,000,

Further, the Exercise Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the thereto
applicable Exercise Price with (J), i.e, {price per share] x 0.10 = [adjusted price per

share].

In respect of Warrants to employees and members of the Board of
Directors issued on February 11 and March 15, 2000 and on 6 March 2001 and later
the following terms and conditions apply in addition:

A. Adjustment of the Exercise Price in connection with a capital increase

(i) Capital increases in the Company at the market price do not result in
an adjustment of the Exercise Price. The same applies in connection with the issue
of employee shares (i.e. exercise of warrants granted to employees, board
members etc,} irrespective of whether such shares are issued at a favourable price.

(i) Capital increases in the Company before the commencement of the
Exercise Period at a favourable price result in an adjustment of the Exercise Price so
that the Owner is compensated for having no right of pre-emption in relation to the
shares that can be subscribed for on the basis of the warrants issued. The
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adjustment of the Exercise Price is made with effect as at the date when a
resolution is passed to increase the capital, but is conditional upon subsequent
registration of the capital increase with the Danish Commerce and Companies
Agency. The adjustment is made by the applicable Exercise Price being multiptied
by the following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

J=(axp)+{(bxqg)

(a+b)xp
where a = share capital before the new issue
where b = shares offered for the new issue
where p = share price before the new issue
where q = price at which the new shares are

siubscribed for.

The Exercise Price at which the warrants issued entitles the Owner to

subscribe for shares is multiptied by (J).
Example:

(a) Share capital before the new issue 500.

{b) Shares offered for the new issue 100.

{p) Share price before the new issue 200.

{q) Price at which the new shares are
subscribed for 100.

J = (500 x 200) + (100 x 100}
(500 + 100) x 200

= 0.917

The Owner and the Company must jointly seek to reach agreement on the
fixing of the share price before the new issue (p) on the basis of the Company’s net
asset value as calculated on the basis of the most recent accounts available. Where
agreement cannot be reached, the share price before the new issue must be fixed

by a valuer on the basis of the procedure laid down below.



Page 27 of 58

B. Adjustment of the Exercise Price in connection with a capital decrease

(i) Where the Company’s share capital is decreased through a
proportionate write down of all shares against payment of an amount that is higher
than the market price of the shares (per share) to the shareholders at a date that is
prior to the commencement of the Exercise Period, the Exercise Price is to be
adjusted so that the Owner is compensated for not having received any payment
for the shares that could theoretically have been subscribed for on the basis of the
warrants issued. The adjustment is made with effect from the date when the
resolution to reduce the capital is passed, but is conditional upon final registration
of the capital decrease with the Danish Commerce and Companies Agency. The
adjustment is made by the thereto applicable Exercise Price being multiplied by the
following fraction {adjustment factor ("J"}):

J=(axp)+(bxq)
(a+byxp

where a = share capital before the capital decrease

where b = the nominal decrease in the share capital

where p = the share price before the capital decrease (cf. the principle of
item A (ii) above)

where q = price at which dividend is payable.

(ii) Where the capital is decreased to cover a loss through cancellation of
the Company’s own shares or in any other lawful manner without payment to all
shareholders, the Exercise Price is not adjusted.

(iil) Where during a single year, the Company resolves to pay a dividend
of more than DKK 0.10 per share at DKK 1, the surplus amount shall be regarded
as dividend to the shareholders that results in an adjustment of the Exercise Price.
The adjustment can be made on the basis of the formula shown under item B (i),

n_u

q" having, however, the following meaning:

g = index of the total amount paid out to the shareholders, an amount
corresponding to 10% dividend to all shareholders equalling index
100.
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C. Adjustment of the Exercise Price in connection with the issue of
warrants and convertible bonds

(i) The issue of warrants or convertible bonds without a right of pre-
emption for the existing shareholders, including the issue of warrants and
convertible bonds to the employees at a favourable price does not result in any
adjustment of the Exercise Price.

fii) The issue of convertible bonds with a right of pre-emption for the
existing shareholders that is resolved before the commencement of the Exercise
Period results in an adjustment of the Exercise Price so that the Owner is
compensated for having no right of pre-emption to convertible bonds.

{iii) The adjustment in pursuance of item C (ii) is made with effect from
the date when the resolution to issue convertible bonds is passed, but is conditional
upon registration of the resolution with the Danish Commerce and Companies
Agency. The new Exercise Price is arrived at by multiplying the thereto applicable
Exercise Price by the following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

J=(axp)+{bxq)
(a+b)yxp

where a = share capital before the new issue

where b = the share amount to which the convertible loan may be
converted on the basis of the conversion price fixed in
connection with the offer
where p = the share price before the new issue (cf. the principle of item A
(ii) above) :
where g = the conversion price fixed for the convertible bond loan
multiplied by the issue price of the oan divided by 100.

The Exercise Price at which the warrants issued entitle the Qwner to
subscribe for shares is multiplied by (1).

{iv) Where the capital is increased as a result of the Owners’ subsequent
exercise of the conversion right carried by the convertible bonds issued, this does
not result in an adjustment of the Exercise Price.
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D. Merger

(i) Where a final resolution is passed prior to the commencement of the
Exercise Period to merge the Company with one or more other companies - with
the Company as the absorbing company and against payment to the shareholders
of the company or companies to be wound up by way of shares in the Company -
no adjustment is made of the Exercise Price.

(i) Where a merger, as mentioned in item D (i}, takes place, with a
company other than the Company as the absorbing company, the warrant of the
Owner is changed into a right to subscribe for new shares in the absorbing
company, The Exercise Price applicable at the time of the merger is adjusted on the
basis of the conversion ratio applicable between the Company’s shares and the
shares of the absorbing company at the time of the merger. For the period after the
merger, this adjusted Exercise Price is adjusted in accordance with the rules
otherwise contained in this Warrant Scheme.

(i) In so far as cash amounts or any other assets are paid out to the
shareholders of the Company in connection with a merger without this being
directly subject to item B, the entire amount thus paid out (or the value of assets
paid out) shall be regarded as extraordinary dividend and resuit in an adjustment of
the Exercise Price in pursuance of item B (iii}. It should be pointed out that in
connection with such an adjustment no deduction shall be made for the maximum
dividend of 10% prior to the adjustment being made. The Exercise Price thus
changed is thereafter to be adjusted for the merger itself where the merger is

otherwise subject to item D (ii).

E. Dissolution of the Company

(i) Warrants that have not been exercised automatically lapse in the
event of the liquidation of the Company. The lapse beccmes effective when the
general meeting has adopted the final liquidation accounts.

(ii) Upon the liquidation of the Company, the Owner holding any warrants
that have not been exercised, will not receive any share of the liquidation proceeds,
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but will instead receive repayment of a proportionate share of the payment made in
connection with the allotment of warrants (in the present case, the Owner has not
made any payment, and therefore there will be no proportionate repayment). In
this situation, repayment is to be effected immediately prior to payment of the
liquidation proceeds to the shareholders. No interest is added to the amount that is
repaid to the Owner in accordance with this provision.

(iii} Prior to the lapse of warrants that have not been exercised in
pursuance of item E (i}, the Company shall give the Owner the possibility of
exercising the remaining warrants, so that the shares subscribed on account of the
exercise of the warrant receive a proportionate share of the liquidation proceeds on

equal terms with the existing shareholders.
F. Division

(i) Where a resolution is passed prior to the commencement of the
Exercise Period to divide the Company so that assets and liabilities as a whole are
transferred to several existing or newly set up public or private limited companies
against payment to the Company’s shareholders, warrants that have not been
exercised shall, according to the Company’s choice, be traﬁsferred to one of the
new companies or be distributed proportionately among the new companies. In the
latter situation, the distribution shall be made in the same proportion as that in
which the Company’s shareholders receive shares in the new companies to replace
shares of the Company. After sq‘ch a division, the right to subscribe for shares on
the basis of the warrants that have not been exercised shall remain in existence as
a right to subscribe for shares in the company that has taken over such an
obligation after the division.

(ii) In the event of a division where the Company remains in existence
concurrently with the Company transferring some of its assets and liabilities to one
or more existing or newly set up public or private limited companies, the right to
warrants shall be maintained as a right to warrants in the Company.

(i) In the event of a division in pursuance of item F (i} or F (ii), the
Exercise Price shall be adjusted. Where the Owner acquires a right to subscribe for
shares in more than one company on the basis of the warrants issued, an Exercise
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Price shall be fixed for each company. The adjustment shall be made in accordance
with item G below.

(iv) The' rules on division do not apply to a demerger where certain assets
and/or liabilities of the Company are divested by the Company into a subsidiary
without payment to the shareholders of the Company. No adjustment is made of

the Exercise Price in the event of such a demerger.

G. Other adjustments of the Exercise Price

(i) Where changes occur in the Company of a similar nature with a similar
effect for the Owner as mentioned in items B ~ F, including changes in the nominal
value of the shares, an adjustment shall be made of the conversion price even
though this is not directly provided for by items B - F.

(ii) The adjustment shall be made as soon as possible after the
implementation of the relevant change and as far as possible according to the
principles that appear from items B - F and otherwise in such a manner that the
commercial value of the warrants issued as estimated by the Company after the
relevant change will as far as possible correspond to the commercial value of the
warrants issued as estimated by the Company immediately prior to the change.

(iii) The Owner is entitled to demand that the estimate made by the
Company in pursuance of item G (ii) of the commercial value of the warrants that
have not been exercised before and after the change in question be subjected to a
valuation by a special expert valuer appointed by the Institute of State Authorised
Public Accountants. On the other hand, the question whether a situation that is
subject to item G (i) exists cannot be presented to the valuer.

(iv) A demand for a valuation in pursuance of item G (iii) must be made
by the Owner to the Company not iater than two weeks after the Owner has been
notified of the Company’s estimate in pursuance of item G (ii). Thereafter, an
endeavour musf be made to have the valuation made as quickly as possible.

(v) Where a valuer is appointed in pursuance of item G (ii), and the
valuer's valuation of the commercial value of the exercise of the warrants that have
not been exercised before and after the change in question results in an adjustment
of the Exercise Price, the valuafion of the valuer shall be used as a basis for the

adjustment of the Exercise Price.
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(vi) The valuation of the valuer is binding on both the Owner and the
Company and cannot be brought before the courts. The costs of the valuation shall
be borne by the Owner and the Company each paying half of the costs irrespective

of the outcome of the valuation,
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Schedule B

Under authorisation by the General Meeting of April 24, 2003 and April 1,
2004 the Board of Directors has as of April 1, 2004 granted warrants to subscribe

for shares in the Company as follows:

Employees and consultants

The Board of Directors issued on June 24, 2003 146,025 warrants with
the right to subscribe 146,025 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 37 to employees and consultants of the Company as well as
employees and consultants of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on October 10, 2003 57,600 warrants with
the right to subscribe 57,600 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at
a price of DKK 62.50 to employees and consultants of the Company as well as
employees and consultants of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on December 4, 2003 7,250 warrants with
the right to subscribe 7,250 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at
a price of DKK 51.50 to employees and consultants of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on April 1, 2004 68,750 warrants with the
right to subscribe 68,750 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 86 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Members of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors issued on November 11, 2003 25,000 warrants
with the right to subscribe 25,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 at a price of DKK 59.00 to a member of the Board of Directors.

All warrants have been issued on the following terms and

conditions:

Allotment of warrants to the owner (the "Owner”) is free of charge.

One warrant entitles the Owner to subscribe for one ordinary share in the
Company of a nominal value of DKK 1 at a price per share determined by the
Company’s Board of Directors at the time of issue which, however, shall be no less
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than the market price per sharg of the Company’s shares at the time of issue {the
“Exercise Price”). A

(i) Half of the granted warrants can be exercised one (1) year after the
date of allotment and the second half of the granted warrants can be exercised two
(2) years after the date of allotment and thereafter for a period of up to three (3)
years it being noted, however, that in no event may warrants issued before April 1,
2004 be exercised later than April 23, 2008.

(i) In case of a take-over as described below (the following section: "The
Owner cannot be required to sell back his or her shares to the Company following a
direct or indirect transfer of shares in the Company . . . more than one third of the
voting rights.”), all warrants issued to the Owner become exercisable, it being
noted, however, that in no event may warrants issued before April 1, 2004 be
exercised later than April 23, 2008 and it being further noted that for Owners who
prior to such event have received/given notice of termination of their
employment/consultancy relationship will only be able to exercise the (typically
lower) amount of their warrants that corresponds to the number of shares which
the Company cannot require be sold back to the Company in accordance with the
vesting schedule below. o )

(The applicable period above is hereinafter referred to as the “Exercise
Period”).

Where the warrants are not exercised within the period stated, they shall
lapse without any separate consideration or other compensation.

Warrants are exercised by the Owners sending a written request to the
board of directors of the Company for the issue of new shares.

The exercise of warrants is not conditional upon the Owner being
employed by/affiliated to the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) at the time when
a written request is sent to' the Board of Directors.

In the event of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) terminating the
employment/consultancy contract with the Owner or in the event of the Owner
terminating the employment/consultancy contract with the Company (or any of its
subsidiaries) within 4 vyears from the date of commencement of the
employment/consultancy contract, the Owner shall be entitled to keep 25% of the
shares - subscribed for on the basis of the warrants allotted - for each year that
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the employment/consultancy contract has been in force as set forth in the following
vesting schedule:
- In the event of termination before the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force for 1
year, the Owner may be required to sell back to the
Company all the shares subscribed. Employees/consultants of

Genmab B.V. shall only be obliged to sell back 95% of the
shares subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force between
1 and 2 years, the Owner can be required to sell back to the
Company 75% of the shares subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force between
2 and 3 years, the Owner can be required to sell back to the
Company 50% of the shares subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force between
3 and 4 years, the Owner can be required to sell back to the
Company 25% of the shares subscribed.

- In the event of termination when the
employment/consultancy contract has been in force for more
than 4 years, the Owner shall be entitled to keep all the
shares subscribed.

The Company’s purchase price for the shares shall be fixed at the Owner’s
Exercise Price paid to the Company.

Termination means the expiry of the term of notice applicable to the
employment/consultancy co'ntract irrespective of whether the Owner ceases to work
in/for the Company or any of its subsidiaries at an earlier date.

In case of grant of warrants not awarded in connection with the
commencement of the employment/ consultancy agreement, i.e. later grants, the
above vesting periods in respect of these later granted warrants shall be calculated
from the date of such later grant and not the commencement of the
employment/consultancy agreement in which case, in the event of termination
within 1 year after grant, the Owner can be required to sell back to the Company all
the shares subscribed and so forth.
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The Owner cannot be required to sell back his or her shares to the
Company in the following instances: (i} where the Company or any of its
subsidiaries terminates the employment/consultancy contract with the Owner
without the Owner having given the Company good reason to do so (For
employees/consultants whose employment/consultancy relationship is governed by
Dutch law: "dwingende redenen voor ontslag™) or (ii} where the Owner terminates
the employment/consultancy contract as a result of breach on the part of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or (iii) where the employment/consultancy
relationship is terminated as a result of the Owner’s death or sickness.

The Qwner cannot be required to sell back his or her shares to the
Company following a direct or indirect transfer of shares in the Company which
entails that the acquirer achieve either one or more of the below mentioned:

1) holds the majority of voting rights in the Company,

2) becomes entitled to appoint or dismiss a majority of the company's
members of the Board of Directors,

3) obtains the right to exercise a controlling influence over the Company
according to the articles of association or otherwise in agreement with
the Company,

4) according to agreement with other shareholders will control the
majority of voting rights in the Company or

5} will be able to exgrcise a control.ling influence ovef the Company and

will possess more fhan one third of the voting rights.

For Owners who prior to such take-over (as specified above) have
received/given notice of termination of their employment/consultancy the
protection above against the possible requirement of selling back shares to the
Company shall only apply to those parts of the shares that the Owner would be
entitled to keep in accordance with the vesting schedule above.

Existing shareholders of the Company do not have a right of pre-emption
to the shares issued on the basis of the Owner’s exercise of a warrant.

The shares are issued to the bearer.

The warrants issued are non-transferable, however, transfer can be made
to heirs in case of the Owner's death. Furthermore, the Owner - apart from Owners
subject to the Danish Ligningslovens §7H - may transfer his/her Warrants to a
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company that is wholly-owned (100%) by the Owner him/herself, In such case the
receiving company’s rights and obligations will be identical to those of the Owner.
The Board of Directors can on a case-by-case basis decide that an Owner (apart
from an Owner subject to the Danish Ligningslovens §7H) can transfer his or her
warrants to a third party. The Board of Directors will determine the conditions for
such transfer on a case-by-case basis. At the request of the Owner, the Board of
Directors of the Company shall issue certificates concerning the Owner’'s right to
warrants.

The Company or its subsidiaries has no responsibility for the tax
(including social security contributions) consequences for the Owner in connection
with the allotment, exercise or potential transfer of the warrants or - in this respect
- any tax consequences for the Owner connected with any restructuring of the

Company.

The issue of bonus shares in the Company before the commencement of
the Exercise Period results in an adjustment of the number of granted warrants so
that the Owner is compensated for not having received bonus shares for the shares
that can be subscribed for on the basis of the warrants issued. The adjustment is
made with effect from the date when the resolution to issue bonus shares is passed
but is conditional upon registration with the Danish Commerce and Companies
Agency. The adjustment is made by the thereto applicable number of granted
warrants being divided by the following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

)= a
(a+hb)
where a = number of shares before the issue of
bonus shares
where b = number of shares by which the share

capital has been increased.
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Further, the Exercise Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the thereto
applicable Exercise Price with (3}, i.e. [price per share] x (J) = [adjusted price per

share].

A. Adjustment of the Exercise Price in connection with a capital increase

(i) Capital increases in the Company at the market price do not result in
an adjustment of the Exercise Price. The same applies in connection with the issue
of employee shares (i.e. exercise of warrants granted to employees, board
members etc.) irrespective of whether such shares are issued at a favourable price.

(ii) Capital increases in the Company before the commencement of the
Exercise Period at a favourable price result in an adjustmeni: of the Exercise Price so
that the Owner is compensated for having no right of pre-emption in relation to the
shares that can be subscribed for on the basis of the warrants issved. The
adjustment of the Exercise Price is made with effect as at the date when a
resolution is passed to increase the capital, but is conditional upon subsequent
registration of the capital increase with the Danish Commerce and Companies
Agency. The adjustment is made by the applicable Exercise Price being multiplied
by the following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

J=(axp)+(bxa)}

(a+b)xp
where a = share capital before the new issue
where b = shares offered for the new issue
where p = share price before the new issue
where q = price at which the new shares are

subscribed for,

. .
The Exercise Price at which the warrants issued entitles the Owner to

subscribe for shares is multiplied by (J).

The fixing of the share price before the new issue (p) shall be done by the
Company based on the basis of the Company’s net asset value as calculated on the
basis of the most recent accounts available.
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B. Adjustment of the Exercise Price in_ connection with a capital decrease

(i) Where the Company’s share capital is decreased through a
proportionate write down of all shares against payment of an amount that is higher
than the market price of the shares (per share) to the shareholders at a date that is
prior to the commencement of the Exercise Period, the Exercise Price is to be
adjusted so that the Owner is compensated for not having received any payment
for the shares that could theoretically have been subscribed for on the basis of the
warrants issued. The adjustment is made with effect from the date when the
resolution to reduce the capital is passed, but is conditional upon final registration
of the capital decrease with the Danish Commerce and Companies Agency. The
adjustment is made by the thereto applicable Exercise Price being multiplied by the
following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

J=(axp}+(bxqg)
(a+b)xp

where a = share capit'al before the capital decrease

where b = the nominal decrease in the share capital

where p = the share price before the capital decrease {cf. the principle of
item A (ii) above)

where q = price at which dividend is payable.

{ii) Where the capital is decreased to cover a loss through cancellation of
the Company’s own shares or in any cther lawful manner without payment to all
shareholders, the Exercise Price is not adjusted.

{(iliy Where during a single year, the Company resclves to pay a dividend
of more than DKK 5 per share at DKK 1, the surplus amount shall be regarded as
dividend to the shareholders that results in an adjustment of the Exercise Price. The
adjustment can be made on the basis of the formula shown under item B (i}, "q"
having, however, the following meaning:
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g = index of the total amount paid out to the shareholders, an amount
corresponding to 10% dividend to all shareholders equalling index
100.

C. Adjustment of the Exercise Price in connection with the issue of
warrants and convertible bonds

(i} The issue of warr;ants or convertible bonds without a right of pre-
emption for the existing shareholders, including the issue of warrants and
convertible bonds to the employees at a favourable price does not result in any
adjustment of the Exercise Price.

(i)) The issue of convertible bonds with a right of pre-emption for the
existing shareholders that is resolved before the commencement of the Exercise
Period results in an adjustment of the Exercise Price so that the Owner is
compensated for having no right of pre-emption to convertible bonds.

(iii) The adjustment in pursuance of item C (ii) is made with effect from
the date when the resolution to issue convertible bonds is passed, but is conditional
upon registration of the resolution with the Danish Commerce and Cocmpanies
Agency. The new Exercise Price is arrived at by multiplying the thereto applicable
Exercise Price by the following fraction (adjustment factor ("J")):

J=(axp)+ (bxaq)
(fa+b)xp

where a = share capital before the new issue

where b = the sharé amount to which the convertible loan may be
converted on the basis of the conversion price fixed in
connection with the offer

where p = the share price before the new issue (cf. the principle of item A
(ii) above)

where q = the conversion price fixed for the convertible bond loan

multiplied by the issue price of the loan divided by 100.

The Exercise Price at which the warrants issued entitle the Owner to
subscribe for shares is multiplied by (J).
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(iv) Where the capital is increased as a result of the Owners’ subsequent
exercise of the conversion right carried by the convertible bonds issued, this does
not result in an adjustment of the Exercise Price,

D. Merger

{i) Where a final resolution is passed prior to the commencement of the
Exercise Period to merge the Company with one or more other companies - with
the Company as the absorbing company and against payment to the shareholders
of the company or companies to be wound up by way of shares in the Company -
no adjustment is made of the Exercise Price.

(iiy Where a merger, as mentioned in item D (i), takes place, with a
company other than the Company as the absorbing company, the warrant of the
Owner is changed into a right to subscribe for new shares in the absorbing
company. The Exercise Price applicable at the time of the merger is adjusted on the
basis of the conversion ratio applicable between the Company’s shares and the
shares of the absorbing company at the time of the merger. For the period after the
merger, this adjusted Exercise Price is adjusted in accordance with the rules
otherwise contained in this Warrant Scheme.

(i In so far as cash amounts or any other assets are paid out to the
shareholders of the Company in connection with a merger without this being
directly subject to item B, the entire amount thus paid out (or the value of assets
paid out) shall be regarded as extraordinary dividend and result in an adjustment of
the Exercise Price in pursnjance of item B (iii). It should be pointed out that in
connectlon with such an adjustment no deduction shall be made for the maximum
dividend of 10% prior to the adjustment being made. The Exercise Price thus
changed is thereafter to be adjusted for the merger itself where the merger is
otherwise subject to item D (ii}.

E. Dissolution of the Company

(i) Warrants that have not been exercised automatically lapse in the
event of the liquidation of the Company. The lapse becomes effective when the
general meeting has adopted the final liquidation accounts.
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(ii} Upon the liquidation of the Company, the Owner holding any warrants
that have not been exercised, will not receive any share of the liquidation proceeds,
but will instead receive repayment of a proportionate share of the payment made in
connection with the allotment of warrants (in the present case, the Owner has not
made any payment, and therefore there will be no proportionate repayment). In
this situation, repayment is to be effected immediately prior to payment of the
liquidation proceeds to the shareholders. No interest is added to the amount that is
repaid to the Owner in accordance with this provision,

(iii) Prior to the lapse of warrants that have not been exercised in
pursuance of item E (i), the Company shall give the Owner the possibility of
exercising the remaining warrants, so that the shares subscribed on account of the
exercise of the warrant recelve a proportionate share of the liquidation proceeds on

equal terms with the existing shareholders.
F. Division

(i) Where a resolution is passed prior to the commencement of the
Exercise Period to divide the Company so that assets and liabilities as a whole are
transferred to several existing or newly set up public or private limited companies
against payment to the Company's shareholders, warrants that have not been
exercised shall, according to the Company's choice, be transferred to one of the
new companies or be distributea proportionately among the. new companies. In the
latter situation, the distribution shall be made in the same proportion as that in
which the Company’s shareholders receive shares in the new companies to replace
shares of the Company. After such a division, the right to subscribe for shares on
the basis of the warrants that have not been exercised shall remain in existence as
a right to subscribe for shares in the company that has taken over such an
obligation after the division.

(ii) In the event of a division where the Company remains in exis;tence
concurrently with the Company transferring some of its assets and liabilities to one
or more existing or newly set up public or private limited companies, the right to
warrants shall be maintained as a right to warrants in the Company.

(i) In the event of a division in pursuance of item F (i) or F (it), the
Exercise Price sHaII be adjusted. Where the Owner acquires a right to subscribe for
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shares in more than one company on the basis of the warrants issued, an Exercise
Price shall be fixed for each company. The adjustment shall be made in accordance
with item G below. —

(iv} The rules on division do not apply to a demerger where certain assets
and/or liabilities of the Company are divested by the Company into a subsidiary
without payment to the shareholders of the Company. No adjustment is made of
the Exercise Price in the event of such a demerger.

G. Other adjustments of the Exercise Price

Any adjustments made under this clause, as described in items G i) to vi}
below, shall in all events be made so that the following two criteria are met: a) the
aggregate intrinsic value of the warrant immediately after the change is not greater
than the aggregate intrinsic value of the warrant immediately before the change
and b) the ratio of the exercise price per share to the market value per share is not
reduced.

(i) Where changes occur in the Company of a similar nature with a similar
effect for the Owner as mentioned in items B - F, including changes in the nominal
value of the shares, an adjustment shall be made of the conversion price even
though this is not directly provided for by items 8 - F.

(i) The adjustment shall be made as soon as possible after the
implementation of the relevant change and as far as possible according to the
principles that appear from items B - F and otherwise in such a manner that the
commercial value of the warrants issued as estimated by the Company after the
relevant change will as far as possible correspond to the commercial value of the
warrants issued as estimated by the Company immediately prior to the change.

(iii} The Owner is entitled to demand that the estimate made by the
Company in pursuance of item G (ii) of the commercial value of the warrants that
have not been exercised before and after the change in question be subjected to a
valuation by a special expert va'alluer appointed by the Institute of State Authorised
Public Accountants. On the other hand, the question whether a situation that is
subject to item G (i) exists cannot be presented to the valuer.

(iv) A demand for a valuation in pursuance of item G (iii) must be made
by the Owner to the Company not later than two weeks after the Owner has been
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notified of the Company’s estimate in pursuance of item G (ii). Thereafter, an
endeavour must be made to have the valuation made as quickly as possible.

(v} Where a valuer is appointed in pursuance of item G (ii), and the
valuer's valuation of the commercial value of the exercise of the warrants that have
not been exercised before and after the change in question results in an adjustment
of the Exercise Price, the valuation of the valuer shall be used as a basis for the
adjustment of the Exercise Price.

{vi) The valuation of the valuer is binding on both the Owner and the
Company and cannot be brought before the courts. The costs of the valuation shall
be borne by the Owner and the Company each paying half of the costs irrespective

of the outcome of the valuation.
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Schedule C

Under the authorisations by the General Meeting of April 24, 2003, April
1, 2004, April 20, 2005 and April 25, 2006 the Board of Directors has as of April 19,
2007 granted warrants to subscribe for shares in the Company as follows:

Employees and consultants

The Board of Directors issued on August 3, 2004 615,550 warrants with
the right to subscribe 615,550 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 86 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as to
the Company’s management.

The Board of Directors issued on September 22, 2004 33,575 warrants
with the right to subscribe 33,575 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 at a price of DKK 89.50 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on December 1, 2004 81,750 warrants with
the right to subscribe 81,750 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at
a price of DKK 97 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on April 20, 2005 67,500 warrants with the
right to subscribe 67,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 116 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on June 7, 2005 304,000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 304,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 114 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on August 10, 2005 307,000 warrants with
the right to subscribe 307,00{5 drdinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 101 to emplbyees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on September 21, 2005 7,250 warrants
with the right to subscribe 7,250 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK
1 at a price of DKK 115 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on December 1, 2005 23,250 warrants with
the right to subscribe 23,250 ordinan'( shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at
a price of DKK 130 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

.
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The Board of Directoré issued on March 2, 2006 148,375 warrants with
the right to subscribe 148,375 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 184 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on April 25, 2006 54,500 warrants with the
right to subscribe 54,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 210.5 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on June 21, 2006 314,000 warrants with
the right to subscribe 314,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 173 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on September 19, 2006 146,550 warrants
with the right to subscribe 146,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 at a price of DKK 224 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on December 13, 2006 80,500 warrants
with the right to subscribe 80,500 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 at a price of DKK 330 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on April 19, 2007 322,400 warrants with
the right to subscribe 322,40(_) ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 364 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on June 27, 2007 721,045 warrants with
the right to subscribe 721,045 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 352.50 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on October 4, 2007 188,900 warrants with
the right to subscribe 188,900 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 326.50 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors issued on December 13, 2007 132,030 warrants
with the right to subscribe 132,030 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of
DKK 1 at a price of DKK 329 to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Members of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors Issued on August 3, 2004 115,000 warrants with
the right to subscribe 115,000 ordinary s_hares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 86 to membel;'s of the Board of Directors of the Company.
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The Board of Directors issued on June 7, 2005 261,000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 261,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 114 to members of the Board of Directors of the Company.

The Board of Directors issued on June 21, 2006 290,000 warrants with
the right to subscribe 290,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 173 to members of the Board of Directors of the Company.

The Board of Directors issued on April 19, 2007 50,000 warrants with the
right to subscribe 50,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1 at a
price of DKK 364 to members of the Board of Directors of the Company,

The Board of Directors issued on June 27, 2007 105,000 warrants with
the right to subscribe 105,000 ordinary shares each with a nominal value of DKK 1
at a price of DKK 352.50 to members of the Board of Directors of the Company.

All warrants have been issued on the following terms and

conditions:

A. General description of warrants.

A warrant means a right — but not an obligation - of the owner (the
“Owner”) to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company at a price fixed in
advance (the exercise price).

The Owner of the warrant can for a given period choose to subscribe for
shares in the Company by paying the exercise price. l

The warrant does not entitle the Owner to vote at the Company's general
meeting or to receive dividends.

When a warrant is exercised, the value may be calculated as the
difference between the market value of the shares subscribed and the exercise
price. The value cannot become negative withbut the Owner's acceptance because
a warrant is a right - but not an obligation - to subscribe for shares in the
Company. If the market price of the shares at the time of subscription is lower than
the exercise price the Owner can abstain frem subscribing for shares in the

Company.
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B. Conditions for exercise of Warrants.

The Warrants are not granted due to work already performed by the
Owners, but are granted in order to motivate the Owners, as described below,
during the years following the date of issue of the Warrants.

Thus, the Warrants are issued and granted in order to increase and
motivate the Owners’ focus on a positive development of the market price of the
shares of the Company and to motivate the Owners to work for a future value
increase in the Company and its subsidiaries.

Consequently, the right to exercise the Warrants is earned during the
following four years as set out in Clause I below.

(1) Exercise Price.

Warrants are issued to the Owner free of charge.

One Warrant entitles the Owner to subscribe for one ordinary share of a
nominal value of DKK 1 at a price per share (the “Exercise Price”) determined by
the Board of Directors at the time of issue, but which cannot be lower than the
price of the Company’s shares as noted on the Copenhagen Stock Exchange A/S at
close of business on the day of issue by the Board of Directors (the “Date of
Issue”).

(I1)_Exercise Period & Vesting Schedule.

(a) The Warrants will lapse automatically, without prior notice and without
compensation on the tenth (10'™) anniversary of the Date of Issue (the “Expiry
Date”).

From the Date of Issue and until the Expiry Date ("The Exercise Period”),
an Owner earns the right to keep and exercise Warrants only in accordance with

the following rules:

= Until one (1) year from the Date of Issue of a particular grant of

Warrants, no such Warrants are earned/can be exercised.
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For a period starting one (1) year after the Date of Issue (a
“Vesting Date”) of such particular grant of Warrants and ending on
the Expiry Date, the Owner has earned and may exercise up to 25
% of such Warrants provided that the Owner’s
employment/consultancy relationship or board membership (as the
case may be) has not expired on or before such Vesting Date due

to one of the reasons set out below under heading (c).

For a period starting two (2) years from the Date of Issue (a
“Vesting Date”) of such particular grant of Warrants and ending on
the Expiry Date, the Owner has earned and may exercise up to an
additional 25 % of such Warrants provided that the Owner’s
employment/consultancy relationship or board membership (as the
case may be) has not expired on or before such Vesting Date due
" to one of the reasons set out below under heading (c).

For a period starting three (3) years from the Date of Issue (a
“Vesting Date”) of such particular grant of Warrants and ending on
the Expiry Qate, the Owner has earned and may exercise up to an
additional 25 % of such Warrants provided that the Owner's
employment/consultancy relationship or board membership (as the
case may be) has not expired on or before such Vesting Date due

to one of the reasons set out below under heading (c).

For a period starting four {4) years from the Date of Issue (a
"Westing Date”) of such particular grant of Warrants and ending on
the Expiry Date, the Owner has earned and may exercise all of
such Warrants provided that the Owner’s employment/consultancy
relationship or board membership (as the case may be) has not
expired on or before such Vesting Date due to one of the reasons
set out below under heading (c).
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For the sake of clarity it is noted that in no event can Warrants be
exercised earlier than one (1) vyear after the Date of Issue of the Warrants in

question.

(b) In case of termination of the employment/consultancy relationship
with the Company or one of its subsidiaries the Owner or his/her estate shall be
entitled to keep and exercise all Warrants issued to the Owner in instances where

= the Company or one of its subsidiaries terminates the Owner’s
employment/consultancy relationship without the Owner having
given the Company/subsidiary good reason to do so. However,
provided that the Owner is comprised by the Danish Act no. 309
of May 5th, 2004 regarding the use of stock options etc. in
employment relationships), the Company/subsidiary shall only be
deemed to have terminated the Owner's employment with good
reason to the extent the termination is made due to the Owner's
breach of his/her employment relationship; or

» the Owner terminates the employment/consultancy relationship
as a result of a material breach on the part of the
Company/subsidiary; or

. the employment/consultancy relationship is terminated as a result
of the Owner’s death, sickness or injury (other than termination
by the employer due to excessive absenteeism or absence
without notice), or retirement at an age where the Owner is

eligible for Company or governmental pension.

Any exercise may however, only take place within the time periods where the
Warrants in question would otherwise become exercisable and with the given
percentages), c¢f. above under heading (a) had the employment/consultancy
relationship continued unchanged - that is, the Owner in question cannot be
treated more favourably than the continuing employees/consultants of the

Company or its subsidiaries.
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{c) In case of termination of the Qwner's employment/consultancy
relationship with the Company or one of its subsidiaries in all other instances than
those described above under heading {b), the Owner’s right to exercise the Owner’s

Warrants shall be limited as described under heading (a) above.

(d) In relation to board members, the vesting shall cease on the
termination date of the board membership regardless of the reason therefore
unless in case of termination of the board membership as a result of the Owner's
death, sickness or injury, retirement at an age where the Owner is eligible for
Company or governmental pension or as agreed otherwise with the Board of
Directors.

(&) In case of a direct or indirect transfer of shares in the Company

which entails that the acquirer achieves any one or more of the following:

1) holds the majority of veting rights in the Company,

2) becomes entitled lto appoint or dismiss a majority of the members of
the Company's Board of Directors,

3) obtains the right to exercise a controlling influence over the Company
according to the articles of association or otherwise in agreement with
the Company,

4) according to agreement with other shareholders will control the
majority of voting rights in the Company, or

5) will be able to exercise a controlling influence over the Company in
any other manner and will possess more than one third of the voting

rights in the Company,

then, the Owner shall immediately be granted the right to exercise all the
Owner's Warrants. However, to the extent (i) the Owner has at the time of the
transfer of shares received or given notice of termination of the Owner's
employment/consultancy relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries, (ii) such
termination notice has become effective prior to the transfer of shares, and (iii)

such notice is received or given prior to the transfer of shares due to reasons
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comprised by heading (c} above, the Owner will only have the right tc exercise the
number of Warrants following from heading (a) above. Likewise, Owners that are
former board members will only be able to exercise such number of Warrants that
he or she would otherwise be entitled to cf. heading (d) above. Termination in
connection with or due to a transfer of shares as described above shall not be

deemed made with a good reason as set out under heading (a) above.

(f) Exercise of Warrants to subscribe shares is dependant upon the
availability of the Company’s Board of Directors to make the necessary resolutions
to increase the share capital of the Company. Any Owner must respect that the
Board of Directors may in its discretion decide to defer the processing of any
request to fit the working schedule of the Board of Directors as well as to allow that

other requests to exercise Warrants are processed at the same time.

{9) Any exercise of Warrants must respect the stock exchange regulation
in force from time to time, including the prohibition against insider trading.

(IIT1) Procedure for Exercise.

Warrants must be exercised by the Owner sending a written request to
the Board of Directors of the Company for the issue of new shares within the
Exercise Periods. The request shall specify the number of shares subscribed for as
well as the Owner's account with VP Securities Services (in Danish:
"Veerdipapircentralen”) at which the shares shall be registered. The cash
subscription amount (i.e. the Exercise Price times the number of shares subscribed
for) shall be paid to the Company in full at the same time or no later than within 7
days after the request is made. The Board of Directors may require that requests to
exercise are made using special forms.

(I1V) Non-transferability.

(a) The Warrants issued are personal and may never be the subject of

transfer or assignment. Warrants may not be pledged or otherwise serve as the
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basis for settlement of claims by the Owner's creditors., However, transfer can be
made to heirs in case of the Owner’s death.

(b) Irrespective of heading (a) above, an Owner may transfer his/her
Warrants to a company that is wholly-owned (100%) by the Owner. In such case, a
principle of transparency will apply causing the receiving company's rights and
obligations {including but not limited to the possibility of earning the right to
exercise the Warrants) to be identical to those of the Owner.

(¢) Irrespective of heading (a) above, the Board of Directors can on a
case-by-case basis decide that an Owner may transfer his/her Warrants to a third
party. The Board of Directors will determine the conditions for such transfer on a

case-by-case basis.

(d) If an Owner enters into an agreement with the Company or its
subsidiaries to make use of S. 7H of the Danish Tax Assessment Act then the
Owner will be prohibited from transferring Warrants to a fully-owned company or -
on the basis of the Board of Director’'s permission - transferring Warrants to a third

party, cf. headings (b) to {c} above.

C. General Terms.

(a) Existing shareholders of the Company do not have a right of pre-
emption to the shares issued on the basis of the Owner’s exercise of Warrants. The
shares issued on the basis of Warrants shall be negotiable instruments issued to the
bearer and they may be entered in the name of their holders in the Company’s
Register of Shareholders. No restrictions shall apply to the transferability of the
shares except as may otherwise be provided by the laws of the jurisdiction of the
Owner's domicile {other than Danish law). No shares shall confer any special rights
upon the holder, and no shareholder shall be under an obligation to allow his/her
shares tc be redeemed. ‘:

(b) At the request of the Owner, the Board of Directors of the Company

shall issue certificates concerning the Owner’s right to Warrants.
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D. Adjustment of the Exercise Price and/or the Share Number,

(a) If changes to the capital structure of the Company are implemented
causing the value of the non-exercised warrants to be increased or reduced, an
adjustment of the Exercise Price and/or the number of shares which may be
subscribed for on the basis of the non-exercised warrants {the "Share Number”)
shall be made. Main examples of such changes in the capital structure of the
Company are capital increases and capital decreases not done at market price,
payment of dividend, cf. heading (b) below, issuance of bonus shares, change of
the denomination of the shares in the Company, purchase and sale of own shares,
issuance of warrants and/or convertible instruments, cf. heading (c) below, merger
and division,

However, no adjustment of the Exercise Price nor the Share Number shall
be made as a result of capital increases implemented on the basis of the exercise of
the warrants comprised by this Scheme or by Appendix A or Appendix B to the
Company’s Artictes of Association.

{b) If the Company in an accounting year distributes dividend of more
than DKK 5 per share at DKK 1, the Exercise Price shall be reduced to such an
extent that the value of the warrants is unaffected by the part of the dividend

exceeding the said amount.

() Irrespective of heading (a) above, if the Company resolves to issue
stock options, shares, warrants, convertible instruments or the like to the
Company's and/or its subsidiaries' employees, managers, consultants or members
of the Board of Directors or buys or sells own shares in this connection, no
adjustment of the Exercise Price nor the Share Number shall be made. This applies
irrespective of whether the issued share instruments provide the right to acquire
shares at a price lower than the market price on the Company's shares at the time
of allotment or whether the purchase/sale of own shares takes place at a price
higher or lower than the market price on the Company's shares.
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(d) If adjustments pursuant to this Clause D causes the Exercise Price to
become lower than par, the warrants may as a starting point not be exercised.
However, an Owner may exercise the warrants in accordance with the provisions
hereof, if the Owner accepts that the Exercise Price is increased to par without
providing the Owner with a right to compensation.

(e) The Company’'s Board of Directors shall determine whether an
implemented change in the capital causes for an adjustment of the Exercise Price
and/or the Share Number.

If so determined, the adjustment of the Exercise Price and/or the Share
Number shall be made by the Company’s Board of Directors as soon as possible
after the implementation of the relevant change and to the extent possible
according to generally accepted principles therefore and otherwise in such a
manner that the market value of the warrants as estimated by the Board of
Directors after the relevant change to the extent possible correspeonds to the
market value of the warrants as estimated by the Board of Directors immediately

prior to the change.

(f) The Owner is entitled to demand that the adjustment of the Exercise
Price and/or Share Number made pursuant to heading (e) above (but not the
decision as to whether an adjustment shall be made or not) is subjected to a
valuation by a special expert valuer appointed by the Institute of State Authorised
Public Accountants. A demand for & valuation must be made by the Owner to the
Company not later than two weeks after the Owner has been notified of the Board
of Directors’ adjustment. Thereafter, the valuvation shall be made as quickly as

possible,

(g) Where a valuer is appointed pursuant to heading (f) above, and the
-valuer's valuation deviates from the adjustments made by the Board of Directors,
the valuer's valuation shall be used as a basis for adjusting the Exercise Price

and/or Share Number.
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The valuation of the valuer is binding on both the Owners and the
Company and cannot be brought before the courts or arbitration. The costs of the
valuation shall be borne by the Owner or Owners (as the case may be) and the
Company each paying half of the costs irrespective of the outcome of the valuation.

E. Merger

If the Company is the surviving or continuing company in a merger (“the
absorbing company”), Warrants shall remain unaffected. Where a final resolution is
passed to merge or consolidate the Company with or inte another company that will
be the absorbing company all outstanding non-exercised Warrants shall
automatically be considered converted into a right to subscribe for new shares in
the absorbing company. The Exercise Price and/or Share Number applicable at the
time of the merger shall be adjusted on the basis of the conversion ratio applicable
between the Company’s shares and the shares of the absorbing company at the
time of the merger or consolidation and otherwise in accordance with Clause D
above, For the period after the merger, the adjusted Exercise Price and Share
number shall be adjusted in accordance with the rules otherwise contained in this

Warrant Scheme.

F. Liquidation of the Compan

(i) Warrants that have not been exercised shall automatically lapse in the
event of the liquidation of the Company. The lapse becomes effective when the
general meeting has adopted the final liquidation accounts.

(i) Prior to the lapse of Warrants, the right to exercise all an Owner’s
Warrants shall be granted to such Owner. However, to the extent (i) an Owner has
received or given notice of termination of the Owner's employment/consultancy
relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries, (ii) such notice has become
effective at the time when the right to exercise Warrants due to the liquidation is
granted, and (iii) such notice is received or given due to reasens comprised by
Clause B.II, heading (c) above, the Owner will only be able to exercise the number

of Warrants following from Clause B.II, heading (a) above. Likewise, (former} board
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members will only be able to exercise the number of Warrants that they would
otherwise be entitled to under heading II (d) above.

G. Division

(i} Where a final resolution is passed to divide the Company so that
assets and liabilities as a whole are transferred to several existing or newly set up
public or private limited companies against issue of shares and, if relevant, cash to
the Company’s shareholders, the obligation to issue shares upon the exercise of
outstanding Warrants shall, at the Company’s discretion, be transferred to one of
the new companies or be transferred proportionately among the new companies. In
the latter situation, the transfer shall be made in the same proportion as that in
which the Company’s shareholders receive shares in the new companies to replace
shares of the Company. After such a division, the right to subscribe for shares on
the basis of the Warrants transferred shall remain in existence as a right to
subscribe for shares in the company(ies) that has(ve) taken over such an obligation
after the division.

(ii} In the event of a division where the Company remains in existence
concurrently with the Company transferring some of its assets and liabilities to one
or more existing or newly set up public or private limited companies, the right to
Warrants shall be maintained as a right to Warrants in the Company.

(i) In the event of a division as set out in item (i) or (ii} above, the
Exercise Price and/or Share Number shall be adjusted according to Clause D above.

(iv} No adjustment of the Exercise Price and/or the Share Number shall
be made in the event of a division where certain assets and/or liabilities of the
Company are divested by thé &:ompany into a subsidiary Without payment to the

shareholders of the Company.

H. Tax Implications.

The Company and its subsidiaries shall have no responsibility for the tax
consequences (including social security contributions triggered) for the Owner in
connection with the allotment, exercise or potential transfer of the Warrants or any

transfer of shares acquired on the basis of exercise of Warrants or any tax
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consequences for the Owner connected with any restructuring of the Company.
However, the Company shall be entitled to withhold and pay to tax authorities any
applicable taxes or social contributions that the Owner may be the subject of.

1. No exterritorial applicability of mandatory laws.

Nothing herein shall be deemed to confer upon employees whose
employment relationship is governed by foreign (Non-Danish) law, any benefit
under mandatory Danish employment laws and no such laws or regulation is

included into this Warrant Scheme by reference.
J. Arbitration.

The interpretation of this Warrant Scheme and Warrants issued pursuant
hereto including contents, scope, expiry or breach hereof as well as other disputes
shall be governed by Danish law and shall be settled in accordance with the rules of
procedure of the Copenhagen Arbitration. Place of arbitratio.n shall be Copenhagen,

Denmark.
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Dear Shareholder,

Genmab reported a net loss of DKK 261 million
(approx. USD 50 million) for the first nine months
of 2007. This is a reduction of DKK 40 million
(approx. USD 8 million} compared to the corre-
sponding period of 2006. In the same period,
Genmab’s revenues increased by DKK 250
million (approx. USD 48 million) to DKK 356
million (approx. USD 68 million).

The research and development costs increased
from DKK 365 million (approx. USD 69 million)
for the first three quarters of 2006 to DKK 582
million (approx. USD 111 million) for the
corresponding period in 2007 and accounted for
88% of the operating costs.

At September 30, 2007, Genmab had cash and
marketable securities of DKK 3.921 billion
(approximately USD 746 million).

Outlook

Genmab is maintaining its financial guidance for
the year. We expect our revenues to benefit from
the achievement of certain = development
milestones in the fourth quarter of 2007 and we
continue to project a 2007 operating loss of DKK
385 to 435 million and a net loss in the range of
DKK 260 to 310 million. Genmab's projected
December 31, 2007 cash position is expected to
be in the range of DKK 3.8 to 3.9 billion.

The above estimates are subject to possible
change primarily due to the timing and variation
of «clinical development activities, related
revenues and costs and fluctuating exchange rates.
The estimates also assume that no further
agreements are entered into during 2007 that
could materially affect the results.

Highlights
Genmab continued the progress made during the

first half of the year with a number of business
and scientific achievements in the third quarter.

Genmab A/S

Page 2 of 24

This includes the following announcements by
Genmab:

e Regaining all rights to the HuMax-TAC™
antibody from Merck Serono following a
portfolio review.

¢ Roche filing an investigational new drug
application (IND} with the FDA for a Genmab
antibody.

o Initiation of a Phase III clinical study of
HuMax-EGFr™ (zalutumumab) to treat front
line head and neck cancer in cooperation with
the Danish Head and Neck Cancer Group
(DAHANCA).

s An asset exchange agreement with Medarex
to gain all rights to HuMax-Inflam™, now
known as HuMax-1L8™. Genmab plans to
develop the antibody for the treatment of
glioblastoma, a cancer of the central nervous
system,

* Amending a pivotal study of HuMax-CD20®
(ofatumumab) to treat non-hodgkin’s
lymphoma from two arms to a single arm
study.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date:

s Genmab’s partner Roche filed a clinical trial
application (CTA) with the British regulatory
authorities. This is the third Genmab antibody
developed under the companies’ collaboration
to enter clinical trials.

+ Amendment of the ongeing HuMax-CD4®
(zanolimumab) pivotal study to broaden
inclusion criteria for refractory CTCL patients
and an Orphan Drug Designation for the
treatment of nodal T-cell lymphoma,
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¢ Roche announced positive results from a
Phase I study of R1507 in patients with solid
tumors. Nine of 34 patients experienced
disease stabilizations when treated with
R1507. Four of seven patients with Ewing's
sarcoma demonstrated clinical benefit and two
of these achieved durable, objective partial
responses.

Product Pipeline
During the third quarter of 2007, we continued to
build a broad portfolio of products in various
stages of development.

As per September 30, 2007, the clinical pipeline
included five pivotal Phase I1I studies, four Phase
11 studies, one Phase I/l study, four Phase 1
studies, and more than seventeen pre-clinical
programs. In addition to the ongoing studies, the
pipeline also includes three completed Phase Il
studies and one completed Phase I/1] study. An
update on the status of our key clinical programs
is below.

Program Partner Phase I/lI Phase Il Phase Il
HuMax-CD20 |GSK TSI IMARsIeR IC Teakere Tedl L
Neon-Hodgkin's Jymphoma (NHL)_ - .~
Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)
B-CLL frontline . _.
'NHL front line
HuMax_CD4 iR omols s .
Non-cutaneous T-cell lvmphoma (NCTCL)
"NCTCL combination___]
HuMax-EGFr [ H;s dheck cancer: i i
Head and neck cancer frontline . .- |
"Non_small cell lung.canger front line
Head and necklcancer front ling
AMG 714 Amgen { Rheumatoid arthritis™
| Psbriasis
HuMax-IL8 Palmoplantar gustulosis
R1507 Roche © T Y (|GF-1F3 target)
Roche 2 Roche o
Roche 3 Roche e

*Further development ot AMG 714 in RA i3 dependent upon results of a Phase | stucy

HuMax-CD20 (ofatumumab)

HuMax-CD20 is currently in clinical swdies for
the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia
(CLL), follicular NHL and RA. HuMax-CD20 has
a Fast Track designation from the FDA for CLL.

Genmab A/S
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A pivotal Phase 1l study is ongoing to treat
refractory CLL. The study will include
approximately 150 patients in two different
patient populations: patients who are refractory to
both  fludarabine and alemtuzumab and
fludarabine refractory patients who are considered
inappropriate catididates for alemtuzumab due to
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bulky tumor in their lymph nodes. Each group
will consist of approximately 66 patients and will
be analyzed separately. Due to the high unmet
medical need amongst these patients, registration
of ofatumumab could be possible in each
indication, depending on the data generated from
this study.

Positive HuMax-CD20 Phase I/!I data showing an
abjective response rate of 50% in CLL patients
treated at the highest dose level (2000 mg) was
previously reported.

A Phase !l front line study of HuMax-CD20 in
combination with fludarabine and cyclophos-
phamide (FC) to treat CLL in previously untreated
patients was initiated in December 2006.

A HuMax-CD20 Phase III pivotal study to treat
patients with rituximab refractory follicular NHL
was initiated in July 2006. This study was
amended in September 2007 1o a single arm study
and will now include 81 patients. Positive results
from a previous Phase 1/11 study in relapsed or
refractory follicular WHL showed objective
responses of up to 63% according to the Cheson
criteria,

In June 2007, a Phase II study of HuMax-CD20 in
combination with cyclophosphamide, doxoru-
bicin, vincristine and prednisone (CHOP) in
patients with previously untreated follicular NHL
was initiated, A total of 56 patients will be
enrolled in the study.

Positive data from a Phase I HuMax-CD20 study
in RA was presented in June 2007. In the
intention-to-treat study population comprising 224
patients, 46% of all patients treated with HuMax-
CD20 achieved ACR20, 24% achieved ACRS0
and 6% achieved ACR70 compared to 15%, 5%
and 0% in the placebo group at 24 weeks,
Genmab and GSK are planning to initiate the
Phase I1I program during the second half of 2007.

Genmab A/S
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Expanded development plans for HuMax-CD20
were announced in June. Randomized Phase 111
studies in CLL and NHL are being planned in
addition 1o the Phase III RA studies. We also plan
to expand development into two new disease
indications: relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis
{RRMS) and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.

In September 2007, Genmab announced new pre-
clinical data showing HuMax-CD20 appeared
more effective at inducing complement dependent
cytotoxicity (CDC), an immune system Killing
mechanism, than rituximab. Direct comparisons
of HuMax-CD20 and rituximab revealed HuMax-
CD20 to induce much more rapid and profound
CDC and far more impressive cell changes than
rituximab. This, furthermore, lead to more
effective killing of target cells by HuMax-CD20.

In December 2006, Genmab entered into an
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), which
gave GSK exclusive worldwide rights to co-
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20. Under
the co-development of HuMax-CD20, GSK and
Genmab will share the development costs equally
from 2008. GSK will be solely responsible for
manufacturing and commercialization. Genmab
reached the first milestone under the companies’
agreement with the presentation of positive data in
the Phase 1l RA study, triggering a milestone
payment of DKK 116.3 million in June 2007.

HuMax-CD4 (zanolimumab)

HuMax-CD4 is curtently in Phase |l
development for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell
lymphoma (CTCL) and in Phase 1I development
for non-cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (NCTCL).
The CTCL pivotal study, which was amended to
treat refractory CTCL in October 2007, is being
conducted under an SPA agreement and Fast
Track designation from the FDA. HuMax-CD4
has been granted Orphan Drug Status in the EU
and US to treat patients with the most common
form of CTCL, mycosis fungoides (MF). In
addition, we received an Orphan Drug
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Designation for the treatment of nodal T-cell
lymphoma in October 2007.

Positive preliminary results from the pivotal study
in CTCL were presented in December 2006, A
clinical response was shown in 42% of patients in
the two highest dose groups. A partial response
was obtained by 16% of patients in the 8 mg/kg
dose group and 67% of patients in the 14 mg/kg
dose group. No responses were observed in the 4
mg/kg dose group and this level is not being used
in the second part of this ongoing study.

Final results from the Phase II studies in CTCL
were announced in June 2007. At the high dose
levels of 560 mg and 980 mg of HuMax-CD4,
median response duration was 81 weeks, a
significant increase compared to previously
reported preliminary data.

In December 2006, preliminary results from a
Phase 11 NCTCL trial showed that 28.5% of
patients had objective responses. A Phase 11 study
to treat NCTCL patients with HuMax-CD4 in
combination with chemotherapy is underway.

Genmab regained ali rights to HuMax-CD4 from
Merck Serono in June 2007.

HuMax-EGFr (zalutumumab)

HuMax-EGFr is currently in three studies to treat
head and neck cancer and one study to treat non
small cell lung cancer. A pivotal Phase Il study to
treat 273 patients with refractory head and neck
cancer considered incurable with standard
treatment is being conducted under a Fast Track
designation: from the FDA, A 36 patient Phase I/1]
study of HuMax-EGFr in combination with
chemo-radiation as front line treatment of
advanced head and neck cancer is also ongoing,.

In September 2007, Genmab announced the
initiation of a Phase III study to treat previously
untreated head and neck cancer patients in
cooperation with DAHANCA. The approximately
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600 patients to be included in the study will be
randomized to treatment with radiotherapy or
HuMax-EGFr plus radiotherapy.

Previously reported data from a Phase I/1l study
showed encouraging efficacy in refractory head
and neck cancer with 9 out of 11 patients in the
two highest dose groups obtaining partial
metabolic response or stable metabolic disease
when evaluated by FDG-PET scan.

In April 2007, Genmab initiated a Phase Il study
of HuMax-EGFr in combination with chemo-
radiation for the treatment of non small cell lung
cancer. A maximum of 270 patients with
advanced non small cell lung cancer will be
included in the study.

In June 2007, Genmab announced new pre-
clinical data illustrating that HuMax-EGFr may
have broad potential to treat cancers that over-
express several types of epidermal growth factor
receptor (EGFr). In a novel laboratory model,
HuMax-EGFr effectively inhibited the growth of
tumor cells that express both mutated or normal
EGF receptors. The model also tested the effects
of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) such as the
marketed products Iressa and Tarceva on EGFr-
expressing tumor cells. Tumor cells expressing
various mutated EGFr varied strongly in their
sensitivity to TKI therapy, whereas no differences
in efficacy were observed for HuMax-EGFr.

AMG 714

AMG 714 is being developed under an agreement
with Amgen, Inc. and is undergoing Phase I
clinical testing. Results from a Phase I study in
RA were presented in 2006, Amgen is responsible
for all further development of AMG 714.

HuMax- IL8 (formerly HuMax-Inflam)
HuMax-IL8 is a high-affinity human antibody
directed to IL-8 (interleukin-8) and may have
potential application in oncology and inflamma-
tion.
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Genmab gained all rights to the antibody from
Medarex in September 2007. Subsequently, we
announced plans to develop HuMax-IL8 to treat
glioblastoma, a cancer of the central nervous
system. Other possible indications include chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and
pustular dermatoses. We are currently preparing
an improved commerciaily viable cell line with
the hope to start the next phase of clinical trials in
2008,

In pre-clinical studies, HuMax-IL8 has been
shown to inhibit tumor growth in tumor models
using primary human tumors in immunodeficient
mice. HuMax-IL8 was also effective in reducing
disease activity in palmoplantar pustulosis
patients in a Phase I/1 clinical study,

R1507

R1507 is a fully human antibody created by
Genmab under collaboration with Roche. R1507
is currently in Phase I clinical trials. This antibody
targets the Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 Receptor
(IGF-1R) which has been shown to be important
in tumor growth and protecting tumor cells from
being killed. IGF-1R is over-expressed on a
variety of tumors including breast, colon, prostate,
lung, skin and pancreatic cancers. In pre-clinical
studies, R1507 was shown to block binding and
signalling of tumor growth factor receptors and
effectively stopped tumor cell growth in animal
models.

Following the balance sheet date Roche
announced positive results from a Phase | study of
R1507 in patients with solid tumors. Nine of 34
patients experienced disecase stabilizations when
treated with R1507. Four of seven patients with
Ewing’s sarcoma demonstrated clinical benefit,
and two of these achieved durable, objective
partial responses.

Other Clinical Programs

In September and October 2007, Genmab
announced that our partner Roche has filed an
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IND and a CTA for the second and third
antibodies developed by Genmab under the
companies’ collaboration, triggering milestone
payments to Genmab.

Pre-clinical Programs

Genmab’s pre-clinical programs include HuMax-
CD38™ for multiple myeloma, HuMax-HepC™
to potentially treat Hepatitis C virus reinfection
after liver transplantation and HuMax-TAC™,
which until August 2007 was being developed by
Merck Serono.

In May 2007, Genmab announced that HuMax-
HepC prevented Hepatitis C virus (HCV)
infection in a novel animal model. In the pre-
clinical study, mice with a compromised immune
system were transplanted with human liver celis
and exposed 10 a mixture of patient-derived HCV
of different genotypes. Replication of HCV was
not observed in 5 of 6 mice treated with HuMax-
HepC. The sixth mouse was infected with HCV,
but the virus was subsequently cleared. In
comparison, 5 of 6 mice who received a control
antibody developed and sustained a robust HCV
infection.

Consolidated Key Figures

The following key figures and financial ratios
have been prepared on a consolidated basis. The
financial ratios have been calculated in
accordance with the recommendations of the
Association of Danish Financial Analysts,

Key figures comply with the requirements under
the Danish financial reporting requirements and
the IFRS. All key figures and financial ratios are
in conformity with the current accounting
policies. The figures have been stated in
thousands, except for the financial ratios.
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9 months % months Full year 9 months 9 months Full year
Ird quarter ended ended ended 3rd quarter  3rd quarter ended ended ended
Ird quarter of of September Seprember December of of September September December
2007 2006 30, 2007 30, 2006 31, 2006 2007 2006 10, 2007 30, 2006 31,2006

DKK'000 DEK'000 DKEK'000 DKK'T)0

In¢ome Starement

Revenues 76,436 30,334 356,062 105,620
Research and developmen! costs (236,262) (145,715} (582,045) {3164,604)
General and administrative expenses (30,2648) (22,274} (82,973} (63,162)
Operating loss (190,092) {136,655} (308,956) {324,146
Net financial income 15,885 24,961 47,730 22,651

Net loss (174207  (111,694) (261,226) {301,495)
Balance Sheet

Cash and marketable securities 3,921,296 1,858,342 3,921,296 1,858,342
Total assets 4092670 1,953,554 4,092,670 1,953,554
SharehoMers' equity 2,912,654 1,724,847 2,972,654 1,721,847
Share capital 44,506 39,570 44,506 39,570
[nvestments in tangible fixed assets 4,567 639 12,118 4,437

Cash Flow Statement

Cash flow from operating activities {20,765) (78,541} 692,865 (240,286}
Cash flow from investing activities {168,391) 60,162 {2,530,227) (598,894)
Cash flow from financing activities 944 12,643 1,560,631 871,153

Cash and cash equivalents 152,02¢ 411,084 152,029 413,084

Financial Ratios (in DKK / USD)

Basic and diluted net loss per share (3.92) (2.83) (597) (1.719)
Period-end share market price 32500 24500 12500 245,00

Price / book value 487 5.63 4387 5.63

Shareholders' equity per share 66,79 43.51 6679 43.51

Equity ratio 3% 8% 1% 3%
Average number of employees 323 246 288 232

MNumber of employees at the end of the

period 335 249 335 249

DKK'000 usDooe  USDooo Uspoge UsSDoos UsDoco

135,547 14,539 5,960 67,726 20,090 25,782
($13.065)  (44939) (27716} (10,710) (69.351)  {97.589)
(94,696) (5757) (4231 (15.782) (12394} (18.012)
(472,214) (36,157}  (25,993) (58,766} (61,655)  (B9,819)
33,978 3,021 4,748 9,079 4,308 6,463
(438,236)  (33,136)  (21,245) (49.687) (57,347} (83356)
1724333 745862 353472 745,862 353472 32798
1,804,629 778459 371,583 778,459 371,563 343256
1,607,582 565,422 327,510 565,422 327,510 305,775
39,648 B.465 7.527 B.465 7,527 7,541
5,348 869 122 2,305 844 Lo17
79.623) (3.950)  {18,939) 131,789 (45704)  (7220T)
(451373) (20617} 11,443 (481269  (113914)  (85,855)
879,013 180 2,405 296,845 165,699 167,199
425,075 28917 78,572 28917 78,572 81,614
(11.26) 075 (0.59) .14 {1.48) (244
380.00 61.82 46.60 61.82 46,60 1278
931 487 562 487 5.63 937
40.54 12.70 828 12.70 818 mn
B% 73% 83% 7% 88% 29%
237 323 246 288 232 237
248 335 249 335 249 248

Genmab®; the Y-shaped Genmab logo®; HuMax*; HuMax-CD4"; HuMax-CD20"; HuMax-EGFr™; HuMax-[L8™; HuMax-TAC™,
HuMax-HepC™; HuMax-CD38™; and UniBody" are all trademarks of Genmab A/S; HuMAb-Mouse®, UltiMAb® and UltiMAb

.

Human Antibody Development System® are trademarks of Medarex, Inc.; TC Mouse™ is a trademark of Kirin Brewery Co., Ltd.

Bexxar™, Arranon™ and Atriance™ are all trademarks of GlaxoSmithKline.

Financial Review

The Interim Report is prepared on a consolidated
basis for the Genmab Group. The financial
statements are published in Danish Kroner (DKK).
Solely for the convenience of the reader, this
Interim Report contains a conversion of certain
DKK amounts into US Dollars (USD) at a
specified rate. These converted amounts should not
be construed as representations that the DKK
amounts actually represent such USD amounts or

could be converted into USD at the rate indicated
or at any other rate.

Unless otherwise indicated, conversion herein of
financial information into USD has been made
using the Danish Central Bank’s spot rate on
September 30, 2007, which was USD 1.00 = DKK
5.2574,
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Interim Report
9 months ended September 30, 2007
{October 30, 2007)

Revenues

Genmab's revenues were DKK 76.4 million for the
third quarter of 2007 and DKK 356.1 million for
the first nine months of 2007. The revenues arise
primarily from services provided under Genmab’s
development collaboration agreements with GSK
{co-development and commercialization of
HuMax-CD20) and Merck Serono (development
and commercialization of HuMax-CD4). For
comparison, revenues totalled DKK 31.3 million in
the third quarter of 2006 and DKK 105.6 million
for the first nine months of 2006.

The upfront payment from GSK has initially been
recognized as deferred income and is recognized as
revenue on a straight-line basis over a five-year
period. As announced on June 29, 2007, Genmab
has regained all rights to HuMax-CD4 from Merck
Serono. As previously projected, the remaining
deferred income from this collaboration will be
recognized as revenue on a straight line basis over
the remaining part of 2007.

In June 2007, Genmab anncunced that we had
reached the first development milestone for
ofatumumab (HuMax-CD20) under the terms of
our collaboration with GSK, The achievement of
the milestone resulted in a payment of DKK 116.3
million. The milestone has been recognized
immediately, as a separate earnings process relative
to the milestone payment has been completed and
achieved. ‘

As revenues comprise milestone payments and
other income from our research and development
agreements, recognition of revenues may vary from
period to period.

Operating Loss

Genmab’s operating loss for the third quarter of
2007 was DKK 190.1 million compared to DKK
136.7 million for the similar quarter of 2006.
Operating loss for the first nine months of 2007
was DKK 309.0 million compared to DKK 324.1
million for the first nine months of 2006.

Genmab A/S
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As a natural consequence of the growth in the
organisation and increasing development activities,
the operating costs increased significantly from
2006 to 2007. The increase in the operating costs
has been offset by increasing revenues in the first
nine months of 2007.

Research and development costs amount to 89%
(87% in the third quarter of 20006) of the operating
costs and have increased from DKK 145.7 million
in the third quarter of 2006 to DKK 236.3 million
in the third quarter of 2007. On a nine months
basis, research and development costs amount 1o
KK 582.0 million and hereafter 88% (85% in the
first nine months of 2006) of the operating costs.
The research and development costs have increased
60% compared to the first nine months of 2006
which reflect the increasing level of pre-clinical
and clinical activities arising from the advancement
of our product pipeline.

General and administrative expenses were DKK
30.3 million in the third quarter of 2007 compared
to DKK 22.3 million in the same period of 2006.
On a nine months basis, general and administrative
expenses were DKK 83.0 million compared to
DKK 65.2 million in the similar pericd of 2006. In
line with the advancement of our product pipeline,
the need for administrative support has also
increased.

On September 30, 2007 the total number of
employees amounted to 335, which is an increase
of 86 employees compared to September 30, 2006.
In the third quarter of 2007 the total number of
employees increased from 302 to 335.

The operating loss for the third quarter of 2007
includes warrant compensation expenses totalling
DKK 30.9 million compared to DKK 11.8 million
for the third quarter of 2006. For the first nine
months of 2007, warrant compensation expenses
totalled DKK 59.8 million compared to DKK 26.7
million for the first nine months of 2006. The
increasing level of warrant compensation expenses
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Interim Report
9 months ended September 30, 2007
‘ (October 30, 2007)

is partlly caused by the increasing number of
employees and partly by the higher average share
price, which has impacted the fair value of each
warrant granted.

Net Financial Income

Net financial income for the third quarter of 2007
was DKK 159 million compared to DKK 25.0
million in the same period of 2006. On a nine
months basis, net financial income of DKK 47.7
million compares to DKK 22.7 million in the same
period of 2006. The year to date, net financial
income has benefited from the higher average cash
position. However, during the first nine months of
2007, the value of our cash position was negatively
influenced by the effects of the international
liquidity situation and increasing interest rates,
which lead to reduced market values of some of our
marketable securities. Moreover, the weakening of
the USD against the DKK had a negative impact on
the net financial income.

Net Loss

Net loss for the third quarter of 2007 was DKK
174.2 million compared to DKK 111.7 million in
the third quarter of 2006, On a year to date basis,
net loss for the first nine months of 2007 was DKK
261.2 million compared to DKK 301.5 million for
the simifar period of 2006.

Cash Flow

As of September 30, 2007, the balance sheet
reflects cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities of DKK 3.921 bitlion compared to DKK
1.724 billion as of December 31, 2006. This
represents a net increase of DKK 2.197 billion,
primarily arising from the upfront payment and the
issuance of shares to GSK in February 2007. The
funds have mainly been invested in EUR-
denominated securities. Our total marketable
securities are hereafier invested in EUR (63%),
DKK (31%) and USD-denominated securities
(6%).

Genmab A/S
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For the first nine months of 2007, the operating
activities generated positive cash flows of DKK
692.9 million compared to a consumption of DKK
240.3 million in the same period of 2006.

The cash flow for the first nine months of 2007 is
in line with our expectations.

Balance Sheet

As of September 30, 2007, total assets were DKK
4.093 billion compared to DKK 1.805 billion at the
end of 2006. The increase is primarily caused by
Genmab’s strengthened cash position, which is a
result of the upfront payment and equity
investment, totalling DKK 2.615 billion, received
from our worldwide agreement with GSK to co-
develop and commetcialize HuMax-CD20 in the
first quarter of 2007.

Shareholders® equity, as of September 30, 2007,
equalled DKK 2.973 billion compared to DKK
1.608 billion at the end of December 2006. On
September 30, 2007, Genmab’s equily ratio was
73% compared to the 89% reported at the end of
2006. The increase in shareholders’ equity is
mainly caused by GSK’s subscription of 4,471,202
new shares in Genmab. This transaction increased
shareholders’ equity by DKK 1.529 billion.

Subsequent Events

On October 2, Genmab announced that its partner
Roche filed a clinical trial application (CTA) with
the British regulatory authorities. This is the third
Genmab antibody developed under the companies’
collaboration to enter clinical trials.

On October 11, Genmab announced that it had
amended the ongoing HuMax-CD4 pivotal study to
treat refractory CTCL and that the company had
received an orphan drug designation for the
treatment of nodai T-cell lymphoma.

On October 23, Genmab's partner Roche

announced positive results from a Phase [ study of
R1507 in patients with solid tumeors. Nine of 34
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patients experienced disease stabilizations when
treated with R1507. Four of seven patients with
Ewing’s sarcoma demonstrated clinical benefit, and
two of these achieved durable, objective partial
responses.

Additional information:

The forward looking statements contained in this Interim
Report are subject to risks and uncertainties, so that the
actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated by the statements. These and certain other

Genmab A/S
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No other significant events have occurred since the
balance sheet date which could significantly affect
the financial statements as of September 30, 2007.

Helle Husted
St. Director, Investor Relations
Telephone +45 33 44 77 30

important factors affecting the business of Genmab A/S

are described in the company’s previously issued
Annual Report and Private Placement Memorandum.
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Directors’ and Management’s Statement on the Interim Report

The Board of Directors and Management have
today considered and adopted the Interim Report
of the Genmab Group for the 9 months ended
September 30, 2007.

The Interim Report is prepared in accordance with
the Copenhagen Stock Exchange’s financial
reporting requirements for listed companies. The
Interim Report is in compliance with International
Accounting Standard No. 34 (IAS 34), “Interim

Copenhagen, October 30, 2007

Management

Lisa N. Drakeman

Jan van de Winkel Bo Kruse

Board of Directors

Michael B. Widmer

(Chairman)

Karsten Havkrog Pedersen

Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen

Genmab A/S

l.isa N, Drakeman

Ernst H. Schweizer
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Financial Reporting”, and additional Danish
disclosure requirements for financial reporting of
listed companies.

We consider the applied accounting policies to be
appropriate and, in our opinion, the Interim
Report gives a true and fair view of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, results of operation
and cash flows of the Group.

Claus Juan Meller-San Pedro

Anders Gersel Pedersen

Burton G. Malkiel
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Income Statement for the 3rd Quarter of 2007

3rd quarter of  3rd quarter of

3rd quarter of  3rd quarter of

2007 2006 2007 2006

DKK'000 DKK'000 USD'000 USD'000
Revenues 76,436 31,334 14,539 5,960
Research and development costs (236,262) £145,715) (44,939) (27,716)
General and administrative expenscs (30,266} (22,274) (5,75T) (4,237
Operating loss (190,092) {136,655) (36,157) (25,9923)
Financial income 92,028 31,852 17.504 6,059
Financial expenses (76,143} (6,891} (14,483) (1,311)
Loss before tax (174,207) (111,694) (33,136) (21,245)
Corporate tax . - .
Net loss {174,207) {111,694) (33,136) (21,245)
Basic and diluted net loss per share
(in DKK / USD) (3.92) (2.83) (0.75) {0.54)
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period - basic
and dituted 44,469,990 39,469,814 44,469,990 39,469,814

Genmab A/S Page 12 of 24
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9 months ended September 30, 2007
{October 30, 2007)

Income Statement for the 9 months ended September 30, 2007

Revenues
Research and development costs
General and administrative expenses

Operating loss

Financial income
Financial expenses

Laoss before tax

Corporate tax

Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per share
(in DKK / USD)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period - basic

and diluted

Genmab A/S

9 months ended 9 months ended

9 months ended

9 months ended

September 30, September 30,
2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000

356,062 105,620
(582,045) (364,604)
(82,973) (65,162)
(308,956) (324,146)

167,605 80,220
{119,875) (57,569}
(261,226) (301,495)
(261,226) (301,495)
(5.97) (7.79)
43,753,240 38,692,580
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September 30, September 30,
2007 2006
USD'000 usp'oao
67,726 20,090
(110,710} (69,351)
(15,782) (12,394)
(58,766) (61,655)
31,880 15,258
(22,801) {10,950)
(49,687) (57.347)
(49,687) (57,347)
(1.14) (1.48)
43,753,240 38,692,580
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Balance Sheet — Assets
September 30, December 31, September 30,  September 30, December 31, September 30,

Note 2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 UsSD'o00 USD'000 USD'000
Leasehold improvements 1,989 3,094 3,857 378 589 734
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 30,118 28,170 30,276 5,729 5,358 5,759
Fixed assets under construction 154 - - 29 - -
Total tangible fixed assets 32,261 31,264 34,133 6,136 5,947 6,493
Other securities and equity interests 613 2,453 3,066 117 467 583
Total financial fixed assets 613 2,453 3,066 117 467 583
Total non-current assets 32,874 33,717 37,199 6,253 6,414 7076
Other receivables 128,022 40,968 51,238 24,351 7,792 9,746
Prepayments 10,478 5,611 6,775 1,993 1,067 1.289
Total receivables 138,500 46,579 58,013 26,344 8,859 11,035
Marketable securities 2 3,769,267 1,295,258 1,445,258 716,945 246,369 274,900
Cash and cash equivalents 152,029 429,075 413,084 28,917 81,614 78,572
Total current assets 4,059,796 1,770,912 1,916,355 772,206 336,842 364,507
Total assets 4,092,670 1,804,629 1,953,554 778,459 343,256 371,583
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(October 30, 2007)

Balance Sheet — Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities

Share capital

Share premium

Reserve for share-based payment
Translation reserves
Accumulated deficit

Sharcholders' equity

Lease linbility

Total non-current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Accounts payable

Deferred income
Other lizbilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total shareholders' equity and
liabilities

Warrants

Internal shareholders
Reconciliation from [FRS to US
GAAP

Genmab A/S

September 30, December 31, September 30, September 30, December 31,  September 30,
Note 2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 USD'000 UsSD'Goo USD'ooo

44,506 39,648 39,570 8,465 7.541 7,527

5,338,280 3,776,893 3,766,894 1,015,384 718,396 716,494

132,276 72,454 59,975 25,160 13,781 11,408

4,664 4433 4,513 887 843 858

(2,547.072) (2,285,846} (2,149,105) (484,474) (434,786) {408,777)

2,972,654 1,607,582 1,721,847 565,422 305,775 327,510

9,890 11,251 12,997 1,881 2,140 2,472

9,830 11,251 12,997 1,881 2,140 2,472

7,764 6,955 7396 1,477 1,323 1,407

55,792 47,352 46,628 10,612 9,007 8,869

940,424 71,177 93,865 178,876 13,538 17,854

106,146 60,312 70,821 20,191 11,473 13,471

1,110,126 185,796 218,710 211,156 35,341 41,601

1,120,016 197,047 231,707 213,037 37,481 44,073

4,092,670 1,804,629 1,953,554 778,459 343,256 371,583

Note

3
4
5
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Statement of Cash Flow

Net loss

Reversal of financial items, net

Adjustments for non-cash transactions:
Depreciation and amortization
Net (gain) / loss on sale of equipment
Warrant compensatipn expenses

Changes in current assets and lisbilities:
Orther receivables
Prepayments
Deferred income
Accounts payable and other Yiabilities

Cash flow from operating activitics before
financial items

Financial receivables

Cash flow from operating activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Marketable securities bought

Marketable securities sold

Cash flow from investing activities

Warrants exercised

Shares issued for cash

Costs related to issuance of shares
Paid installments on lease liabilities

Cash ltow from finuncing activities

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the

period
Exchange rate adjustiment of cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period

Cash and cash equivalents include:
Bank deposits and petty cash
Restricted bank deposits

Non-cash transactions:
Assets acquired
Liabilities assumed

Genmab A/S

Interim Report

9 months ended September 30, 2007

(October 30, 2007)
9 months ended 9 months ended 9 months ended 9 months ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, Seprember 30,
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 USD000 UsD'ooo
(261,226) (301,495} (49,687) (57,347)
(47.730) (22.651) (9.079) (4,308)
113,847 13,826 2,063 2,630
137 {333) 26 (64)
59,822 26,721 11,379 5,083
(73,379 22,078 (13,957} 4,199
(4,881) 9,267 (928) 1,763
869,140 (54,662) 165,317 {10,397}
52,561 39,573 2.998 7,527
604,291 (267,678) 115132 (50,914)
87,574 27,392 16,657 5210
692,865 (240,286) 131,789 (45,704)
(3.296) (1,699) 627 (323)
7 621 15 118
{4,455,485) (1,667.639) (847,469) (317,198
1928477 1,069,823 366,812 203,489
(2,530,227) (598,894) (481,269) (113,914)
38,509 79,892 71,325 15,196
1,529,151 845,250 290,857 160,773
(1,415) (46,778) (269) (8,898)
(5.614) (7.211) {1,068) (1,372)
1,560,631 §71,153 296,845 165,699
(276,731) 31,973 (52,635) 6,081
429075 381346 81,614 72,535
(315} (235) (62) (44)
152,029 413,084 28,917 78,572
148,878 409,276 28,318 77,848
3,151 3,808 599 724
152,029 413,084 28,917 78,572
8,822 4,579 1,678 871
(3.822) (4.579) (1,678) (871)
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

December 31, 2003
Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiaries

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income

Exetcise of warrants

Capital increase

Expenses related to capital increases
Wamant conmpensation expenses
September 30, 2006

Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluztuations on subsidiaries

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income

Exercise of warrants
Expenses related to capital increases

Warrant compensation expenses

December 31, 2006

Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiaries

Lass {or the period
Total comprehensive income
Exercise of warrants
Capital increase
Expenses related to capital increases
Werrant compensation expenses

September 30, 2007

Genmab A/S

Reserve for
share-based Translation  Accumulated Sharcholders' Sharcholders'
Number of shares Share capital Share premium  payment reserves deficit equity equity
DKK'DO0 DKK'000 DKK'00¢  DKK'0Q0 DKK'000 DKK'000 USDopg
33,108,098 33,108 2,894,992 33,254 5,026 (1,847,610} 1,118,770 212,799
(513) (513} (96)
(301,495) (301,495) (57.347)
(302,008) (57,443)
711,776 e 79,180 79,892 15,196
5,750,000 5,750 839,500 845,250 160,773
(46,778) (46,778) (8,898}
26,721 26,721 5,083
39,569,874 39,570 3,766,894 59,975 4,513 (2,149,103) 1,721,847 327,510
T
(80) {80) an
{135,741} (136,741) (26.009)
(136,821) (26,026)
78481 78 10,0935 10,173 1,935
(96} (96) (18
12,479 12,479 2,374
39,648,355 39,648 3,776,893 72,454 4,433 {2,285,846) 1,607,582 305,775
231 231 42
{261,226) (261,226) (49,687}
(260,998) (49,645)
186,659 387 38,122 33,509 1315
4,471,202 4471 1,524,680 1,529,151 290,857
(1,415) (1,415) (269)
59,822 59,822 11,379
44,506,216 44,506 5,338,280 132,276 4,664 (2,547,072) 2,972,654 565,422
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(October 30, 2007)

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting Policies

The Interim Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Copenhagen Stock
Exchange’s financial reporting requirements for
listed companies. The Interim Report is unaudited
and prepared in compliance with International
Accounting Standard No. 34 (1AS 34), “Interim
Financial Reporting™.

The accounting policies used for the Interim
Report are consistent with the accounting policies
used in the company’s latest Annual Report,
which was prepared in accordance with the IFRS
as endorsed by the EU and additional Danish
disclosure requirements for financial reporting of
listed companies.

The Interim Report has been prepared in Danish
Kroner (DKK), which is the functional currency
of the parent company and the Group.

The most significant items of the Group’s
accounting policies are:

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include
Genmab A/S (the parent company}, Genmab B.V.,
Genmab, Inc., and Genmab Lid. (collectively
referred to as the Genmab Group).

Revenues

Revenues comprise upfront and milestone
payments and other income from research and
development  agreements,
recognized when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and
these benefits can be measured reliably.

Revenues are

Upfront payments that are deemed attributable to
subsequent research and development work are
recognized as deferred income and recognized as

Genmab A/S
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revenue over the planned development period.
Milestone payments are recognized immediately
if a separate earnings process relative to the
milestone payment has been completed and
achieved.

Stock-Based Compensation

For warrants granted after November 7, 2002, the
Group applies IFRS 2 according to which the fair
value of the warrants at grant date is recognized as
an expense in the income statement over the
vesting period. A corresponding amount is
recognized in a separate reserve under equity.
Warrants granted prior to November 7, 2002 are
not comprised by IFRS 2.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of investments in
securities with a maturity greater than three
months at the time of purchase. The Group invests
its cash in deposits with major financial
institutions, in mortgage bonds, corporate bonds
and notes issued by Danish, EU or US
governments. The securities can be readily
purchased and sold using established markets,
When sold, the cost of marketable securities is
determined based on the ‘“first-in first-out”
principle.

The Group’s portfolio of investments has been
classified as “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss™. Fair value equals the listed price.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses
(including unrealized foreign exchange rate gains
and losses) are recognized in the income
stalement as financial items. Transactions are
recognized at trade date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank
deposits and marketable securities with a maturity
of three months or less on the date of acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair
value.

Segment Reporting

The Group is managed and operated as one
business unit. The entire Group is managed by a
single management team reporting to the Chief
Executive Officer. No separate lines of business
or separate business entities have been identified
with respect to any product candidates or
geographical markets. Accordingly, Genmab has
concluded that it is not relevant to disclose
segment information on business segments or
geographical markets.

2. Marketable Securities

The Group has classified all investments as short-
term since it has the intent and ability to seil and
redeem them within a year.

Management Judgment under IFRS

In preparing interim reports under IFRS, certain
provisions under IFRS require management to
make judgments (various accounting estimates
and assumptions) which forms the basis of
recognition of the Group’s assets and liabilities.
The most significant judgments include, among
other things, recognition of internally generated
intangible assets and revenue recognition. For a
description of significant judgments, please refer
to pages 29-30 of the Annual Report 2006.

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP
The Interim Report includes a reconciliation of
the reported net result under IFRS to the
corresponding net result under US GAAP.

September 30, December 31, September 30, September 30, Dscember 31, September 30,

2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 UsSD'000 UsSD'000 usDoon
(full year) (full year)
Cost at the beginning of the period 1,309,417 878.286 878,286 249,062 167,057 167,057
Additions for the period 4,455,485 2,448,512 1,667,639 847 469 465,727 317,198
Disposals for the period {1,945,336) (2,017,381} (1,076,978) (370,619) (383,722) (204,849)
Cost at the end of the period 3,819,566 1,309,417 1,468,947 726,512 249,062 279,406
Adjustment to fair value
at the beginning of the period (14,159) (6,730) (6,730} {2,693) (1,280) (1,280)
Adjustment to fair value for the peried (36,140} (7.429) (16,959) {6,874) (1,413) (3,226)
Adjustment to fair value
at the end of the period {50,299) (14,159) (23,68%) (9,567) (2,693) (4,506)
Net book value at the end of the peried 3,769,267 1,295,258 1,445,258 716,945 246,369 274,300

Genmab A/S
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Notes to the Financial Statements
3. Warrants

Warrani Scheme

Genmab A/S has established warrant schemes as
an incentive for all company employees, including
those in our subsidiaries, members of the Board of
Directors and members of the executive
management as well as certain external
consultants with a long-term relationship with us.
To date, all employees have been granted warrants
in connection with their employment.

Warrants Granted from August 2004

Under the most recent warrant scheme, effective
from August 2004, warrants can be exercised
from one year after the grant date. As a general
rule, the warrant holder may only exercise 25% of
the warrants granted per full year of employment
or affiliation with Genmab afier the grant date.
However, the warrant holder will be entitled to
exercise all warrants in instances where the
employment or consultancy relationship s
terminated by the company without the warrant
holder providing a good reason to do so. All
warrants lapse at the tenth anniversary of the grant
date.

Warrants Granted prior to August 2004

Half of the warrants granted under the preceding
warrant schemes can be exercised one year after
the grant date with the other half exercisable two
years after the grant date. The exercise period
lasts for three years from the date when a warrant
first becomes exercisable, If the warrants are not
exercised within these periods, they lapse.
Warrants granted under the preceding warrant
schemes will lapse on March 31, 2009 at the
latest.

The exercise of warrants is not conditional upon
continued employment or affiliation with
Genmab., However, upon the conclusion of
employment or affiliation, the holder is obligated

Genmab A/S
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to offer to sell a specified percentage of shares
issued back to the company. The sell back clause
is not applicable in the event of termination as a
result of the company’s breach of the employment
or affiliation contract, The sell back clause defines
the percentage of shares that the holder is required
to offer to sell back to the company.

The repurchase price to be paid for the shares by
the company in these instances is the warrant
holder’s original exercise price. Accordingly, the
warrant holder will not be able to profit on shares
sold back to the company.

Warrant Activity

In the third quarter of 2007, no warrants were
granted to employees of the company and its
subsidiaries. A total of 386,659 warrants have
been exercised during the first nine months of
2007 of which 41,660 warrants were exercised
during the third quarter. During the third quarter
of 2007, warrant exercises resulted in total
proceeds to the company of DKK 2,870 thousand.
70,649 warrants have expired during the third
quarter of 2007. The total amount of expired
warrants during the first nine months of 2007 is
hereafter 136,574.

As of September 30, 2007, 106,020 warrants with
a weighted average exercise price of DKK 60.55
were outstanding under the preceding warrant
schemes and 3,860,502 warrants with a weighted
average exercise price of DKK 204.84 were
outstanding under the August 2004 warrant
scheme. For comparison, as of September 30,
2006, 598,614 warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of DKK 92.44 were outstanding
under the preceding warrant schemes and
2,716,852 warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of DKK 129.49 were outstanding
under the August 2004 warrant scheme.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
4. Internal Shareholders '
The following table sets forth certain information members of the Board of Directors and the
regarding the beneficial ownership of the issued management as per September 30, 2007

share capital and the outstanding warrants by the

December 31, 2006 Acquired Sold September 30, 2007
Number of ordinary shares owned
Board of Directors
Lisa N, Drakeman 511,040 - (150,000} 361,040
Ernst Schweizer 162,340 43,500 {85,840} 120,000
Michael Widmer - 25,000 {25,000) -
Karsten Havkrog Pedersen - 12,500 {12,500} -
Anders Gersel Pedersen - 17,000 {12.000) -
Burten G. Malkicl - - - - |
Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen - - - ‘
673,380 98,000 (290,340) 481,040 |
|
Management |
Lisa N. Drakeman, see above - - - - ‘
Jan van de Winkel 230,000 - (110,000} 120,000 |
Claus Juan Moller-San Pedre 331,635 - (120,000) 211,635 |
Bo Kruse 26,900 . {20.000) 6,500 ‘
588,535 - {250,000} 338,535
Total 1,261,915 93,000 (540,340) 819,575
December 31, 2006 Granted Exercised September 30, 2007
Number of warrants held
Board of Directors
Lisa N. Drakeman 605,000 200,000 - 805,000
Emst Schweizer 126,000 15,000 {43,500) 97,500
Michacl Widmer 95,000 30,000 (25,000) 100,000
Karsten Havkrog Pedersen 47,500 15,000 (12,500 50,000
Anders Gerse] Pedersen 52,000 15,000 (17,000) 50,000
Burton G, Malkiel - 49,000 - 40,000
Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen - 40,000 - 40,000
915,500 355,000 (98,000) 1,182,500
Management
Lisa N, Drakeman, see above - . - -
Jan van de Winkel 290,000 100,000 - 390,000
Claus Juan Moller-San Pedro 290,004 100,000 - 390,000
Bo Kruse 187,500 75,000 - 262,500
767,500 275,000 - 1,042,500
Total 1,693,000 630,000 (98,000} 2,225,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements
5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP

The financial statements of the Group are
prepared in accordance with IFRS, which differ in
certain aspects from US GAAP. For convenience
of the reader, we have provided a reconciliation of
the net result under IFRS to the corresponding net
result under US GAAP, US GAAP has additional
disclosure requirements with respect to some of
the areas included in the reconciliation, but such
disclosures have not been included in this note.

Comprehensive income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
{SFAS) WNo. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive
Income,” establishes US GAAP for the reporting
and display of comprehensive income and its
components in financial statements. Compre-
hensive income, which is a component of
shareholders’ equity, includes all unrealized gains
and losses (including exchange rate gains and
losses) on debt and equity securities classified as
“Available-for-sale.” Such securities would be
classified as marketable securities in the financial
statements under US GAAP and such unrealized
gains and losses would be included in a separate
statement in order to determine comprehensive
income.

In accordance with IFRS, the Group classiftes
such securities as financial assets at fair value
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through profit or loss. Unrealized gains and losses
(including exchange rate adjustments) are
included in the income statement as financial
items and in shareholders’ equity as part of the
accumulated deficit.

Warrant Compensation Expenses

Under 1FRS, the fair value of warrants granted is
recognized as an expense in the income statement
with a corresponding entry in shareholders’
equity. SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment
(revised)” includes  similar  requirements.
Adoption of SFAS No. 123R as of January |,
2006, using the modified prospective application
method, leads to differences between IFRS and
US GAAP, as SFAS No. 123R comprises portions
of prior years’ warrant grants not fully vested,
which are not comprised by IFRS 2. There are no
differences between IFRS and US GAAP for
periods ended after September 30, 2006,

Application of US GAAP would have affected net

loss for the periods ended September 30, 2007 and
2006 to the extent described below.
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5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP (continued)

Reconciliation from 1FRS to US GAAP for the 3rd Quarter of 2007

3rd quarter of  3rd quarter of 3rd quarter of  3rd quarter of
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 USp'ooo UsSD'000

Net loss according to IFRS (174,207) (111,694) (33,136) (21,245}
Revaluation of marketable securities
congerning measurement o markel value 21,645 (7.848) 4,117 (1,493)
Reversed unrealized exchange rate (gain)} /
loss on marketable securitics 3.464 (981 659 (187)
Reversed warrant compensation expenses - 11,767 - 2,238
US GAAP warrant compensation expenses - (11,838) - (2,252)
Net gain / (loss) according to US GAAP {149,098) {120,594) (28,360) (22,939)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period - basic 44,469,990 39,469,814 44,469,990 39,469,814
Basic net gain/ {loss) per share according to
US GAAP (in DKK / USD) (3.35) (3.06) (0.64) (0.58)
Net gain / (loss) according to US GAAP (149,098) (120.594) (28,360) (22,939)
Other Comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain / {loss) from marketable
securitics (21,645) 7.848 4,117 1,493
Adjustment of foreign currency fluctuations in
subsidiarics 182 (74) 35 (14)
Unrealized exchange rate gain / (loss) on
marketable securities {3,464) 981 (659 187
Comprehensive income (174,025) (111,839) (33,101 (21,273)
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5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP (continued)

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP for the 9 months ended September 30, 2007

9 months ended 9 months ended 9 months ended 9 months ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 usDoo0 UsD'o00
Net loss according to IFRS (261,226) (301,495) (49,687) (57,347)
Revaluation of marketable securities
concerning measurement to market value 31,705 10,245 6,031 1,949
Reversed unrealized exchange rate (gain} /
loss on marketable securities 8,723 6,417 1,659 1,221
Reversed warran! compensation expenses - 26,721 - 5,083
US GAAP warrant compensation expenses - (27,404) - (5,212)
Net loss according to US GAAP (220,798) {285,516) (41,997) {54,306)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period - basic and )
diluted 43,753,240 38,692,580 43,753,240 38,692,580
Basic and diluted net loss per share according
to US GAAP {in DKK / USD} (5.05) (7.38) (0.96) (1.40)
Net loss according to US GAAP (220,798) {285,516) (41,997) (54,306)
Other Comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain / (loss) from marketable
securities (31,705) {10,245) {6,031) (1,949)
Adjustment of foreign currency fluctuations in
subsidiaries 23] (513) 42 {96)
Unrealized exchange rate gain / (loss} on
marketable securities (8,721 (6,417) (1,659} £1,221)
Comprehensive income (260,995) (302,691) (49,645) {5§7,572)
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Dear Shareholder,

For the first half of 2007, Genmab reported a net
loss of DKK 87.0 million (approximately USD
15.8 million) compared to a net loss of DKK
189.8 million (approximately USD 34.4 million)
for the same period in 2006, During the first half
of 2007, Genmab recognized DKK 279.6 million
(approximately USD 50.7 million} in revenues
compared to DKK 74.3 million (approximately
USD 13.5 million) in the corresponding period of
2006.

At June 30, 2007, Genmab had cash and
marketable securities of DKK 3.980 billion
(approximately USD 722 million).

For the first half of 2007, Genmab’s research and
development costs accounted for 87% of
operating costs and were DKK 345.8 million
(approximately USD 62.7 million) compared to
DKK 2189 million (approximately USD 39.7
million) for the first half of 2006. General and
administrative expenses totalled DKK 52.7
miltion (approximately USD 9.6 million} in the
first half of 2007 compared to DKK 42.9 million
(approximately USD 7.8 million) in the similar
period of 2006.

The net loss per share was DKK 2.01
(approximately USD 0.36) for the first half of
2007 compared to DKK 4.96 (approximately USD
0,90} for the first half of 2006.

Outlook

Genmab is maintaining its financial guidance for
the year. We project a 2007 operating loss of
DKK 385 1o 435 million and a net loss in the
range of DKK 260 to 310 million. Genmab’s
projected December 31, 2007 cash position is
expected to be in the range of DKK 3.8 t0 3.9
billion,

The above estimates are subject to possible
change primarily due to the timing and variation
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of clinical development activities, related costs
and fluctuating exchange rates. The estimates also
assume that no further agreements are entered into
during 2007 that could materially affect the
results.

Highlights

Genmab continued the progress made during the
first quarter of 2007 with a number of business
and scientific achievements in the second gquarter
including the following:

*  On June 29, Genmab regained all rights to
HuMax-CD4® (zanolimumab) from Merck
Serono S.A. and announced final data from
the HuMax-CD4 Phase 11 data in cutaneous T-
cell lymphoma (CTCL).

e On June 18, Genmab announced further
development plans  for HuMax-CD20®
(ofatumumab), including clinical expansion
into the new disease indications of multiple
sclerosis and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
(DLBCL).

e Effective June 18, Genmab became a member
of the OMXC20 index on the OMX Nordic
Exchange Copenhagen.

* Genmab and GlaxoSmithKline reported
positive results from the Phase II study of
HuMax-CD20 in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) on
June 15. These positive results triggered the
first milestone payment to Genmab in the
companies’ collaboration.

e On June 14, we announced initiation of a
Phase Il study of HuMax-CD20 in
combination with CHOP chemotherapy in
previously untreated follicular non-Hodgkin's
lymphoma (NHL) patients.
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On June 3, Genmab presented positive pre-
clinical data illustrating the broad potential of
HuMax-EGFr™ for the treatment of cancer.

On May 21, Genmab announced positive data
showing that HuMax-HepC™ prevented
Hepatitis C infection in a pre-clinical study.

On April 12, Genmab initiated a Phase II
study of HuMax-EGFr in combination with
chemo-radiation to treat non small cell lung
cancer.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on
August 2, Genmab announced that it had
regained all rights to the HuMax-TAC™

antibody from Merck Serono following their
portfolio review.

e On August 10, Genmab announced that its
partner Roche had filed an IND with the FDA
for 2 Genmab antibody developed under the
companies’ collaboration.

Product Pipeline

During the first half of 2007, we continued to
build a broad portfolic of products in various
stages of development. As per June 30, 2007, the
clinical pipeline included four pivotal Phase Il
studies, six Phase 1l studies, one Phase VII study,
three Phase | studies, and more than eighteen pre-
clinical programs. An update on the status of our
key programs is below.

Product Partner | Pre-clinical

| Phase il | Phase Phase i

HuMax-CD2¢ | GSK o Fndieemin Relenisisehy

-Non-Hodgkin's mphoma INHL) T#es a0t bl 0

Rheumateid arthrms (RA)

| B-CLL front Ilne ' )

"NHL front Ime

T e TG OG-

HuMax-Inflam | Medarex

HuMax-CD4 Chfiantamge
Non-cutaneous T-celt thoma (NCTCL)
 NCTCL ¢ comhlnatmn . J
HuMax-EGFr Head and neck cancer . AN
"Non small cel! Iung cancer front Ime )
Head and neck cancer front line
AMG 714 Amgen { T 1T TG

FA ‘ .

R1507 Roche { <t

Roche 2 - ‘
HuMax-HepC “Hepatitis ¢ e fection
HuMax-CD38 " Multiple myeloma
HuMax-TAC 1
HuMax-ZP3

*Further davelopment of AMG 714 In RA Is dependent upon results af a Phase | study

HuMax-CD20 (¢fatumumab)
HuMax-CD20 is currently in clinical studies for

the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia
{CLL), follicular NHL and RA.

A pivotal Phase 1l study is ongoing to treat
refractory CLL. The study has been amended to
include approximately 150 patients and two
different patient populations. The main patient
populations to be examined in the study are:
patients who are refractory to both fludarabine
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and alemtuzumab and fludarabine refractory
patients who are considered inappropriate
candidates for alemtuzumab due to bulky tumor in
their lymph nodes. Each group will consist of
approximately 66 patients and will be analyzed
separately. Due to the high unmet medical need
amongst these  patients,
ofatumumab could be possible in each indication,
depending on the data generated from this study.

registration  of

HuMax-CD20 has a Fast Track designation from
the FDA for refractory CLL. Positive HuMax-
CD20 Phase I/1l data showing an objective
response rate of 50% in CLL patients treated at
the highest dose level (2000 mg) was previously
reported.

A Phase II front line study of HuMax-CD20 in
combination with fludarabine and
cyclophosphamide (FC) to treat CLL in
previously unireated patients was initiated in
December 2006.

A HuMax-CD20 Phase Il pivotal study to treat
patients with rituximab refractory fotlicular NHL
was initiated in July 2006. Positive results from a
previous Phase V11 study in relapsed or refractory
follicular NHL showed objective responses of up
to 63% according to the Cheson criteria.

In June 2007, a Phase I study of HuMax-CD20 in
combination with cyclophosphamide, doxoru-
bicin, vincristine and prednisone (CHOP) in
patients with previously untreated follicular NHL
was initiated. A total of 56 patients will be
enrolled in the study.

Positive data from a Phase 1! HuMax-CD20 study
in RA was presented in June 2007. In the
intention-to-treat study population comprising 224
patients, 46% of all patients treated with HuMax-
CD20 achieved ACR20, 24% achieved ACRS0
and 6% achieved ACR70 compared to 15%, 5%
and 0% in the placebo group at 24 weeks.
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Genmab and GSK are planning to initiate the
Phase 111 program during the secand half of 2007,

Expanded development plans for HuMax-CD20
were also announced in June. Randomized Phase
111 studies in CLL and NHL are being planned in
addition to the Phase 111 RA studies. We also plan
to expand development into two new disease
indications: relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis
(RRMS) and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.

In December 2006, Genmab entered into an
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), which
gave GSK exclusive worldwide rights to co-
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20. Under
the co-development of HuMax-CD20, GSK and
Genmab will share the development costs equally
from 2008. GSK will be solely responsible for
manufacturing and commercialization. Genmab
reached the first milestone under the companies’
agreement with the presentation of positive data in
the Phase 11 RA study, triggering a milestone
payment of DKK 116.3 million in June 2007.

HuMax-CD4 (zanclimumab)

HuMax-CD4 is currently in  Phase 11l
development for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell
lymphoma (CTCL) and in Phase Il development
for non-cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (NCTCL).
The CTCL pivotal study is being conducted under
an SPA agreement and Fast Track designation
from the FDA. HuMax-CD4 has also been granted
Orphan Drug Status in the EU and US to treat
patients with the most common form of CTCL,
mycosis fungoides (MF).

Positive preliminary results from the pivotal study
in CTCL were presented in December 2006. A
clinical response was shown in 42% of patients in
the two highest dose groups. A partial response
was obtained by 16% of patients in the 8 mg/kg
dose group and 67% of patients in the 14 mg/kg
dose group. No responses were observed in the 4
mg/kg dose group and this level is not being used
in the second part of this ongoing study.
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Final results from the Phase 1l studies in CTCL
were announced in June 2007. At the high dose
levels of 560 mg and 980 mg of HuMax-CD4,
median response duration was 81 weeks, a
significant increase compared to previously
reported data.

In December 2006, preliminary results from the
ongoing Phase 11 NCTCL trial showed that 28.5%
of patients had objective responses. A Phase Il
study to treat NCTCL patients with HuMax-CD4
in combination with chemotherapy is underway.

Genmab regained all rights to HuMax-CD4 from
Merck Serono in June 2007,

HuMax-EGFr (zalutumumab)

Genmab is running two studies with HuMax-
EGFr to treat head and neck cancer and one study
to treat non small cell lung cancer. A pivotal
Phase 1Il study to treat 273 patients with
refractory head and neck cancer considered
incurable with standard treatment is being
conducted under a Fast Track designation from
the FDA. A 36 patient Phase I/II study of HuMax-
EGFr in combination with chemo-radiation as
front line treatment of advanced head and neck
cancer is also ongoing. Previously reported data
from a Phase I/l study showed ecncouraging
efficacy in refractory head and neck cancer with 9
out of 11 patients in the two highest dose groups
obtaining partial metabolic response or stable
metabolic disease when evaluated by FDG-PET
scan.

In April 2007, Genmab initiated a Phase 11 study
of HuMax-EGFr in combination with chemo-
radiation for the treatment of non stall cell lung
cancer. A maximum of 270 patients with
advanced non small cell lung cancer will be
included in the study.

In June 2007, Genmab announced new pre-

clinical data illustrating that HuMax-EGFr may
have broad potential to treat cancers that over-

Genmab A/S

Page 5 of 22

express several types of epidermal growth factor
receptor {EGFr). In a novel laboratory modei,
HuMax-EGFr effectively inhibited the growth of
tumor cells that express both mutated or normal
EGF receptors. The model also tested the effects
of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) such as the
marketed preducts Iressa and Tarceva on EGFr-
expressing tumor cells. Tumor cells expressing
various mutated EGFr varied strongly in their
sensitivity to TKI therapy, whereas no differences
in efficacy were observed for HuMax-EGFr.

AMG 714

AMG 714 is being developed under an agreement
with Amgen, Inc. and is undergoing Phase |
clinical testing. Results from a Phase II study in
RA were presented in 2006, Amgen is responsible
for all further development of AMG 714.

HuMax-Inflam™

HuMax-Inflam is a high-affinity human antibody
in development to treat inflammatory conditions.
A Phase I/II clinical trial has produced positive
safety and efficacy data. We believe HuMax-
Inflam may be a candidate for Orphan Drug
status. Genmab is developing HuMax-Inflam in
collaboration with Medarex, Inc.

R1507

R1507 is a fully human antibody created by
Genmab under collaboration with Roche. R1507
is currently in Phase 1 clinical trials. This antibody
targets the Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 Receptor
{IGF-1R) which has been shown to be important
in tumor growth and protecting tumor cetls from
being killed. 1GF-1R is over-expressed on a
variety of tumaors including breast, colon, prostate,
lung, skin and pancreatic cancers. In pre-clinical
studies, R1507 was shown to block binding and
signalling of tumor growth factor receptors and
effectively stopped tumor cell growth in animal
models.
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Pre-clinical Programs

Genmab’s pre-clinical programs include HuMax-
CD38™ for multiple myeloma, HuMax-ZP3™ for
cancer, HuMax-HepC™ to potentially treat
Hepatitis C virus reinfection after liver
transplantation and HuMax-TAC™, which until
August 2007 was developed by Merck Serone.

1

In May 2007, Genmab announced that HuMax-
HepC prevented Hepatitis C virus (HCV)
infection in a novel animal model. In the pre-
clinical study, mice with a compromised immune
system were transplanted with human liver cells
and exposed to a mixture of patient-derived HCV
of different genotypes. Replication of HCV was

The sixth mouse was infected with HCV, but the
virus was subsequently cleared. In comparison, 5
of 6 mice who received a control antibody
developed and sustained a robust HCV infection,

Consolidated Key Figures

The foltowing key figures and financial ratios
have been prepared on a consolidated basis. The
financial ratios calculated in
accordance with the recommendations of the
Association of Danish Financial Analysts.

have been

Key figures comply with the requirements under
the Danish financial reporting requirements and
the IFRS. All key figures and financial ratios are

not observed in § of 6 mice treated with HuMax- in conformity with the current accoun[ing
HepC. policies. The figures have been stated in
thousands, except for the financial ratios.
£ months ended 6 months ended 2nd quarier 6 menths ended 6 months ended
2nd quarter of  2nd querier ol hune 39, June 30, Full year Ind quarter of of June 30, June 30, Full year
2007 2006 2007 2006 200¢ 2007 2006 2007 2006 2006
DEKK'000 DKK'000 DKKvop PKK'000 DXK'000 UsSpDoog USD000 UsDooe UsDoeon USD'000
Income Statement
Revenues 199,937 31318 179,626 74,286 135,547 36,283 5,683 50,742 13,480 24,597
Research and development costs (186,466) (102,872) (345,783) (218.889) (513,065) (31,837 (18,668 (62,148) (33,721} (91,100)
General and administrative expenses (26,537 (21.130) (32,707} (42,388) (94,690) (4816) (3,847) 9,560 {7,783 (17.184)
Operating loss (13,046) (92,734) (118,06) (187,491 (472,219) (1.368) (16,828 (21,570 {34,024) (85,690)
Net financial meome 2,812 4,065 31,845 (2.310) RERD ] 34 738 5709 [C1k)] 6,166
Nexloss {10.214) {83,669) (82.019) (IRS.801) {434.210) (1.B54) (le.o%0) (15,791} {34343y (79.324)
Balznce Sheet
Cash md marketable sccuriticy 3.979.516 1917,560 3979526 L917.560 1,734.333 722045 147,970 712,145 341970 312,506
Total assets 4250663 1014,605 4 258 665 2,034,008 1804625 TN 164 2041 771798 369,208 12747
Sharchelders' equiny 3112926 1 5b6. 7R 301208 1806, 782 1.O0T.582 564 a8 J27 HGH 564, RR8 327.R68 M1,T20
Share capiul 44 464 149,424 464 39424 39648 069 T054 L Xt 7.154 7195
Envestménts in iangible fixed assets +.240 129 T.551 3798 30 T69 213 1,370 £3% a0
Cash Fluw Statemeat
Cash Mow from operaung sctivities (227,35%) (95,603) 713,630 (161.745) (379.623) (41,2949} (17349) 129,498 (29.352) (68, 5E)
Cash Nlow from investing activities {2.516333) 94,926 (2,421,036} (659.036) (431371 {456,636} 11226 (439479 (119,395) (31.901)
Cash Mow from Mmancing sctivitics 7.206 18414 1,559,687 B5E. 510 379.031 1,308 3341 281,029 155,790 159,514
Cash and cash equivalenta 180,483 418,793 280,463 418,793 429,075 30,898 75996 50,398 75,956 77,862
Finaoctal Rathos (ia DKK F USD)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (.23} (2.26) @.on (4.96) (11.26) {004) 0.4h) (0,36) (0.50) @.04)
Perind-cnd share market price 3550 183.53 353.50 188.3) 350 00 64.15 3421 64,13 L] 58.96
Price / book vatue 505 4.11 303 4.1 937 505 411 5.05 411 9.37
Sharcholders’ equity per share 7001 45,32 W01 4582 40.54 12.7¢ L 12.70 831 1.3
Equity ratia % £9% 3% B 7% ka3 % % B9% 9%
Average number of employees 94 B0 278 125 237 ™ 230 27 215 237
Number of empioy ees at the end of the penod 302 238 302 238 2438 o 238 302 218 248

Genmab®; the Y-shaped Genmab logo®; HuMax®; HuMax-CD4®; HuMax-EGFI™; HuMax-Inflam™; HuMax-CD20™; HuMax-
TAC™; HuMax-HepC™, HuMax-CD38'™, HuMax-ZP3™ and UniBody™ are all trademarks of Genmab A/S; HuMAb-Mouse®,
UNIMADB® and UltiMAb Human Antibody Development System® are trademarks of Medarex, Inc.; TC Mouse™ is a trademark of
Kirin Brewery Co., Lid, Bexxar™, Arranon™ and Atriance™ are all trademarks of GlaxoSmithKline.
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Financial Review

The Interim Report is prepared on a consolidated
basis for the Genmab Group. The financial
statements are published in Danish Kroner (DKK).
Solely for the convenience of the reader, this
Interim Report contains a conversion of certain
DKK amounts into US Dollars (USD) at a
specified rate. These converted amounts shoutd not
be construed as representations that the DKK
amounts actually represent such USD amounts ot
could be converted into USD at the rate indicated
or at any other rate,

Unless otherwise indicated, conversion herein of
financial information into USD has been made
using the Danish Central Bank’s spot rate on June
30, 2007, which was USD 1.00 = DKK 5.5107.

Revenues

Genmab’s revenues increased significantly in the
first half of 2007 compared to the corresponding
period of 2006. The revenues amount to DKK
279.6 million (DKK 74.3 million in the first half of
2006) and comprises revenues arising from
services provided under Genmab’s development
collaboration  agreements with GSK  (co-
development and commercialization of HuMax-
CD20) and Merck Serono (development and
commercialization of HuMax-CD4).

The upfront payment from GSK has initially been
recognized as deferred income and is recognized as
revenue on a straight-line basis over a five-year
period, As announced on June 29, 2007, Genmab
has regained all rights to HuMax-CD#4 from Merck
Serono. As expected, the remaining deferred
income will be recognized as revenue on a straight
line basis over the remaining part of 2007,

In June 2007, Genmab announced that we had
reached the first development milestone for
ofatumumab (HuMax-CD20) under the terms of
our collaboration with GSK. The achievement of
the milestone resulted in a payment of DKK 116.3
million. The milestone has been recognized
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immediately, as a separate earnings process relative
to the milestone payment has been completed and
achieved. The milestone payment is included in
other receivables in the balance sheet and has been
paid by GSK in July 2007,

As revenues comprise milestone payments and
other income from research and development
agreements, recognition of revenues may vary from
period to period.

Operating Loss

Genmab's operating loss for the first half of 2007
was DKK 118.9 million compared to DKK 187.5
million for the similar half of 2006. As a natural
consequence of the growth in the organisation and
increasing development activities the operating
costs increased significantly from 2006 to 2007.

The increase in the operating costs has been offset
by increasing revenues.

Research and development costs amounts to 87%
(84% in the first half of 2006) of the operating
costs and have increased from DKK 218.9 million
in the first half of 2006 1o DKK 345.8 million in
the first half of 2007. The increasing rescarch and
development costs reflect the increasing level of
pre-clinical and clinical activities arising from the
advancement of our product pipeline,

General and administrative expenses were DKK
52.7 million in the first half of 2007 compared to
DKK 42.9 million in the same period of 2006. In
line with the advancement of our product pipeline,
the need for administrative support has also
increased.

On June 30, 2007 the total number of employees
amounts to 302, which is an increase of 64
employees compared to June 30, 2006.

The operating loss for the first half of 2007
includes warrant compensation expenses totalling
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DKK 28.9 million compared to DKK 15.0 mitlion
for the first half of 2006.

Net Financial Income

Net financial income for the first half of 2007 was
DKK 31.8 million compared to a net expense of
DKK 2.3 million in the same period of 2006. The
year to date, net financial income has benefited
from the higher average cash position, whereas the
negative net financial income reported for the first
half of 2006 was impacted by increasing interest
rates and weakening of the USD against the DKK.

Net Loss

Net loss for the first half of 2007 was DKK §7.0
mitlion compared to DKK 189.8 million in the first
half of 2006.

Cash Flow

As of June 30, 2007, the balance sheet reflects
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of
DKK 3.980 billion compared to DKK 1.724 billion
as of December 31, 2006. This represents a net
increase of DKK 2.256 billion, primarily arising
from the upfront payment and the issuance of
shares to GSK in February 2007, which primarily
has been invested in EUR-denominated securities
during the second quarter of 2007 Our total
marketable securities are hereafter invested in
DKK, EUR and USD-denominated securities,

The operating activities generated cash flows of
DKK 713.6 million compared to a consumption of
DKK 161.7 million in the same period of 2006.

The cash flow for the first half of 2007 is in line
with our expectations.

Additional information:

The forward looking statements contained in this Interim
Report are subject to risks and uncertainties, so that the
actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated by the statemenis. These and certain other

Genmab A/S Page 8 of 22

Balance Sheet

As of June 30, 2007, total assets were DKK 4.259
billion compared 10 DKK 1.805 billion at the end
of 2006. The increase is primarily caused by
Genmab's strengthened cash position,

Shareholders’ equity, as of June 30, 2007, equalled
DKK 3.113 billien compared to DKK 1.608 billion
at the end of December 2006. On June 30, 2007,
Genmab’s equity ratic was 73% compared to the
89% reported at the end of 2006.

The increase in shareholders' equity is primarily
caused by GSK’s subscription of 4,471,202 new
shares in Genmab in connection with the
worldwide agreement to co-develop and
commercialize HuMax-CD20, This transacticn
increased sharcholders’ equity by DKK 1.529
billion in the first quarter of 2007,

Subsequent Events

On August 2, Genmab announced that it had
regained all rights to the HuMax-TAC™ antibody
from Merck Serono following their portfolio
review.

On August 10, Genmab announced that its partner
Roche had filed an IND with the FDA for a
Genmab antibody developed under the companies’
collaboration.

No other significant events have occurred since the
balance sheet date which could significantly affect
the financial statements as of June 30, 2007.

Helle Husted

Sr. Director, Investor Relations

Telephone +45 33 44 77 30

important factors affecting the business of Germab A/S
are described in the company's previously issued
Annual Report and Private Placement Memorandum.
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Directors’ and Management’s Statement on the Interim Report

The Board of Directors and Management have
today considered and adopted the Interim Report
of Genmab A/S for the 6 months ended June 30,
2007.

The Interim Report is prepared in accordance with
the Copenhagen Stock Exchange’s financial
reporting requirements for listed companies. The
Interim Report is in compliance with International
Accounting Standard No. 34 (IAS 34}, “Interim

Copenhagen, August 21, 2007

Management

Lisa N, Drakeman

Jan van de Winkel Bo Kruse

Board of Directors

Michael B. Widmer

(Chairman)

Karsten Havkrog Pedersen

Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen

Genmab A/S

Lisa N. Drakeman

Ernst H. Schweizer
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Financial Reporting”, and additional Danish
disclosure requirements for financial reporting of
listed companies.

We consider the applied accounting policies to be
appropriate and, in our gopinion, the Interim
Report gives a true and fair view of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, results of operation
and cash flows of the Group.

Claus Juan Mgller-San Pedro

Anders Gersel Pedersen

Burton G. Malkiel
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Income Statement for the Second Quarter of 2007

2nd quarter of  2nd quarter of 2nd quarter of  2nd quarter of
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'C00 DKK'000 USD'00) UsD'ooo

Revenues 199,957 31,318 36,285 5,683
Research and development costs {186,466} (102,872) (33,837} (18,668)
General and administrative expenses (26,537) (21,180) (4,816} (3,843)
Operating loss (13,046) (92,734) (2,368} (16,828)
Financial income 14,735 22,531 6,303 4,089
Financial expenses (31,903) (18,466} (5,789) (3.351)
Loss before tax (10,214) (88,66%) (1.854) (16,090)
Corporate tax - - - .
Net loss {10,214) {88,669) {1,854) {16,090)
Basic and diluted net loss per share
(in DKK / USD) (0.23) {2.26) (0.04) (0.41)
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period - basic
and diluted 44,376,380 39,275,177 44,376,380 39,275,177
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Income Statement for the 6 months ended June 30, 2007

6 months ended 6 months ended

June 30, June 30,
2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000
Revenues 279,626 74,286
Research and development costs (345,783) (218,889)
General and administrative expenses (52,707} (42,888)
Operating loss (118,864) (187,491)
Financial income 75,577 48,376
Financial expenses (43,732) (50,686)
Loss before tax (87,019) (189,801}
Corporate tax - -
Net loss (87,019) (149,801}
Basic and diluted net loss per share
(in DKK / USD) (2.01) (4.96)
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period - basic
and diluted 43,388,924 38,297,522
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6 months ended

6 months ended

June 30, June 30,
2007 2006
USD'000 usD'eo0
50,742 13,480
(62,748) (39,721)
(9,564) (7,783)
(21,570) (34,024)
13,715 8,779
(7,936) (9,198)
(15,791) (34,443)
(15,791} (34,443)
(0.36) (0.90)
43,388,924 318,297,522
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Balance Sheet — Assets

June 30, December 31, June 30, June 30, Decemnber 31, June 30,
Note 2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006

DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 UsD'ood usDo0 Uspooo
Leasehold improvements 1,758 3,094 5,048 319 561 316
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 29,259 28,170 33,044 5,309 5,112 5,996
Total tangible fixed assets 31,M7 31,264 38,092 5,628 5,673 6,912
Other securities and equity interests 613 2,433 3,066 111 445 556
Total financial fixed assets 613 2,453 3,066 111 445 556
Total non-current assets 31,630 33,717 41,158 5,739 6,118 7,468
Other receivables 238,533 40,968 66,219 43,285 7,434 12,016
Prepayments 8,976 5,611 9,668 1,629 1,018 1,754
Total receivables 247,509 46,579 75,887 44,914 8,452 13,770
Marketable securities 2 3,699,043 1,295,258 1,498,767 671,247 235,044 271,974
Cash and cash cquivalents 280,483 429,075 418,793 50,898 77,862 75,996
Total current assels 4,227,035 1,770,912 1,993,447 767,059 321,358 361,740
Total assets 4,258,665 1,804,629 2,034,605 772,798 327,476 369,208
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Balance Sheet — Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities

Share capital

Share premium

Reserve for share-based payment
Transtation reserves
Accumulated deficit

Sharehelders' equity

Lease liability
Total non-current liabilities

Current portion of lease liability
Accounts payable

Deferred income

Qther liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total sharcholders’ equity and
liabilities

Watrants

Internal sharcholders
Reconciliation from IFRS to US
GAAP

Genmab A/S

June 30, December 31, June 30, June 30, December 31, June 30,
2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 uspoon USD'000 UsD'000
44,464 39,648 39,424 8,069 7,195 7,154
5,335,452 3,776,893 3,751,974 968,199 685,374 680,853
101,393 72,454 48,208 18,399 13,148 8,748
4482 4433 4,587 813 804 832
(2,372,865) (2,285,846) (2,037,411) {430,592) (414,801) {365,719)
3112926 1,607,582 1,806,782 564,388 291,720 327,868
11,596 §1,251 14,750 2,104 2,042 2,677
11,596 11,251 14,750 2,104 2,042 2,677
7,954 6,955 8,072 1,443 1,262 1,465
50,307 47,352 41,455 9,129 8,593 1,523
1,012,436 7,177 111,658 183,722 12,916 20,262
63,446 60,312 51,888 11,512 10,943 9,413
1,134,143 185,796 213,073 205.806 33,714 38,663
1,145,739 197,047 227,823 207910 35,756 41,340
4,258,665 1,504,629 2,034,605 772,798 327476 369,208
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Statement of Cash Flow

& months ended 6 months ended & months ended 6 months ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 USTYo00 UsSD'o00
Net loss ' (87,019} (189,801) (15,791) {34,443)
Reversal of financial items, net (31,845) 2310 (5,779} 419
Adjustments for non-cash transactions:
Depreciation and amortization 7527 9,413 1,366 1,708
Net (gnin} / Joss on sale of equipment 136 {335} 25 [C1)]
Warmrant compensation expenses 28,939 14,954 5251 2. N4
Changes in current assets and linbilities:
Other receivables (184,681) 13,388 {33.513) 2,429
Prepayments (3.378) 6,374 {613) 1,157
Deferred income 941,200 (36,869) 170,795 (6,690)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 6,410 15,581 1,163 2,827
Cash flow from operating sctivities before
financial items 677,28% (164,985) 122,504 (29,940)
Financial receivables 36,341 3,240 6,594 588
Cash flow from operuting activities 713,630 {161,745} 129,498 (29352)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,404) (1,060} (436) (19)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 65 620 12 13
Markerable securitics bought (3,891,032) (1,459,077 (706,087} (264,772}
Marketable securities sold 1,471,535 800,461 267,032 145,256
Cash flow from investing activities {2,421,836) (659.056) (439,479) (119,595)
Warrants exercised 35,639 64,561 5,467 11,716
Shares issued for cash 1,529,151 845,250 277,488 153,383
Costs related to issuance of shares (1,415} (46,513) (25T (8.440)
Paid installments on tease liabilities {3.688) {4,788) {669} (869)
Cash flow from financing activities 1,555,687 858,510 183,029 155,790
Increase / {decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (148,519) 37,709 (26,952) 6,843
Cash and cash equivalents st the beginning of
the period 429,075 381,346 77862 69,201
Exchange rate sdjustment of cash {73} (262} (12) {48}
Cash and cash cquivalents at the end of the
period 280,483 413,79 50,898 75,996
Cash and cash equivalents include:
Bank deposits and penty cash 271337 414,230 50,327 75,168
Restricted bank deposits 3,146 4,563 571 328
280,483 418,793 30,898 75,996
Non-cash transactions:
Assets acquired 3,147 4,579 934 $31
Liabilitics assumed (5.147) (4,579) (934) (83 1)
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

December 31, 2005
Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiaries

Loss for the period
Total comprehensive income
Exercise of warrants
Capital increase
Expenses related 1o capital increases
Warrant compensation experises
June 30, 2006
Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiaries

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income

Exercise of warmants
Expenses related to capital increases

\Warrant compensation expenses

December 31, 2006

Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiarics

Lass for the period
Total comprehensive income
Exercise of warrants
Capital increase
Expenses related 1o capital intreases
Warrant compensation expenses

June 30, 2007

Genmab A/S

Reserve for
share-based Translation  Accumulated Shareholders’ Sharcholders'
Number of shares Share capital Share premium __ payment reserves deficit exquity equity
DKK'000 DKEK'000 DEK'000  DKK'000 DKK'000 DXK'000 UsSD'e0d
33,108,093 33,108 2,894,992 33,254 5,026 (1,847,610) 1,118,770 103,018
(419) (439) (80)
(189,801} (189,801} (34,443)
(190,240) _(34,523)
566,315 566 63,995 64,351 11,716
5,750,000 5,750 839 500 §45,250 153,383
(46,513) (46,513) {8,440)
14,954 14,954 2,714
39,424,413 39,424 3,751,974 48,208 4,587 {2,037,411) 1,806,782 327,868
(134) (154) (28)
{248,435) {248.435) (45,082)
(248,589) (45,110)
223,942 224 25,280 25,504 4,628
{361) {361) (66)
24,246 24,246 4,400
39,648,355 39,648 3,776,893 72,454 4,433 {2,285,846) 1,607,582 291,720
49 49 10
(87019} (87,019) {15,791}
(86,970) (15,781}
344,599 345 35.294 15,639 6,467
4,471,202 4,47 1,524,680 1,529,151 277,488
{1,415} {1,415) (257)
28,939 28,939 5,251
44,464,556 44,464 5,335,452 101,393 4,482 (2,372,865) 3,112,926 564,888
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies

The Interim Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Copenhagen  Stock
Exchange’s financial reporting requirements for
listed companies. The Interim Report is unaudited
and prepared in compliance with International
Accounting Standard No. 34 (IAS 34), “Interim
Financial Reporting”.

The accounting policies used for the Interim
Report are consistent with the accounting policies
used in the company's latest Annual Report,
which was prepared in accordance with the IFRS
as endorsed by the EU and additional Danish
disclosure requirements for financial reporting of
listed companies.

The Interim Report has been prepared in Danish
Kroner (DKK), which is the functional currency
of the parent company and the Group.

The most significant items of the Group's
accounting policies are:

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include
Genmab A/S (the parent company), Genmab B.V.,
Genmab, Inc, and Genmab Lid. (collectively
referred to as the Genmab Group).

Revenues

Revenues comprise upfront and milestone
payments and other income from research and
development  agreements. Revenues  are
recognized when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and
these benefits can be measured reliably.

Upfront payments that are deemed attributable to

subsequent research and development work are
recognized as deferred income and recognized as

Genmab A/S
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revenue over the planned development period.
Milestone payments are recognized immediately
if a separate earnings process relative to the
milestone payment has been completed and
achieved.

Stock-Based Compensation

For warrants granted after November 7, 2002, the
Group applies IFRS 2 according to which the fair
value of the warrants at grant date is recognized as
an expense in the income stalement over the
vesting period. A corresponding amount is
recognized in a separate reserve under equity,
Warrants granted prior to November 7, 2002 are
not comprised by IFRS 2.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of investments in
securities with a maturity greater than three
months at the time of purchase. The Group invests
its cash in deposits with major financial
institutions, in mortgage bonds, corporate bonds
and notes issued by Danish, EU or US
governments, The securities can be readily
purchased and sold using established markets.
When sold, the cost of marketable securities is
determined based on the “first-in first-out”
principle.

The Group’s portfolio of investments has been
classified as ““financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss”, Fair value equals the listed price.
Realized and wunrealized pgains and losses
{(including unrealized foreign exchange rate gains
and losses) are recognized in the income
statement as financial items. Transactions are
recognized at trade date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank
deposits and marketable securities with a maturity
of three months or less on the date of acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair
value.

Segment Reporting

The Group is managed and operated as one
business unit. The entire Group is managed by a
single management team reporting to the Chief
Executive Officer. No separate lines of business
or separate business entities have been identified
with respect to any product candidates or
geographical markets. Accordingly, Genmab has
concluded that it is not relevant to disclose
segment information on business segmenis or
geographical markets. '

2. Marketable Securities
The Group has classified all investments as short-

term since it has the intent and ability to $ell and
redeem them within a year.

Management Judgment under 1IFRS

In preparing interim reports under IFRS, certain
provisions under IFRS require management to
make judgments (various accounting estimales
and assumptions) which forms the basis of
recognition of the Group’s assets and liabilities.
The most significant judgments include, among
other things, recognition of intemally generated
intangible assets and revenue recognition. For a
description of significant judgments, please refer

to pages 29-30 of the Annual Report 2006.

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP
The Interim Report includes a reconciliation of
the reported net result under IFRS to the
corresponding net result under US GAAP,

June 30, December 31, June 30, June 30, December 31, June 30,
2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000
(full year) (full year)
Cast at the beginning of the period 1,309,417 878,286 878,286 237613 159,378 159,378
Additions for the period 3,891,032 2,448,512 1,459,077 706,087 444,320 264,772
Disposals for the period (1,473,466) (2,017,381) (806,934) (267.383) {366,085} (146,431)
Cost at the end of the period 3,726,983 1,309,417 1,530,429 676,317 137,613 177,719
Adjustment to fair value
a1 the beginning of the period {14,159} (6,730} (6,730) (2,.569) (1,221) (1.221)
Adjustment to fair value for the period (13,781) {7,429} (24,932) (2,501) (1,348) (4,524)
Adjustment to fair value
at the end of the period {27,940} (14,159} (31,662) (5,070) (2,569) (5,745)
Net book value at the end of the period 3,699,043 1,295,258 1,498,767 671,247 235,044 271,974

Genmab A/S
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Notes to the Financial Statements
3. Warrants

Warrant Scheme .
Genmab A/S has established warrant schemes as
an incentive for all company employees, including
those in our subsidiaries, members of the Board of
Directors and members of the executive
management as well as certain external
consultants with a long-term relationship with us.
To date, all employees have been granted warrants
in connection with their employment.

Warrants Granted from August 2004

Under the most recent warrant scheme, effective
from August 2004, warrants can be exercised
from one year afler the grant date. As a general
rule, the warrant holder may only exercise 25% of
the warrants granted per full year of employment
or affiliation with Genmab after the grant date.
However, the warrant holder will be entitled to
exercise all warrants in instances where the
employment or consultancy relationship is
terminated by the company without the warrant
holder providing a good reason to do so. All
warrants lapse at the tenth anniversary of the grant
date.

Warrants Granted prior to August 2004

Half of the warrants granted under the preceding
warrant schemes can be exercised one year afier
the grant date with the other half exercisable two
years after the grant date. The exercise period
lasts for three years from the date when a warrant
first becomes exercisable. If the warrants are not
exercised within these periods, they lapse.

The exercise of warrants is not conditional upon
continued employment or affiliation with
Genmab. However, upon the conclusion of
employment or affiliation, the holder is obligated
to offer to sell a specified percentage of shares
issued back to the company. The sell back clause
is not appticable in the event of termination as a

Genmab A/S
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result of the company’s breach of the employment
or affiliation contract. The sell back clause defines
the percentage of shares that the holder is required
to offer to sell back to the company,

The repurchase price to be paid for the shares by
the company in these instances is the warrant
holder’s original exercise price. Accordingly, the
warrant holder will not be able to profit on shares
sold back to the company.

Warrant Activity

In the first half of 2007, 1,198,445 warrants were
granted to employees of the company and its
subsidiaries. A total of 344,999 warrants have
been exercised during the first six months of 2007
of which 131,541 warrants were exercised during
the second quarter. During the first half of 2007,
warrant exercises resulted in total proceeds to the
company of DKK 35,639 thousand. 65,925
warrants have expired during the first half of
2007,

As of June 30, 2007, 201,758 warrants with a
weighted average exercise price of DKK 49.36
were outstanding under the preceding warrant
schemes and 3,877,073 warrants with a weighted
average exercise price of DKK 20441 were
outstanding under the August 2004 warrant
scheme. For comparison, as of June 30, 2006,
857,517 warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of DKK 105.59 were outstanding
under the preceding warrant schemes and
2,594,360 warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of DKK 123.90 were outstanding
under the August 2004 warrant scheme.

Compensation expenses under IFRS 2, “Share-
based Payment Transactions” totaled DKK 13,335
thousand for the second quarter of 2007,
compared to DKK 8,005 thousand for the similar
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Notes to the Financial Statements
3. Warrants (continued)

quarter of 2006. For the first half of 2007,
compensation expenses under IFRS 2 totaled

4, Internal Shareholders
The following table sets forth certain information

regarding the beneficial ownership of the issued
share capital and the outstanding warrants by the

December 31, 2006 Acquired

DKK 28,939 thousand compared to DKK 14,954
thousand for the first half of 2006.

members of the Board of Directors and the
management as per June 30, 2007

Number of ordinary shares owned

Board of Directurs

Lisa N. Drakeman 511,040 .
Emsy Schweizer 162,330 43,500
Michael Widmer . 25,000
Karsten Havkrog Pedersen - 12,500
Anders Gersel Pedersen - 17,000

Burten G. Malkiel - -
Hans Herrik Munch-Jensen - -

673,380 98,000
Management
Lisa N. Drakeman, 1ee above .
Jan van de Winkel 230,000
Claus Juan Maller-San Pedro 331,635
Bo Knuse 26,900
538,835
Tors! 1,261,915 93,000

December 31, 2006 Granted

Number of warrants keld

e

Board of Directors

Lisa N. Drakeman 605,000 200,000
Ernst Schweizer 126,000 15,000
Michacl Widmet 5,000 39,000
Karsten Havioog Pedersen 47,500 15,000
Anders Gersel Pedersen 52,000 15,000
Burton G. Malkiel - 40,000
Hars Henrik Munch-Jensen - 40,000
925,500 355 000
Management
Lisa N. Drakeman, see above - -
Jan van de Winkel 290,000 100,000
Claus Juan Moller-San Pedre 290,000 100,000
Bo Kruse 187,500 75,000
767,500 275,000
Total 1,693,000 630,000

Sold June 30, 1007
{150,000} 361,040
(B5,340) 120,000
(25.000) .
{12,500) -
(17,000) -
{290,340) 431,040
{110,000) 120,000
{120,000} 214,635
{20.000) 6,500
_(250,000) 338,535
(540,340) 219,575
Exercised June 30, 1007
- E03,000

(43,500} 97,500
(25,000} 100,000
(12,500) 50,000
(17,000} 50,000

- 40,0600

40,000

(98,060) 1,182,500
350,000

350,000

262,500

1,042,500

(98,000} 2,225,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements
5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP

The financial statements of the Group are
prepared in accordance with IFRS, which differ in
certain aspects from US GAAP. For convenience
of the reader, we have provided a reconciliation of
the net result under IFRS to the corresponding net
result under US GAAP. US GAAP has additional
disclosure requirements with respect to some of
the areas included in the reconciliation, but such
disclosures have not been included in this note.

Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive
Income,” establishes US GAAP for the reporting
and display of comprehensive income and its
components in financial statements,
Comprehensive income, which is a component of
shareholders’ equity, includes all unrealized gains
and losses (including exchange rate gains and
losses) on debt and equity securities classified as
“Available-for-sale.” Such securities would be
classified as marketable securities in the financial
statements under US GAAP and such unrealized
gains and losses would be included in a separate
statement in order to determine comprehensive
income. '

In accordance with IFRS, the Group classifies
such securities as financial assets at fair value
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through profit or loss. Unrealized gains and losses
(including exchange rate adjustments) are
included in the income statement as financial
items and in sharcholders’ equity as part of the
accumulated deficit.

Warrant Compensation Expenses

Under IFRS, the fair value of warrants granted is
recognized as an expense in the income slatement
with a corresponding entry in shareholders’
equity, SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment
(revised)”  includes  similar  requirements.
Adoption of SFAS No. 123R as of January 1,
2006, using the modified prospective application
method, leads to differences between IFRS and
US GAAP, as SFAS No. 123R comprises portions
of prior years’ warrant grants not fully vested,
which are not comprised by IFRS 2. There are no
differences between IFRS and US GAAP for
periods ended after September 30, 2006.

Application of US GAAP would have affected net

loss for the periods ended June 30, 2007 and 2006
to the extent described below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP (continued)

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP for the Second Quarter of 2007

2nd quarter of  2nd quarter of

2nd quarter of  2nd quarter of

2007 2006 2007 2006

DKK'006 DKK'000 UsDoo UsD'ooo
Net loss according to IFRS (10,214) (88,669) (1.854) (16,090)
Revaluation of marketable securities
concerning measurement to market value 15,864 4,805 2,879 872
Reversed unrealized exchange rate {gain) /
loss on marketable securities 3,903 4,283 708 77
Reversed warrant compensation expenses - 8,005 - 1,453
US GAAP warrant compensation expenses - (8,188) - (1,486)
Net gain / (loss) according to US GAAP 9.553 {79,764) 1,733 (14,474}
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outsianding during the period - basic 44,376,380 39,275,177 44,376,380 39,275,177
Basic net gain/ {loss) per share according fo
US GAAP (in DKK / USD) 0.22 (2.03) 0.04 (0.37)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period - dituted 46,241,787 39,275,177 46,241,787 39,275,177
Diluted net gain/ (loss) per share according to
US GAAP (in DKK / USD) 0.21 (2.03) 0.04 (0.37)
Net gain / (loss) according to US GAAP 9,553 (79,764) 1,733 (14,474)
Other Comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain / (loss) from marketable
securities (15,864) (4,805) (2,879) (§72)
Adjustment of foreign currency fluctuations in
subsidiaries (36) (343) U] (62)
Unrealized exchange rate gain / {loss) on
marketable securities (3.903) (4,283) (708) (777)
Comprehensive income (10,250) (89,195) (1,861) {16,185)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(August 21, 2007}

5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP (continued)

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP for the 6 months ended June 30, 2007

6 months ended

6 months ended

6 months ended

6 months ended

Net loss according to IFRS

Revaluation of marketable securities
concerning measurement to market value

Reversed unrealized exchange rate (gain} /
loss on marketable securities

Reversed warrant compensation expenses

US GAAP warrant compensation expenses

Net loss according to US GAAF

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period - basic and
diluted

Basic and diluted net loss per share according
to US GAAP (in DKK 7 USD)

Net loss according to US GAAP

Other Comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain / {loss) from marketable
securitics

Adjustment of foreign currency fluctuations in
subsidiaries

Unrealized exchange rate gain / (loss) on
marketable securities

Comprehensive income

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 usD'ooo USDo00
(87,019) (189,801) (15,791) (34,443)
10,060 18,093 1,826 3,283
5259 7,398 954 1,342
- 14,954 - 2,714
- (15,566) - (2,825)
(71,700} (164,922) (13,011) (29,929)
43,388,924 38,297,522 43,388,924 38,297,522
{1.65) (4.31) (0.30) (0.78)
(71,700) (164,922) (13,011} (29,919)
(10,060) (18,093) (1,826) (3,283)
49 {439) 10 {80)
(5,259) (7,398) (954) (1,342)
(86,970) (190,852) {15,781) (34,634}
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Dear Shareholder,

For the first quarter of 2007, Genmab reported a
net loss of DKK 76.8 million (approximately USD
13.7 million} compared to a net loss of DKK
101.1 million (approximately USD 18.1 million)
for the same period in 2006. During the first
quarter of 2007, Genmab recognized DKK 79.7
million {(approximately USD 14.2 million) in
revenues compared toc DKK 43.0 million
(approximately USD 7.7 million) in the
corresponding period of 2006.

At March 31, 2007, Genmab had cash and
marketable securitiecs of DKK 4,223 billion
(approximately USD 755 million).

For the first quarter of 2007, Genmab’s research
and development costs accounted for 86% of
operating costs and were DKK 159.3 million
(approximately USD 28.5 million) compared to
DKK 116.0 million (approximately USD 20.7
million) for the first quarter of 2006. General and
administrative expenses totalled DKK 26.2
million (approximately USD 4.7 million} in the
first quarter of 2007 compared to DKK 21.7
million (approximately USD 3.9 million) in the
similar period of 2006.

The net loss per share was DKK 1.81
(approximately USD 0.32) for the first quarter of
2007 compared to DKK 2.71 (approximately USD
0.48) for the first quarter of 2006,

QOutlook

Genmab is maintaining its financial guidance for
the year. We project a 2007 operating loss of
DKK 385 to 435 million and a net loss in the
range of DKK 260 to 310 million. The company’s
projected December 31, 2007 cash position is
expected to be in the range of DKK 3.834 10 3.914
billion.

The above estimates are subject to possible
change primarily due to the timing and variation
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of clinical development activities, related costs
and fluctuating exchange rates. The estimates also
assume that no further agreements are entered into
during 2007 that could materially affect the
results.

Highlights
The highlights of the first quarter of 2007 include
the following  business and  scientific
achievements:

e On March 16, we announced a research
cooperation whereby the Danish Head and
Neck Cancer Group (DAHANCA) plans to
run a Phase Il front line study of HuMax-
EGFr™ (zalutumuab) in head and neck cancer
patients.

e On March 12, we announced new insights
into the novel mechanisms of action of
HuMax-EGFr.

¢« On February 3, Genmab and
GlaxoSmithKline received antitrust clearance
from the Federal Trade Commission and the
Antitrust Division of the Department of
Justice under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act for
the HuMax-CD20™ (ofatumumab) co-
development and commercialization
agreement.

e Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on April
12, Genmab initiated a Phase Il study of
HuMax-EGFr in combination with chemo-
radiation to treat non small cell lung cancer.

Product Pipeline

During the first quarter of 2007, we continued to
build a broad portfolic of products in various
stages of development. As per March 31, 2007,
the clinical pipeline included four pivotal Phase
III studies, three Phase 11 studies, one Phase /11
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study, two Phase I studies, and more than eighteen
pre-clinical programs.

The following is an update on the status of each of
the key programs.

HuMax-CD20™ (Ofatumumab)

HuMax-CD20 is currently in clinical studies for
the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia
(CLL), follicular non-Hedgkin’s lymphoma
(NHL) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA).

A pivotal Phase 11l study is ongoing to treat
approximately 100 CLL patients who have failed
treatment with fludarabine and alemtuzumab or
who have failed fludarabine and are ineligible for
alemtuzumab., HuMax-CD20 has a Fast Track
designation from the FDA for this indication.

Additional data from the completed Phase 1711
study of HuMax-CD20 in CLL was reported in
December 2006. An objective response rate of
50% was observed in patients trcated at the
highest dose level (2000 mg), including one
nodular partial remission (nPR) confirmed by CT
scan and one patient who qualified as nPR but had
residual lymphadenopathy revealed by CT. The
data included one more responder than previously
reported. The median time to disease progression
in all patients was approximately 16 weeks. In
patients responding to HuMax-CD20, the median
time to disease progression increased to 23 weeks.
The median time to next anti-CLL treatment was
52 weeks. The survival endpoints correlated
statistically to the patients’ total exposure to
HuMax-CID20 over time and to ciearance of the
antibody.

A Phase II front line study of HuMax-CD20 in
combination with fludarabine and
cyclophosphamide (FC) to treat CLL in
previously untreated patients was initiated in
December 2006. A total of 56 patients will be
enrolled in the study.

Genmab A/S
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A HuMax-CD20 Phase 1l pivotal study to treat
patients with rituximab refractory follicular NHL
was initiated in July 2006. Positive results from a
previous Phase I/11 study in relapsed or refractory
follicular NHL showed objective responses of up
to 63% according to the Cheson criteria. The
median duration of response and median time 10
disease progression in responding patients had not
been reached after 12 months of follow-up.

Enrolment of approximately 226 patients in the
HuMax-CD20 Phase 11 study to treat RA patients
who had failed one or more disease modifying
anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) was completed
in September 2006. Interim data from the first 100
patients in the study indicated that a statistically
significant proportion of patients on active
treatment with HuMax-CD20 obtained ACR20
compared to placebo. Full results from the Phase
Il study will be presented at the EULAR
Conference on June 16, 2007 and planning for the
Phase 11 clinical program in RA is underway.

In December 2006, Genmab entered into an
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), which
gave GSK exclusive worldwide rights to co-
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20. GSK
and Genmab will co-develop HuMax-CD20 and
the parties will share development costs equally
from 2008. GSK will be solely responsible for
manufacturing and commercialization. Under the
terms of the agreement, Genmab received a
license fee of DKK 582 million, and GSK
invested DKK 2,033 million in Genmab. We may
also receive potential milestone payments and the
total of these payments and the initial license fee
and equity investment could exceed DKK %.0
billion. GSK has also committed to development,
commercial manufacturing and commercialization
costs. In addition, Genmab wil! be entitled to
receive tiered double digit royalties on global
sales of HuMax-CD20. As part of the agreement,
Genmab will have an option to co-promote, in a
targeted oncology  setting, HuMax-CD20,
Bexxar™, and Arranon™ in the US and HuMax-
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CD20 and Atriance™ in the Nordic region. GSK
will also have an option for a CD20 UniBody™.
The agreement was subject to review by the US
Government under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act and
became effective on February 3, 2007 afler
clearing review.

HuMax-EGFr (zalutumumab)

Genmab is running two studies with HuMax-
EGFr to treat head and neck cancer and one study
to treat non small cell lung cancer. A pivotal
Phase IIl study to treat 273 patients with
refractory head and neck cancer considered
incurable with standard treatment is being
conducted under a Fast Track designation from
the FDA. A 36 patient Phase /11 study of HuMax-
EGFr in combination with chemo-radiation as
front line treatment of advanced head and neck
cancer is also ongoing.

Clinical data reported in 2005 showed
encouraging efficacy from a Phase I/l study in
refractory head and neck cancer with 9 out of 11
patients in the two highest dose groups obtaining
partial metabolic response or stable metabolic
disease when evaluated by FDG-PET scan.

In April 2007, Genmab initiated a Phase 11 study
of HuMax-EGFr in combination with chemo-
radiation for the treatment of non small cell lung
cancer. A maximum of 270 patients with
advanced non small cell lung cancer will be
included in the study.

In March 2007, Genmab announced new insights
into the novel mechanisms of action of HuMax-
EGFr. By using Protein Tomography™, a
relatively new technology which uses an electron
microscope to view the three dimensional
structure of proteins on the surface of cells,
HuMax-EGFr was shown to lock the EGF
receptor in an inactive conformation which
prevents receptor activation and the binding of
growth factors. Furthermore, HuMax-EGFr was
shown to inhibit EGF receptor signaling by
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preventing receptor dimerization, the pairing of
two receptor molecules which starts the signaling
cascade. All of these mechanisms have the
potential to interfere with cancer cell growth.

HuMax-CD4® (zanolimumab)

HuMax-CD4 is currently in  Phase Il
development for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell
lymphoma (CTCL) and in Phase Il development
for non-cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (NCTCL).
The CTCL pivotal study is being conducted under
an SPA agreement and Fast Track designation
from the FDA. HuMax-CD4 has also been granted
Orphan Drug Status in the EU and US to treat
patients with the most commeon form of CTCL,
mycosis fungoides (MF).

Positive preliminary results from the pivotal study
in CTCL were presented in December 2006. A
clinical response was shown in 42% of patients in
the two highest dose groups. A partial response
was obtained by 16% of patients in the 8 mg/kg
dose group and 67% of patients in the 14 mg/kg
dose group. No responses were observed in the 4
mg/kg dose group and this level is not being used
in the second part of this ongoing study.

In December 2006, preliminary results from the
ongoing Phase [l NCTCL trial showed that 28.5%
of patients had objective responses. Plans to treat
NCTCL  patients with  HuMax-CD4  in
combination with chemotherapy are underway.

Genmab licensed worldwide rights to develop and
commercialize HuMax-CD4 to Merck Serono
S.A. in August 2005. Merck Serono is responsible
for all future activities and costs for HuMax-CD4
and Genmab is conducting the ongoing Phase IlI
CTCL and Phase 11 NCTCL studies at Merck
Serono’s expense.

AMG 714

AMG 714 is being developed under an agreement
with Amgen, Inc. and is undergoing Phase I
clinical testing. Results from a Phase II study in
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RA were presented in 2006. Amgen is responsible
for all further development of AMG 714,

HuMax-Inflam™

HuMax-Inflam is a high-affinity human antibody
in development to treat inflammatory conditions.
A Phase VIl clinical trial has produced positive
safety and efficacy data. We believe HuMax-
Inflam may be a candidate for Orphan Drug
status. Genmab is developing HuMax-Inflam in
collaboration with Medarex, Inc.

R1507

R1507 is a fully human antibody created by
Genmab under collaboration with Roche. R1507
is currently in Phase | clinical trials. This antibody
targets the Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 Receptor
(IGF-1R} which has been shown to be important
in tumor growth and protecting tumor cells from
being killed. IGF-1R is over-expressed on a
variety of tumors including breast, colon, prostate,
lung, skin and pancreatic cancers. In pre-clinical
studies, R1507 was shown to block binding and
signalling of tumor growth factor receptors and
effectively stopped tumor cell growth in animal
models.

Pre-clinical Programs

Genmab's pre-clinical programs include HuMax-
CD38™ for multiple myeloma, HuMax-ZP3™ for
cancer, HuMax-HepC™, to potentially treat
Hepatitis C virus reinfection after liver
transplantation and HuMax-TAC™, in develop-
ment under a collaboration with Merck Serono.

Genmab announced the new HuMax-ZP3
program in December 2006. HuMax-ZP3 is a
fully human antibody that targets ZP3, a protein
that is over-expressed on colon, pancreatic and
prostate cancers, but not in critical organs such as
the brain, heart, liver and lungs. HuMax-ZP3
potently  exhibits the Antibody-Dependent
Cellular Cytotoxicity (ADCC) and Complement
Dependent Cytotoxicity (CDC) immune «system
killing mechanisms against tumor cells that
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express ZP3. Furthermore, pre-clinical data from
in vivo solid tumor models in SCID mice shows
impressive anti-tumor effects induced by HuMax-
ZP3. HuMax-ZP3 is undergoing further pre-
clinical testing.

In December 2006, we announced that Roche
named the disease areas for the antibody programs
developed in collaboration with Genmab. These
include inflammation, oncology, respiratory and
vascular diseases. The antibodies are primarily at
the pre-clinical stage with R1507 in Phase I
development. The development of one of the
programs is carried out in collaboration with one
of the world’s largest bictech companies,
Genentech, where Roche owns a majority stake,

Change in board of directors

By the end of January 2007, Irwin Lerner resigned
from Genmab's Board of Directors in the light of
his recently expanded responsibilities as Interim
President and Chief Executive Officer of
Medarex, Inc.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on April 19,
the shareholders elected Dr. Burton G. Malkiel
and Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen to the Board of
Directors at the Company’s Annual General
Meeting.

Consolidated Key Figures

The following key figures and financial ratios
have been prepared on a consolidated basis. The
financial ratios have been calculated in
accordance with the recommendations of the
Association of Danish Financial Analysts.

Key figures comply with the requirements under
the Danish financial reporting requirements and
the IFRS. All key figures and financial ratios are
in conformity with the current accounting
policies. The figures have been stated in
thousands, except for the financial ratios.
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Ist quarter 1s1 quarter Ist quarter 1st quarter
of of of of
2007 2006 2007 2006

DKK'000 DKK'000 UsSD'ood UspDeo
Income Statement
Revenues 79,669 42,968 14,241 7.680
Research and development costs (159,317} (116,017) (28,477) (20,738}
General and administrative expenses (26,170) (21,708) (4,678) (3,880}
Operating loss (105.818) (94,757} (18,914) (16,938)
Net financial income 29,013 (6,375) 5,185 (1,139)
Net loss {76.805)  (101,132) (13,729) (18,077)
Balance Sheet
Cash and marketable securitics 4,222,570 2,008,414 754,771 358,998
Total assets 4.319,199 2,112,293 772,044 377,564
Shareholders' equity 3,098,677 1,866,964 553,880 333,713
Share capital 44333 39,197 7.924 7.006
[nvestments in tangible fixed assets 3,311 2,502 592 447
Cash Flow Statement
Cash flow from operating activities 941,188 (66,142) 168,233 (11,822)
Cash flow from investing activities 94,547 (753,982) 16,900 (134,772)
Cash flow from financing activities 1,552,481 840,099 271,501 150,165
Cash and cash equivalents 3,017,679 401,189 539,401 71,711
Financial Ratios (in DKK / USD)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (1.81} (2.71) (0.32) (0.48)
Period-end share market price 340.00 194.09 60.77 34.69
Price / book value 437 4.07 4.37 4.07
Shareholders’ equity per share 71,74 47.63 13.89 8.51
Average number of employecs 262 220 262 220
Number of employees at the end of the period 273 220 273 220

Genmab®; the Y-shaped Genmab logo®; HuMax®; HuMax-CI4®; HuMax-EGFr™; HuMuax-Inflam™; HuMax-CD20™; HuMax-
TAC™; HuMax-HepC™, HuMax-CD38™, HuMax-ZP3™ and UniBody™ are all trademarks of Genmab A/S; HuMAb-Mouse®,
UltiMAbB® and UltiMAb Human Antibody Development System® are trademarks of Medarex, Inc.; TC Mouse™ is a trademark of

Kirin Brewery Co., Ltd. Bexxar™, Arranon™ and Atriance™ are all trademarks of GlaxoSmithK line.
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Financial Review

The Interim Report is prepared on a consolidated
basis for the Genmab Group. The financial
statements are published in Danish Kroner (DKK).
Solely for the convenience of the reader, this
Interim Report contains a conversion of certain
DKK amounts into US Dollars (USD} at a
specified rate. These converted amounts should not
be construed as representations that the DKK
amounts actually represent such USD amounts or
could be converted into USD at the rate indicated
or at any other rate.

Unless otherwise indicated, conversion herein of
financial information into USD has been made
using the Danish Central Bank’s spot rate on
March 31, 2007, which was USD 1.00 = DKK
5.5945.

Revenues

The Group’s revenues were DKK 79.7 million for
the first quarter of 2007 and DKK 43.0 million for
the first quarter of 2006. The revenues arise from
services provided under the Group’s collaboration
agreements and from recognition of part of the
payment received from GSK in February 2007 for
the right to co-develop and commercialize HuMax-
CD20. In a similar manner, the recognized
revenues include a part of the payment received
from Merck Serono in 2005 for the rights to
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD4.

Genmab announced in February that the worldwide
agreement with GSK to co-develop and
commercialize HuMax-CD20 had  received
antitrust clearance from the Federal Trade
Commission and the Antitrust Division of the
Department of Justice under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Act, and thereby became effective. Due to the close
connection between the initial license fee of DKK
582 million and the DKK 504 million premium to
the market value on shares subscribed by GSK,
these amounts will be jointly processed and
recognized as revenues on a straight-line basis over
a five-year period.

Genmab A/S
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Operating Loss

The Group’s operating loss for the first quarter of
2007 was DKK 105.8 million compared to DKK
94.8 million for the similar quarter of 2006
Although the operating expenses have increased
significantly from 2006 1o 2007, such increasing
expenses have been offset by increasing revenues.

Research and development costs have increased
from DKK 116.0 million in the first quarter of
2006 to DKK 159.3 million in the first quarter of
2007. The increasing research and development
costs reflect the increasing level of clinical
activities arising from the advancement of our
product pipeline.

General and administrative expenses were DKK
26.2 million in the first quarter of 2007 compared
to DXK 21.7 million in the same period of 2006.

The operating loss for the first quarter of 2007
includes warrant compensation expenses totalling
DKK 13.6 million compared to DKK 6.9 million
for the first quarter of 2006.

Financial Income

Net financial income for the first quarter of 2007
was DKK 29.0 million compared to-a net expense
of DKK 6.4 million in the same period of 2006,
The year to date net financial income has benefited
from the higher average cash position, whereas the
negative net financial income reported for the first
quarter of 2006 was impacted by increasing interest
rates and weakening of the USD against the DKK.

Net Loss

Net loss for the first quarter of 2007 was DKK 76.8
million compared to DKK 101.1 millien in the first
quarter of 2006.

Cash Flow

As of March 31, 2007, the balance sheet reflects
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of
DKK 4.223 billion compared to DKK 1.724 billion
as of December 31, 2006. This represents a net
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increase of DKK 2.499 billion, primarily arising
from the upfront payment and the issuance of
shares to GSK in February 2007.

The cash flow for the first quarter of 2007 is in line
with our expectations. The operating activities
generated cash flows of DKK 941.2 million
compared to a consumption of DKK 66.1 millicn in
the same period of 2006.

Balance Sheet

As of March 31, 2007, total assets were DKK
4.319 billion compared to DKK 1.805 billion at the
end of 2006. The increase is primarily caused by
the Company's strengthened cash position.

Shareholders’ equity, as of March 31, 2007,
equalled DKK 3.099 billion compared to DKK
1.608 billion at the end of December 2006. On
March 31, 2007, the Group’s equity ratic was 72%
compared to the 89% reported at the end of 2006.

The increase in shareholders equity is primarily

caused by GSK's subscription of 4,471,202 new

Additicnal information:

The forward looking statements contained in this Interim

Report are subject to risks and uncertainties, so that the

actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated by the statements. These and certain other

Genmab A/S
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shares in Genmab in connection with the
worldwide agreement to co-develop and
commercialize HuMax-CD20. This transaction
increased sharecholders equity by DKK 1.529
billion in the first quarter of 2007.

Subsequent Events

On April 12, Genmab announced a Phase 1 study
of HuMax-EGFr in combination with chemo-
radiation to treat non small cell lung cancer,

On April 19, the shareholders elected Dr. Burton G.
Malkiel and Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen to the
Board of Directors at the Company's Annual
General Meeting.

No other significant events have occurred since the
balance sheet date which could significantly affect
the financial statements as of March 31, 2007.

Helle Husted
Sr. Director, Investor Relations
Telephone +45 33 44 77 30

important factors affecting the business of Genmab A/S
are described in the company's previously issued
Annual Report and Private Placement Memorandum.

Release No. 17/2007



Interim Report
1¥ Quarter 2007
(May 8, 2007

Directors’ and Management’s Statement on the Interim Report

The Board of Directors and Management have
today considered and adopted the Interim Report
of Genmab A/S for the 3 months ended March 31,
2007.

The Interim Report is prepared in accordance with
the Copenhagen Stock Exchange's financial
reporting requirements for listed companies. The
Interim Report is in compliance with International
Accounting Standard No. 34 (1AS 34), “Interim

Copenhagen, May 8, 2007

Management

Lisa N. Drakeman

Jan van de Winkel Bo Kruse

Board of Dire‘ctors

Michael B. Widmer

(Chairman)

Karsten Havkrog Pedersen

Hans Henrik Munch-Jensen

Genmab A/S

Lisa N. Drakeman

Ernst H. Schweizer
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Financial Reporting”, and additional Danish
disclosure requirements for financial reporting of
listed companies.

We consider the applied accounting policies to be
appropriate and, in our opinion, the Interim
Report gives a true and fair view of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, results of operation
and cash flows of the Group.

Claus Juan Mgller-San Pedro

Anders Gersel Pedersen

Burton G. Malkiel
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Income Statement for the First Quarter of 2007
|

1st quarter of st quarter of Ist quarter of st quarter off
2007 2006 2007 2006
| DKK'000 DKK'000 UsSD'ooo UsSD'000
Revenues 79,669 42,968 14,241 7,680
Research and development costs (159.317) (116,017} (28477 (20,738)
General and administrative expenses (26,170) (21,708) {4,678) (3,880)
I Operating loss {105,818} (94,757 (18,914) {16,938)
Financial income 40,842 25,845 7,299 4,620
Financial expenses (11,829) (32,220) (2,114} {5,759)
Loss before tax (76,805) (101,132) (13,729) (18,077)
Corporate tax - - - -
Net loss {76,805) (101,132) (13,729) (18,077)
Basic and diluted net gain / {loss) per share
(in DKK 7 USD) (1.81) (2.71) (0.32) (0.48)
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period - basic
and diluted 42,390,497 37,309,876 42,390,497 37,309,876
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Balance Sheet — Assets

Leasehold improvements
Equipment, furniture and fixtures
Fixed assets under construction
Total tangible fixed assets

Other securities and equity interests
Total financial fixed assets

Total non-current assets

Other receivables
Prepayments

Total receivables

Marketable securities
Cash and cash cquivalents

Total current assels

Total assets

Genmab A/S

Interim Report
1* Quarter 2007

(May 8, 2007)
March 31, December 31,  March 31, March 31, December3l,  March 31,
2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006

DKK'000 DKK"000 DKK'000 UsSD'e00 USD000 USD'od0
2,396 3,094 6,528 428 553 1,167
28,049 28,170 33,337 5,014 5,036 5,959
235 - 1,702 42 - 304
30,680 31,264 41,567 5,484 5,589 7,430
613 2,453 3,066 110 418 548
613 2,453 3,066 110 438 548
31,293 33717 44,633 5,594 6,027 7,978
55,846 40,968 52,809 9,983 7,323 9437
9,490 5611 6,437 1,696 1,003 1,151
65,336 46,579 59,246 11,679 8,326 10,588
1,204,891 1,295,258 1,607,225 215,370 231,523 287,287
3,017,679 429,075 401,189 539,401 76,697 71,711
4,287,906 1,770,912 2,067,660 766,450 316,546 369,586
4,319,199 1,804,629 2,112,293 772,044 322,573 377,564
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[nterim Report
1* Quarter 2007
(May 8, 2007}

Balance Sheet — Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities

Share capital

Share premium

Reserve for share-based payment
Translation reserves
Accumulated deficit

Shareholders’ equity

Lease liability
Total non-current liabilities

Current portion of lease liability
Accounts payable

Deferred income

Other liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total shareholders' equity and
liabilities

Warrants

Intenal shareholders
Reconciliation from [FRS to US
GAAP

Genmab A/S

March 31, December 31,  March 31, March 31,  December 31, March 31,
2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKXK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 UsD'000 UsD'o00 UsD000
44,333 39,648 30,197 7.924 7,087 7,006
5,326,419 3,776,893 3,731,376 952,082 675,107 666,972
86,058 72,454 40,203 15,383 12,951 7,186
4,518 4433 4,930 808 792 881
(2,362,651} (2,285,846)  (1,948,742) (422,317} (408,588) (348,332)
3,008,677 1,607,582 1,866,964 553,880 287,349 333,713
9,739 11,251 17,357 1,741 2,011 3,103
9,739 11,251 17,357 1,741 2,011 3,103
7,096 6,955 7,889 1,268 1,243 1,410
51,757 47,352 40,652 9,251 8,464 7.266
1,084,543 71,177 129,455 193,859 12,723 23,140
67,387 60,312 49975 12,045 10,783 8,932
1,210,783 185,796 227,972 216,423 33,213 40,748
1,220,522 197,047 245,329 218,164 35,224 43,851
!
4,319,199 1,804,629 2,112,293 772,044 322,573 377,564
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Statement of Cash Flow

Net loss

Reversal of financial items, net

Adjustments for non-cash transactions:
Depreciation and amortization
Net (gain) / loss on sale of equipment
Warrant compensation expenses

Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Qther reccivables
Prepayments
Deferred income
Accounts payable and other liabilities

Cash flow from operating activities before
financial items

Financial receivables

Cash flow from eperating activities

Purchase of property, plani and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Marketable securities bought

Marketable segurities sold

Cash flow from investing activities

Warrants exercised

Shares issued for cash

Costs related to issuance of shares
Paid installments on lease liabilities

Cash flow from financing activities

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the period

Exchange rate adjustment of cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period

Cash and cash equivalents include:
Bank deposits and petty cash
Restricied bank deposits

Non-cash transactions;
Assets acquired
Liabilities assumed

Genmab A/S

Interim Report
1* Quarnter 2007

(May &, 2007)
15t quarter of 1st quarter of
pieig 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000
{76,805) (101,132)
{29.013) 6,375
3,531 4,784
&) (67)
13,604 6,949
(13,453) 12,182
(3.882) 9,609
1,013,261 (19,072)
11,027 13,527
918,267 {66,845)
22,921 703
941,188 - (66,142)
(1,274) (494)
65 352
(142,152) (1,263,181}
237,908 505,341
94,547 (753,982)
26,165 35,734
1,529,151 845,250
(1,105) (38,511)
(1730} (2,374)
1,552,481 840,099
2,588,216 19,975
429,075 381,346
388 {132)
3,017,679 401,189
3,017,384 395,870
295 3,319
3,017,679 401,189

- 4,370

- 73,370)

15t quarter of 1st quarter of
2007 2006
UsD'oo0 Uspooe
(13,129 (18,077)
(5,186) 1,140
631 B85S
(1 (12)
2,432 1,242
(2,405) 2,177
(694) 1,718
181,117 {3,409)
1,971 2,418
164,136 {11,948)
4,097 126
168,233 (11,822)
(228) (88)
12 63
(25,409) (225.790)
42,525 91,043
16,900 {134,772)
4,677 6,387
273,331 151,086
(197 (6,884)
(310} (424)
277,501 150,165
462,634 3,57
76,697 68,164
70 (24)
539,401 71,711
539,348 70,750
53 951
539,401 71,711
- 781
- (781)
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

December 31, 2005
Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign cumency
fluctuntions on subsidiarics

Loss for the period
Total comprehensive income
Exercise of warrants
Capital increase
Expenses related 1o capital increases
Warrant compensation expenses
March 31, 2006
Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuntions on subsidiaries

Laoss for the period

Total comprehensive income

Exercise of wamants

Expcnscs related to capital increases

Warrant compensation expenses

December 31, 2006

Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of loreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiarics

Loss for the period
Totsl comprehensive income
Exercize of warrants
Capital increase
Expenses related to capital increases
Warrani compensation expensey

March 31, 2007

Genmab A/S

Interim Report
1¥' Quarter 2007
{May 8, 2007)

Reserve for
share-based Translation  Accumulated Sharehelders’ Shareholders’
Number of shares Share capital _Share premium ___ payment reserves deficit equity equity
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'009 DKK'000 DKK'000 USTX000
{Unaudited)
33,108,098 33,108 1,894,992 33,154 5,026 ($,847,610) 1,118,770 199,977
(96) (96} an
(101.132) {101,132) (18,077}
{101,228) 18,094)
338,667 339 15,395 35,734 6,387
5,750,000 5.750 839,500 B435,250 151,085
{38,511} {38,5i1) {6,884)
6,949 6,949 1,242
39,196,765 39,197 3731376 40,203 4,930 (1,948,742) 1,566,964 333,713
97 (497) (89}
(337,104) (337.104) (60.25T)
(337,601 {60,346}
431,590 451 53,880 54,331 9,712
' (8,363) (8,363) (1.495)
32,251 32,251 5,765
39,648,358 39,643 3,776,691 72,454 4,433 (2,285,846) 1,607,582 287,349
85 85 15
(76,805} (76,805) {13,728
(76,720) (13,713)
213,458 214 2595} 26,163 4,677
4,471,202 4,47] 1,524,680 1,529,151 273333
{1,103) (1,10%) {193)
13,604 13,604 2,432
44,333,015 44,333 5326,41% £6,058 4,518 (2,362,651) 3,098,677 553,880
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Interim Report
1* Quarter 2007
(May 8, 2007)

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies

The Interim Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Copenhagen Stock
Exchange's financial reporting requirements for
listed companies. The Interim Report is unaudited
and it is prepared in compliance with International
Accounting Standard No. 34 (IAS 34), “Interim
Financial Reporting”.

The accounting policies used for the Interim
Report are consistent with the accounting policies
used in the company’s latest Annual Report,
which was prepared in accordance with the IFRS
as endorsed by the EU and additional Danish
disclosure requirements for financial reporting of
listed companies.

The Interim Report has been prepared in Danish
Krener (DKK), which is the functional currency
of the company and the Group.

The most significant items of the Group's
accounting policies are:

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include
Genmab A/S (the parent company), Genmab B.V.,
Genmab, Inc., and Genmab Ltd. (collectively
referred to as the Genmab Group).

Revenues

Revenues comprise milestone payments and other
income from research and development
agreements, Revenue is recognized when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and these benefits can be measured
reliably. Further, revenue recognition requires that
all significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods or services included in the transaction
have been transferred to the buyer.

Genmab A/S
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Stock-Based Compensation

For warrants granted after November 7, 2002, the
Group applies IFRS 2 according to which the fair
value of the warrants at grant date is recognized as
an expense in the income statement over the
vesting period. A corresponding amount is
recognized in a separate reserve under equity.
Warrants granted prior to November 7, 2002 are
not comprised by 1IFRS 2. For these warrants, the
Group accounts for the compensation by use of
the intrinsic value method for employees and the
Board of Directors and the fair value method for
non-employee consultants.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of investments in
securities with a maturity greater than three
months at the time of purchase. The company
invests its cash in deposits with major financial
institutions, in morigage bonds, corporate bonds
and notes issued by the Danish or US government,
The securities can be readily purchased and sold
using established markets. When sold, the cost of
marketable securities is determined based on the
“first-in first-out” principle.

The Group’s portfolio of investments has been
classified as “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss”. Fair value equals the listed price.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses
(including unrealized foreign exchange rate gains
and losses) are recognized in the income
statement as financial items. Transactions are
recognized at trade date.
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Interim Report
1® Quarter 2007
(May 8, 2007)

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank
deposits and marketable securities with a maturity
of three months or less on the date of acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair
value,

Segment Reporting

The Group is managed and operated as one
business unit. The entire Group is managed by a
single management team reporting to the Chief

2. Marketable Securities

The Group has classified all investments as short-
term since it has the intent and ability to sell and
redeem them within a year.

Executive Officer. No separate lines of business
or separate business entities have been identified
with respect to any product candidates or
geographical markets, Accordingly, the company
has concluded that it is not relevant to disclose
segment information on business segments or
geographical markets.

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP
The Interim Report includes a reconciliation of
the reported net result under IFRS to the
corresponding net result under US GAAP.

March 31, December 31, March 31, March 31, December 3], March31,
2007 2006 2006 2007 2006 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 UsD'o0o usD'000 USD'000
(full year) (full year}
Cost at the beginning of the period 1,309417 878,286 878,286 234,054 156,991 156,991
Additions for the period 142,152 2,448,512 1,263,181 25,409 437,664 225,790
Disposals for the period (237,838) (2,017,381} (512,106) (42,514) (360,601} (91,537)
Cost at the end of the period 1,213,731 1,309,417 1,629,361 216,950 234,054 291,244
Adjusiment to fair value
at the beginning of the period (14,159) (6,730) (6,730) (2,530) (1,203) (1,203}
Adjustment to fair value for the period 5,319 (7,429) (15,406) 951 (1,328) (2,754)
Adjusiment to faiv value
at the end of the period (8,840) (14,159) (22.136) (1,580 (2,531) (3,957)
Net book value at the end of the period 1,204,891 1,295,258 1,607,215 215,370 231,523 287,287

Genmab A/S
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Interim Report
1® Quarter 2007
{May 8, 2007)

Notes to the Financial Statements
3. Warrants

Warrant Scheme

Genmab A/S has established warrant schemes as
an incentive for all company employees, including
those in our subsidiaries, members of the Board of
Directors and members of the executive
management as  well as  certain  external
consultants with a long-term relationship with us.
To date, all employees have been granted warrants
in connection with their employment.

Warrants Granted from August 2004

Under the most recent warrant scheme, effective
from August 2004, warrants can be exercised
from one year after the grant date. As a general
rule, the warrant holder may only exercise 25% of
the warrants granted per full year of employment
or affiliation with Genmab after the grant date,
However, the warrant holder will be entitled to
exercise all warrants in instances where the
employment or consultancy relationship is
terminated by the company without the warrant
holder providing a good reason to do so. All
warrants lapse at the tenth anniversary of the grant
date.

Warrants Granted prior to August 2004

Half of the warrants granted under the preceding
warrant schemes can be exercised one year after
the grant date with the other half exercisable two
years after the grant date. The cxercise period
lasts for three years from the date when a warrant
first becomes exercisable. 1f the warrants are not
exercised within these periods, they lapse.

The exercise of warrants is not conditional upon
continued employment or affiliation with
Genmab. However, upon the conclusion of
employment or affiliation, the holder is obligated
to offer 10 sell a specified percentage of shares
issued back to the company. The sell back clause
is not applicable in the event of termination as a

Genmab A/S
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result of the company’s breach of the employment
or affiliation contract, The sell back clause defines
the percentage of shares that the holder is required
to offer to sell back to the company.

The repurchase price to be paid for the shares by
the company in these instances is the warrant
holder’s original exercise price. Accordingly, the
warrant holder will not be able to profit on shares
sold back to the company.

Warrant Activity

In the first quarter of 2007, no warrants were
granted to employees of the company and its
subsidiaries. A total of 213,458 warrants have
been exercised during the first quarter of 2007,
During the first quarter of 2007, warrant exercises
resulted in total proceeds to the company of DKK
26,165 thousand. 14,675 warrants have expired
during the first quarter of 2007,

As of March 31, 2007, 352,553 warrants with a
weighted average exercise price of DKK 61.70
were outstanding under the preceding warrant
schemes and 2,712,124 warrants with a weighted
average exercise price of DKK 13644 were
outstanding under the August 2004 warrant
scheme. For comparison, as of March 31, 2006,
1,087,601 warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of DKK 110.50 were outstanding
under the preceding warrant schemes and
1,953,924 warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of DKK 106.07 were outstanding
under the August 2004 warrant scheme.

Compensation expenses under IFRS 2, “Share-
based Payment Transactions” totaled DKK 13,604
thousand for the first quarter of 2007, compared to
DKK 6,949 thousand for the similar quarter of
2006,
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Interim Report
1® Quarter 2007
{May 8, 2007)

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. Internal Shareholders

The following table sets forth certain information
regarding the beneficial ownership of the issued
share capital and the ocutstanding warrants by the

Number of ordinary shares owned

Board of Directors

Lisa N. Drakeman

Emst Schweizer

Michacl Widmer

Karsten Havkrog Pedersen
Anders Gersel Pedersen

Management

Lisa N. Drakeman, see above
Jan van de Winkel

Claus Juan Meller-San Pedro
Bo Kruse

Total

Number of warrants held

Board of Directors

Lisa N. Drakeman

Ernst Schweizer

Michael Widmer

Karsten Havkrog Pedersen
Anders Gersel Pedersen

Management

Lisa N. Drakeman, sce above
Jan van de Winkel

Claus Juan Moller-San Pedro
Bo Kruse

Total

Genmab A/S

members of the Board of Directors and the
management as per March 31, 2007:

December 31, 2006 Acquired Sold March 31, 2007

511,040 - (150,000) 361,040

162,340 43,500 (43,500} 162,340

- 25,000 {25,000) -

- 12,500 (12,500) -

- 17,000 (17.000) -

673,380 98,000 {248,000) 523,380

230,000 - (110,000) 120,000

331,635 - (120,000) 211,635

26,900 - (20,000) 6,900

588,535 - (250,000) 338,535

1,261,915 98,000 (498.000) 861915

December 31, 2006 Granted Exercised Expired March 31, 2007

605,000 - 605,000
126,000 (43,500) 82,500
95,000 (25,000} 70,000
47,500 {12,500) 35,000
52,000 {17,000) 35,000
915,500 (98,000) 827,500
290,000 290,000
290,000 - 290,000
187,500 187,500
767,500 - 767,500
1,693,000 (98,000) 1,595,000
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Interim Report
1¥ Quarter 2007
{May 8, 2007}

Notes to the Financial Statements
5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP

The financial statements of the Group are
prepared in accordance with IFRS, which differ in
certain aspects from US GAAP. For convenience
of the reader, we have provided a reconciliation of
the net result under 1FRS to the corresponding net
result under US GAAP. US GAAP has additional
disclosure requirements with respect to some of
the areas included in the reconciliation, but such
disclosures have not been included in this note.

Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive
Income,” establishes US GAAP for the reporting
and display of comprehensive income and its
components in financial statements.
Comprehensive income, which is a component of
shareholders’ equity, includes all unrealized gains
and losses (including exchange rate gains and
losses) on debt and equity securities classified as
“Available-for-sale.” Such securities would be

Genmab A/S Page 19 0f 20

classified as marketable securities in the financial
statements under US GAAP and such unrealized
gains and losses would be included in a separate
statement in order to determine comprehensive
income.

In accordance with IFRS, the Group classifies
such securities as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. Unrealized gains and losses
(including exchange rate adjustments) are
included in the income statement as financial
items and in shareholders’ equity as part of the
accumulated deficit.

Application of US GAAP would have affected net

loss for the periods ended March 31, 2007 and
2006 to the extent described below.
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Interim Report
17 Quarter 2007
(May 8, 2007)
Notes to the Financial Statements
5. Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP (continued)

Reconciliation from IFRS to US GAAP for the First Quarter of 2007

I1st quarter of  1st quarter of Ist quarter of  1st quarter of
2007 2006 2007 2006
DKK'000 DKK'000 USD'000 UsD0o0

Net gain / (loss) according to IFRS (76,805) (101,132) (13,729) (18,077)
Revaluation of marketable securities
concerning measurement to market value (5,804) 13,288 (1,037) 2,375
Reversed unrealized exchange rate (gain) /
loss on marketable securities 1,356 3,115 242 557
Reversed warrant compensation expenses - 6,949 - 1,242
US GAAP warrant compensation ¢xpenses - (7,378) - (1,319)
Net gain / (loss) nccording to US GAAP {81,253) (85,158) {14,524) (15,222)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period - basic and
diluted 42,390,497 37,309,876 42,390,497 317,309,876
Basic and diluted net loss per share nccording
to US GAAP (in DKK/USD) (1.92) (2.28) {0.34) (0.41)
Net gain / (loss) according to US GAAP (41,253) (85,158) (14,524) (15,222}
Other Comprehensive income:.
Unrealized gain / (loss) from marketable
securities 5,804 (13,288) 1,037 (2,375)
Adjustment of foreign currency fluctuations in
subsidiaries &5 (96) 15 (17)
Unrealized exchange rate gain / (loss) on
marketable securities {1,356) (3,115) (242) (557
Comprehensive income (76,720) (101,657) (13,714) (18,171)
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PRODUCT PIPELINE

Product Pre-clinical  Phase 11l Phase § Phasa Il Highlights 2006

HuMax-CDao™ ;_Chr-onlrc—b;vmr;arhcnc{lic-leuhﬁlla (tLU Presented positive duration of response data in Phase Y1
" . refractory CLL study.
NonHodgkin's ymphoma (RHL) Initiated pivotat studes in CLL and NHL.
" Rheumatald arthritis {RA) | Initiated Phase I) front line study In combination with
CLL front line ' fludarabine and cyclophasphamide.
Reported positive data ln Phase K1l study and completed

enrollmant in Phase il study For RA,

HuMax-CDy?® "Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL)
Nan-cutaneous T-cell ymphoma (NCTCL)

Presented positive preliminary resulis from pivotal Phase (1l
CTCL study

Announced ¢ncouraging preliminary results from ongoing
Phase Il NCTIL study.

Received Fast Track designation for refractory head and
neck cancer.

Initiated Phase I pivetal study for refractory head and
neck cancer.

Initiated Phase il frant line chamo-radiation combination
study in refractory head and neck cancer,

More effective against EGFr vanations than other treatments
in pre-clinical studies.,

HuMax-EGF™  Head and neck cancer

Head and neck cancer front line

ANG 714 :‘theurr-n:aﬁl& arthritis*
Psorilasis

Reported entouraging data from Phase Il BA study.
Initiated Phase | clinical testing with new formulation,

HuMax-Inflam™ Autolmrm'me 'diseaus

Riso7 Cancer Effective at stopping tumor growth in animal models.
5 -

HuMax-Hap(™  Hepatitis € reinfection

HuMax-CD38™  Multiple WQIuma First antibady known 1o block acto-enzymatic activity of (D38,

HuMax-TAC™ ; Reached first milestone In agresment with Merck Serona.

HuMaxZP3™ ' Cancar

Announced program for treatment of cancer.
Impressive anti-tumor effects in animal models,

t
a
i
.

*Further development of AMG 714 in RA is dependant upon results of a Phase | study

Genmab®; the Y-shaped Genmab logo®; HuMax®; HuMax-CD4®; HuMax-EGFr™; HuMax-Inflam™; HuMax-
CD20™: HuMax-TAC™; HuMax-HepC™, HuMax-CD38™, HuMax-ZP3™ and UniBody™ are all trademarks of
Genmab A/S; HuMAb-Mouse®, UltiMAD® and UltiMAb Human Antibody Development System® are trademarks
of Medarex, Inc.; TC Mouse™ is a trademark of Kirin Brewery Co., Ltd. Bexxar™, Arranon™ and Atriance™ are
alt rademarks of GlaxoSmithKline.

©2007, Genmab A/S. All rights reserved.

Genmab A/S Page 3 of 62 Release No. 5/2007



Preliminary Annual Report

2006

{February 13, 2007}

Letter from the Chief Executive
Officer

Dear Sharcholder,

2006 has been the most exciling year in Genmab's
history. Our key achievements in 2006 included ente-
ring a global co-development and commercialization
agreemment with GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) for HuMax-
CD20™ (ofatumumab), initiating three new pivotal
studies, reporting positive results in the HuMax-CD20
and HuMux-CD4® (zanolimumab) clinical develop-
ment programs, developing the UniBody™ technology
and completing a private placement of new shares. As
a result of this careful execution of our business
strategy, we saw a dramatic increase in Genmab's
stock price and marketl capitalization in 2006. Our
stock price increased 181% from DKK 135 (approx.
USD 24) on December 31, 2005 to DKK 380 (approx.
USD 67} a year later, Qur market capitalization also
significantly increased by 235% from DKK 4.5 billion
{approx. USD 795 million) to DKK 15.07 billion
(approx. USD 2.66 billion) in 2006.

Building for a Commercial Future

Genmab started three new pivotal Phase I clinical
studies in 2006: HuMax-CD20 for refractory chronic
lymphocytic leukemia {CLL) and rituximab refractory
follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL} and
HuMax-EGFr™ (zalutumumab) for refractory head
and neck cancer. We also
combination studies of HuMax-EGFr for head and
neck cancer and HuMax-CD20 for CLL. Starting front
line studies with these potential cancer products is a
new step for Genmab, one that may eventually open up

initiated front line

more opportunities for our products in the marketplace.
These pivotal and front line studies have the potential
to serve as stepping stones on Genmab's pathway
towards a commercial future.

We have also continued to make progress in our
ongoing development programs. We reported positive
resulis in three HuMax-CD20 swudies: Phase [/]]
rheumatoid arthritis (RA); interim Phase {1 RA; and
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Phase [/l CLL duration of response data. In the
HuMax-CD4 program with Merck Serono S.A. we
announced positive carly results in both the Phase 111
cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) and Phase II non-
cutaneous T-cell lymphoma studies. We received Fast
Track status from the US FDA for HuMax-EGFr in
refractory head and neck cancer and presented pre-
clinical data showing that HuMax-EGFr appears to be
more effective against variations of the EGF receptor
than other EGFr directed We also
announced that in pre-clinical studies HuMax-CD3§™
was the first antibody shown to inhibit the enzymatic
activity of the CD38 molecule,

treatments.

Genmab remains commitied 1o maintaining a broad and
diversified product pipeline. With a product portfolio
consisting of 38 potential products including 18 pre-
clinical programs and an additional 14 targets under
exploration, we are building for the possibility of
sustained growth in the future.

UniBody - The Next Step in Antibody Development
Genmab’s scientific team unveiled the innovative new
UniBody technology that has the potential to increase
the market for antibody therapeutics, UniBodies are
stable, smaller antibody formats which, based on pre-
clinical data, are expected to last longer in the human
body than current small antibody formats, lengthening
the window of opportunity for a treatment lo take
effect. We believe this technology has the petential to
expand the market for targeted therapeutics especially
in disease areas like cancer and inflammation where the
small size and special binding characteristics of
UniBedies may make them more cffective than
traditional antibody formats. Genmab is beginning to
develop antibody products the UniBody
technology and may consider out-licensing the
technology to other companies.

using

Release No. 5/2007



Preliminary Annual Report

2006

(February 13, 2007)

Building Value Through Strategic Alliances

At Genmab we seek to create as much value in our
company as possible through carefully selecting
discase targets, maintaining an extensive product
pipeline, balancing our parinering strategy to out-
license our products at various development points, and
thus diversify our risk and potential revenue stream.

Qur efforts to create value in Genmab throughout 2006
culminated with the signing of an agreement to co-
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20 with
GlaxoSmithKline {GSK)} in December. The total
potential value of this deal in the event of full
commetcial success in cancer and various autoimmune
and inflammatory diseases could exceed DKK 12
billien (approx. USD 2.1 bitlion). GSK will receive an
exclusive worldwide license 10 HuMax-CD20 and the
companies will co-develop HuMax-CD20. Genmab
will be responsible for development costs until 2008,
after which the costs will be shared equally between
the companies.

2006 Stock Performance Co;nparlson
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GSK will be solely responsible for manufacturing and
commercializing HuMax-CD20. Genmab will have an
option to co-promote HuMax-CD20 in a targeted
oncology setting in the US and the relevant countries in
the Nordic region. The agrecment has been subject to
review by the US Government under the Hart-Scou-
Roedino Act and became effective on February 5, 2007.

Our success in 2006 has helped pave the way for the
continued development of our product pipeline and
technology in 2007 as we move Genmab toward a
potential commercial future.

We believe that Genmab has the potential for a bright
future and hope to bring urgently needed new
treatments to patients who are waiting for them. Thank
you for your continued support.

Sincerely yours,

Lisa N. Drakeman, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Ganmab Market Capitalization (DKK billions)

15.07
4.50
117 2,98
L L l l T ]
2003 2004 2005 2006
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About Genmab

Genmab is an international biotechnology company
that creates and develops human antibodies for the
treatment of life-threatening and debilitating diseases.
Genmab is developing numerous products to treat
cancer, infectious disease, rheumatoid arthritis and
other inflammatory conditions. We continually seek to
expand our portfolio with new therapeutic products.
Genmab has established multiple partnerships with
other biotechnelogy and pharmaceutical companies to
gain access to disease targets, develop novel human
antibodies and advance our products toward the
market.

Genmab’s strategy is to maximize the value of our
business by creating value in our products. We have
developed a broad product pipeline, giving us
numerous opportunities to succeed. We intend 10
maintain this robust pipeline through a combination of
in-house clinical development and out-licensing of
both early and late stage programs. To move our
product pipeline forward efficiently and effectively. we
assembled human  antibody
technologies, expansive development capabilities and
an experienced and knowledgeable international staff,
83% of whom work in research and development.

have advanced

Genmab has reported consolidated revenues of DKK
136 million in 2006, an operating loss of DKK 472
million and a net less of DKK 438 million. Following
the completion of the private placement in January
2006, resulting in net proceeds of approximately DKK
800 million, the company ended 2006 with a final total
of DKK 1724 billion in cash and marketable
securities.

2006 Overview co v
During the course of 2006, Genmab released positive
data for the HuMax-CD20™ (ofatumumab), HuMax-
CD4® (zanolimumab) and AMG 714
development programs and positive pre-clinical data
for HuMax-EGFr™ (zalutumumab), HuMax-CD38™

clinical
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and R1507. Several new clinical trials also began this
year, including three pivotal studics and two front line
studies. HuMax-EGFr for refractory head and neck
cancer, HuMax-CD20 refractory
lymphocytic leukemia {CLL) and rituximab refractory
follicular non-Hoedgkin’s lymphoma (NHL) all entered
Phase 11l pivotal studies. Front line combination
studies of HuMax-EGFr for head and neck cancer and
HuMax-CD20 for CLL were also started. Furthermore,
HuMax-EGFr received Fast Track Status from the US
Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

for chronic

In addition, we made advances in our pre-clinical
development programs. We reached the first milestone
in the HuMax-TAC™ agreement with Merck Serono
S.A. (formerly Serono S.A.). We expanded our pre-
clinical portfolio by licensing a series of angiogenesis
targets from Bionomics and certain rights to the MIF
receptor from Cytokine PharmaSciences. We also
announced a new pre-clinical development program,
HuMax-ZP3™, We have filed a number of new patent
applications and have actively prosecuted our pending
patent families, partly through 12 and 30 month
continuations.

Genmab held a successful Research, Development and
Business Update in October 2006, at which we
announced [uture clinical development plans, gave
details on our pre-clinical pipeline and announced
UniBody™, a new propriety technology that creates a
stable smaller antibody format.

We entered an agreement with GlaxoSmithKline to co-
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20, currently in
Phase 11 development for NHL and CLL and Phase 11
for RA.

Over the course of the year, Genmab participated in 29
scientific conferences and 21 investor confergnces as
well as a significant number of analyst, media and
investor meetings.
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2006 Highlights

Partnership progress

% Signed agreement with GlaxoSmithKline for co-
development and commercialization of HuMax-
CD20 (ofatumumab)

Commenced three new pivotal studies
% HuMax-CD20 Phase 111 study for follicular NHL

< HuMax-CD20 Phase 1l study for refractory B-cell
CLL

+  HuMax-EGFr (zalutumumab) Phase [Il study for
head and neck cancer considered incurable with
standard treatment

Presented positive clinical trial results
< HuMax-CD20 Phase [/11 RA data
« Interim HuMax-CD20 Phase Il RA data

%  Additional HuMax-CD20 Phase I/l CLL efficacy
and duration of response data

% Early HuMax-CD4 (zanolimumab) CTCL pivetal
study resulis

% Preliminary HuMax-CD4 Phase [l NCTCL results
Advanced clinical programs

<  HuMax-EGFr awarded Fast Track Status from US
Food and Drug Administration

% Initiasted Phase VI study of HuMax-EGFr in
combination with chemo-radiation as front line
treatment of head and neck cancer

< Initiated Phase I/l front line study of HuMax-
CD20 in combination with fludarabine and
cyclophosphamide for CLL

Genmab A/S
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Advanced pre-clinical pipeline

< HuMax-CD38 shown to be first antibody known to
block the ecto-gnzymatic activity of CD38 in pre-
clinical studies

% Announced HuMax-ZP3 cancer program

% Acquired exclusive worldwide rights to develop
therapeutics based on angiogenesis targets
identified by Bionomics

% Licensed certain rights to MIF receptor target from
Cytokine PharmaSciences

Unveiled the UniBedy platform, a proprietary new

technology

Completed private placement of 5,750,000 new
shares at DKK 147 per share
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Outlock

During 2007, we will continte to advance the
development of our clinical and pre-clinical product
pipeline, We will analyze opportunities to strengthen
existing relationships with our key partners and also
consider possible new collaborations with other
pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies to either
out-license our existing development programs or
access new targets, technology or products.

We expect 1o expand development in 2007 in our
clinical and pre-clinical programs. We will also
continue to pay development costs for the ongoeing
clinical studies in HuMax-CD20 and HuMax-EGFr.
Finally, we expect to maintain approximately the same
leve! of discovery and pre-clinical work in 2007 as we
did during 2006, developing antibodies for a variety of
new and existing disease targets.

As costs will increase for these expanded clinical
development activitics, Genmab’s operating expenses
are expected to be higher in 2007 than in 2006. In
combination with increasing revenues in 2007, we are
projecting an operating loss of DKK 385 to 435 million
compared to the DKK 472 million reported for 2006.
Under the conditions described above, the net loss for
2007 is expected to be in the range of DKK 260 to 310
million compared to the net loss of DKK 438 million
reported for 2006. C

As of December 31, 2006, the company’s cash, cash
equivalents and short term marketable securitics
equaled DKK 1.724 billion. The company’s projected
December 31, 2007 cash position is expected to be in
the range of DKK 3.834 to 3.914 billion.

The above estimates are subject to possible change
primarily due 1o the timing and variation of milestone
income, clinical activitics, related costs and fluctuating
exchange rates. The estimates also assume that no
further agreements are entered into during 2007 that
could materially affect the results.

Genmab A/S
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Product Pipeline

Genmab’s strategy is to maintain an extensive pipeline
of human antibedy products in a variety of disease
indications to balance the risk inherent in drug
development and maximize our chances for success.
Qur scientific teams continuously  investigate
promising new disease targets for potential addition to
our growing pipeline. Our portfolio currently consists
of 38 potential products, including 18 pre-clinical
programs and an additional 4 targets under
exploration. We are conducting four Phase [il pivotal
trials for three products, with another three products in
Phase V11 or 1l trials. An overview of the development
status of each of our clinical products is provided in the
following sections. More detailed descriptions of
dosing, efficacy and safety data from centain clinical
trials have been published in our stock exchange
releases to the Copenhagen Stock Exchange part of the
Nordic Exchange, which are available on the Genmab

website, www.genmab.com.

HuMax-CD20 (ofatumumab)

HuMax-CD20 is a human, high-affinity antibody in
Phase 111 development for CLL and follicular NHL and
in Phase [I for RA. The CD20 antigen, a clinically
validated target, is a protein found in the cell
membrane of pre-B and mature B lymphocytes, a
subset of the immune system’s white blood cells. In
certain types of cancers, these cells can over-proliferate
and treatment is needed to reduce their number.
Because of the critical role of B-cells in autoimmune
disorders, CD20 is also belicved to be an attractive
target for treating other diseases, such as RA. In
laboratory tests and animal studies, HuMax-CD20 has
been shown to deplete B-cells effectively and bind to a
unique site on the CD20 target when compared to other
known CD20 antibodies.

At the December 2006 American Society of

Hematology Meeting, Genmab announced additional
positive results from the HuMax-CD20 Phase I/11 study
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to treat patients with relapsed or refractory CLL. An
objective response rate of 50% was observed in
patients treated at the highest dose level (2000 mg),
including one nodular partial
confirmed by CT scan and one patient who qualified as
nPR but had residval lymphadenopathy revealed by
CT. The data included one more responder than
previously reported. The median time to disease
progression in all patients was approximately 16
In patients responding to HuMax-CD20
treatment, the median time to disease progression
increased to 23 weeks. The median time to next anti-
CLL treatment was 52 weeks. The survival endpoints
correlated statistically to the patients’ total exposure to

remission (nPR)

weeks,

HuMax-CD20 over time and to clearance of the
antibody.

A Phase 111 pivotal study to treat approximately 100
CLL paticnts who have failed treatment with
fludarabine and alemtuzumab or who have failed
fludarabine and are intolerant to or ineligible for
alemtuzumab was initiated in May 2006. HuMax-
CD2¢ has a Fast Track designation from the FDA for
this indication. Additionally, Genmab initiated a Phase
il front line study of HuMax-CD20 in combination
with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide (FC)- to treat
CLL in previously untreated patients -in December
2006. A total of 56 patients will be enrolled in the
study.

A HuMax-CD20 Phase Il pivotal study to treat
patients with rituximab refractory follicular NHL was
initiated in July 2006. Positive results from a previous
Phase I/I1 study in relapsed or refractory follicular
NHL showed obiective responses of up to 63%
according to the Cheson Criteria. The responses
included five complete responses,
responses unconfirmed and nine partial responses. The
median duration of response and median time to
disease progression in responding patients had not been
reached after 12 months of follow up.

two complete
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Genmab is also conducting clinical trials with HuMax-
CD20 to treat RA. [n March 2006, Genmab announced
positive data from the Phase I/Il dose escalation study
to treat active RA. In patients who received two doses
of HuMax-CD20, 73% obtained a 20% improvement
of the American College of Rheumatology response
(ACR20), 38% obtained ACRS0 and 15% obtained
ACR70. On an intent to treat basis, which included six
patients who did not receive both doses of HuMax-
CD20, 63% obtained ACR20. For comparison, none of
the 7 patients receiving placebo obtained ACR20.

Enrollment of 226 RA patients in the ongeing Phase i1
study was completed in September 2006, Interim data
from the first 100 patients in the study indicated that a
statistically significant proportion of patients on active
treatment  with  HuMax-CD20 obtained ACR20
compared to placebo. Ful! results from the Phase II
study are expected in 2007 and planning for a Phase [l
pivotal study in RA is underway.

HuMax-EGFr (zalutumumab)

HuMax-EGFr is a high-affinity human antibedy that
targets the Epidermal Growth Factor receplor (EGFr), a
molecule found in abundance on the surface of many
cancer cells, and is a clinically validated target. In
January 2006, HuMax-EGFr received & Fast Track
designation from the FDA covering patients with head
and neck cancer who have previously failed standard
therapies. Genmab initiated two studies with HuMax-
EGFr in 2006: a pivotal Phase III study to treat 273
patients with refractory head and neck cancer and a 36
patient Phase 11l study of HuMax-EGFr in
combination with chemo-radiation as front
treatment of advanced head and neck cancer.

line

Clinical data reported in 2005 showed encouraging
efficacy from a Phase /11 study in refractory head and
neck cancer with 9 out of 11 patients in the two highest
dose groups obtaining partial metabolic response or
stable metabolic disease when evaluated by FDG-PET
scan,
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At our Research, Development and Business Update in
October 2006, we presented new HuMax-EGFr pre-
clinical data. Results showed broad killing activity as
HuMax-EGFr appears to be more effective against
variations of the EGF receptor than other EGFr
directed treatments.

HuMax-CD4 (zanolimumab)

HuMax-CD4 is a human antibody cumrently in Phase
Il development for the treatment of CTCL and in
Phase II development for NCTCL. CTCL is a life
threatening condition in the advanced stages, and is a
highly symptomatic, disfiguring chronic disease.
Currently available treatments for T-cell lymphoma
patients can have an unfavorable side effect profile and
are not panticularly effective. Based on this unmet
medical need, we oblained from the FDA a Fast Track
designation for HuMax-CD4 covering patients with
CTCL who have failed currently available therapy and
a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) agreement for the
pivotal trial of HuMax-CD4 in patients with CTCL.
HuMax-CD4 has also been granted Orphan Drug status
in the US and EU for the treatment of Mycosis
Fungoides (MF), the most common form of CTCL.

In December 2006, Genmab announced positive
preliminary results from the two ongoing HuMax-CD4
trials. In the first part of the pivotal Phase II1 study of
HuMax-CD4 in CTCL, clinical response was shown in
42% (5/12) of patients in the two highest dose groups.
A partial response was obtained by 16%:(1/6) of
patients in the 8 mg/kg dose group and 67%!(4/6) of
patients in the 14 mg/kg dose group. No responses
were observed in the 4 mg/kg dose group and this dose
level is not being used in the second part of the
ongoing study.

Preliminary results from the ongoing Phase 1T trial to
treat NCTCL showed that 28.5% (4/14) of patients had
objective responses. Plans to treat NCTCL paticnts
with HuMax-CD4 in combination with chemotherapy
are underway.
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Genmab licensed worldwide rights to develop and
commercialize HuMax-CD4 to Merck Scrono 5.A., an
international biotechnolegy company hecadquartered in
in  August 2003,
responsible for all future activities and costs for
HuMax-CD4 and Genmab is conducting the ongoing
Phase 111 CTCL and Phase 1! NCTCL studies at Merck
Serono’s expense.

Switzerland, Merck Sercno s

AMG 714

AMG 714 is a human monoclonal antibody that binds
Interlevkin-15  (IL-15), a cytoking molecule
appearing early in the cascade of events that ultimately
leads to inflammatory disease. The 1L-15 blockade has
potential utility in a wide variety of inflammatory
diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis,
inflammatery bowel disease, lupus and multiple
sclerosis, among others.

to

Data from the Phase 1l study to treat patients with
active RA who had previously failed treatment with at
least one disease modifying anti-theumatic drug
{DMARD) was presented in May and June 2006, At
week 14, more patients receiving 280 mg of HuMax-
IL135, the predecessor to AMG 714, achieved ACR20
compared with those receiving placebo (54% vs. 38%,
not significant). Twenty-nine percent of patients
achieved ACRS50 versus 21% on placebo and 14%
achieved ACR70 versus 12% on placebo. Although the
primary cfficacy endpoint of the study was not met, the
overall clinical results suggest efficacy of HuMax-IL15
in the treatment of DMARD-refractory RA.

HuMax-IL15 was originally created by Genmab under
our collaboration with Amgen. Amgen exercised its
commercial option to lcense HuMax-IL1S and
reformulated the molecule, now AMG 714 in a more
commercially productive The new
formulation entered Phase 1 clinical testing in 2006,
Amgen is now responsible for all further development
of the antibody.

cell line,

Release No. 5/2007



Preliminary Annuat Repont

2006

(February 13, 2007)

Directors’ Report

HuMax-Inflam

HuMax-Inflam™ is a high-affinity human antibody in
clinical development for the treatment of inflammatory
conditions, A Phase I/I1 clinical trial has produced
positive safety and efficacy data. We believe HuMax-
Inflam may be a candidate for orphan drug status.
Genmab is developing HuMax-Inflam in collaboration
with Medarex.

R1507

R1507 (formerly called Roche 1} is a fully human
antibody created by Genmab under collaboration with
Roche and is currently in Phase [ clinical trials. This
antibody targets the Insulin-like Growth Factor-1
Receptor (IGF-1R) which has been shown to be
important in tumor growth and protecting tumor cells
from being killed. IGF-IR is over-expressed on a
variety of tumors including breast, colon, prostate,
lung, skin and pancreatic cancers and is a well
validated target for an antibody therapeutic approach,
In pre-clinical studies, R1507 was shown to block
binding of IGF-1 and IGF-2 and to potently inhibil
IGF-1R signaling. in addition, R1507 was found to
effectively stop tumor cell growth in animal models.

Pre-clinical Programs

Genmab has an additional 18 programs in pre-clinical
development. Qur active programs are targeted lowards
cancer, inflammation, allergies and cardiovascular and
infectious diseases. We retain this array of products
and indications in keeping with our business strategy of
maintaining a diverse pipeline of potential products to
increase our chances for future commercial success.
We continually work to create new antibodies to a
variety of targets for a number of discasc indications.
We also cvaluate discase targets identified by other
companies for potential additicn to our pipeline.

In December 2006, we announced a new candidate for
clinical development, HuMax-ZP3, HuMax-ZP3 is a
fully human antibody selected from a pane! of over 70
antibodies and was chosen for its tumor fighting

Genmab A/S
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properties. HuMax-ZP3 targets ZP3, a protein that is
overexpressed on colen, pancreatic and prostate
cancers but is not expressed in critical organs such as
the brain, heart, liver and lungs. The antibody binds
effectively to tumor cells expressing the ZP3 protein
and potently exhibits the Antibody-Dependent Cellular
Cytotoxicity (ADCC) and Complement Dependent
(CDC) system  kitling

against

Cylotoxicity immune

mechanisms ZP3-expressing tumor cells.
Furthermore. pre-clinical data from in vive solid tumor
models in SCID mice {mice with deficient immune
systems) shows impressive anti-tumor effects induced
by HuMax-ZP3, HuMax-ZP3 is undergoing further

pre-clinical testing.

HuMax-CD38 is a fully human antibody in pre-clinical
development that targets the CD38 molecule which is
highly expressed on the surface of multiple myeloma
wmor cells, In pre-clinical data presented in June 2006,
HuMax-CD38 was shown to inhibit the enzymatic
activity of the CD38 molecule. HuMax-CD38 is the
first antibody known to block the ecto-enzymatic
activity of CD38. This special property may contribute
to the effectiveness of HuMax-CD38 in killing both
primary multiple myeloma and plasma cell leukemin
cells.

In December 2006, we announced that Roche named
the disease areas for the antibody programs developed
in collaboration with Genmab. These
inflammation, oncology, respiratory and vascular
diseases. The antibodies are primarily at the pre-
clinical stage with R1507 in Phase 1 development, The
development of one of the programs is carried out in
collaboration with-one of the world’s largest biotech
companies, Genentech, where Roche owns a majority
stake.

include

In February 2006, Genmab delivered a HuMax-TAC
cell line 1o Merck Serono, marking the first milestone
in the companies’ development and commercialization
agreement. The cell line could be used to manufacture
HuMax-TAC for This

clinical trials. milestone
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triggered a payment to Genmab of USD 1 million,
HuMax-TAC is a fully human antibody that may have
in the treatment of T-cell
mediated diseases, such as autoimmune, inflammatory

therapeutic  potential

and hyperproliferative skin disorders, as well as
transplant rejection and is currently in pre-clinical
trials.

During 2006, Genmab expanded our pre-clinical
pipeline with the acquisition of certain rights to the
MIF receptor target from Cytokine PharmaSciences
and eight angiogenesis 1argets identified by Bionomics
Limited. Qur scientific team continues to evaluate
targets such as these for polential addition to our

pipeline.

Partnerships
In support of our sirategy to build a broad portfolio of
products and facilitate their potential

commercialization, Genmab has established a number
of  collaborations  with  pharmaceutical
biotechnology companies. Through these partnerships,
major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
gain access to our antibody development capabilities
while helping us bring our products closer to the
market. Genmab has also formed a number of

and

partnerships to gain access lo promising disease targets
that may be suitable for additional antibody products.
We have key collaborations with GlaxoSmithKline,
of the leading
pharmaceutical and healthcare companies; Roche, a
major healthcare group headquartered in Switzerland;
Merck Serono S.A., a global biotechnology c¢ompany
also headquartcred in Switzerland; and US-based
Amgen, a leading biotechnology company.

one world's research-based

In December 2006, we granted exclusive worldwide
rights to develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20 to
GlaxoSmithKline (GSK). GSK and Genmab will co-
develop HuMax-CD20, and the parties will share
development costs from 2008 and GSK will be
responsible
commercialization expenses. Under the terms of the

for commercial manufacturing and

Genmab A/S

Page 12 of 62

agreement, we will receive a license fee of DKK 582
million (approximately USD 102 million at the date of
the agreement), and GSK will invest DKK 2,033
million {approximately USD 357 million at the date of
the agreement) to acquire the 4,471,202 offer shares
pursuant to the private placement. We may also receive
potential milestone payments and the total of these
payments and the initial license fee and equity
investment  could DKK 9.0 billion
(approximately USD 1.6 billion at the date of the
agreement), GlaxoSmithKline has alse committed to
and

exceed

development,  commercial  manufacturing
commercialization costs. in addition, Genmab will be
entitled to receive tiered double digit royalties on
global sales of HuMax-CD20. As part of the agreement
Genmab will have an option to co-promote, in 2
targeted oncology setting, HuMax-CD20, Bexxar™
and Arranon™ in the US and HuMax-CD20 and
Atriance™ in the Nordic region. GlaxoSmithKline will
also have an option for a CD20 UniBody. The
agrcement has been subject to review by the US
Government under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act and
became effective on February 5, 2007 after clearing

review,

Under our agreement with Roche, we have utilized our
broad antibody expertise and development capabilities
to create human antibedies to a wide range of discase
targets identified by Roche. Genmab will receive
milestone and royalty payments based on successful
products. Under certain circumstances, Genmab may
obtain rights to develop products bascd on disease
targets identified by Roche. If all goals are reached the
value of the collaboration to Genmab could be USD
100 million, plus royaltics. At the exchange rate
prevailing at the end of 2006, this equals approximately
DKK 566 million, plus royalties. One of the antibodies
developed under this collaboration is in Phase 1
development, pre-clinical
development.

while others are in

Release No. 5/2007




+

Preliminary Annual Report

(February 13, 2007)

Directors’ Report

Genmab signed license agreements with Merck Serono
for the exclusive development and commercialization
of HuMax-CD4 and HuMax-TAC in 2005. Under the
terms of the HuMax-CD4 agreement, Genmab received
a license fee of USD 20 million, and Merck Serono
made a USD 50 million investment in Genmab
common stock, at a premium to the market price.
Genmab may receive up to USD 215 million in total
payments, including the initial license fee and equity
investment. Genmab will also be entitled to receive
royalties on global sales of HuMax-CD4. Merck
Serono is respensible for all future activities and costs
for HuMax-CD4, and Genmab is conducting the
ongoing Phase Il CTCL and the Phase. 1l NCTCL
studies at Merck Serono’s expense.

Under the HuMax-TAC agreement with Merck Serono,
Genmab received an upfront payment of USD 2
millien, and we are entitled to potential milestone
payments of up to USD 38 million and royalties on
sales from any eventual commercialization of the
product. Genmab received a USD 1 million milestone
payment in 2006 for delivering a HuMax-TAC cell line
to Merck Serono, who is responsible for all future
development costs for HuMax-TAC.

Genmab has previously created antibodies for Amgen
under a licensing agreement for its IL-15 reccptor
program and for another undisclosed target, as well as
for the IL-15 program. Genmab had taken the AMG
714 antibody against IL-15 into Phase I} for treatment
of RA. Under the terms of the agreement with Amgen,
if products to all three targets are successfully
commercialized, and certain sales levels are achieved,
Genmab will be entitled to receive up to USD 135.5
million (approximately DKK 767 million based on the
exchange rate prevailing at the end of 2006) in license
fees and milestone payments, plus royalties on
commercial sales, Amgen is responsible for all future
development of these antibodies.
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Antibody Technology, Streamlined
Development and Intellectual Property
Globally, antibodies are proven candidates for
therapeutic  products. Currently, 20 monoclonal
antibody products from other companies are approved
for use in the United States and scveral are also in use
throughout Europe. To create our therapeutic products,
Genmab uses transgenic mice to produce novel
antibodies that are fully human. Some of our HuMax
antibodies have been shown to be 100 to 1,000 times
better at finding and binding to their disease target than
earlier generations of murine or laboratory-engineered
antibodies which are not fully human. In addition, we
believe that fully human antibody therapies may have
other advantages over older generation products such
as a mere favorable safety profile and improved
treatment regimens. Genmab has licensed the rights to
use the UIIMAD® transgenic mouse technology
platform from the US biotechnology company
Medarex, Inc.

We combine this technology with our own intellectual
property and in-house expertise to produce and
evaluate new antibodies as product candidates. Once a
pancl of antibodies for a new discasc target has been
generated, we subject the antibodies to extensive and
rigorous testing, employing our wide array of
laboratory tests and animal disease models. Our goal is
10 use these broad pre-clinical capabilities to identify
the clinical candidate with the best possible
characteristics for treating a particular disease and to
move forward as quickly and efficiently as possible.
Our research and development teams have established
a streamlined process to coordinate the activities of
product discovery; manufacturing, pre-clinical testing,
clinical trial design, data management and regulatory
submissions across the company’s international
operations.

In addition, Genmab recently developed UniBody, a
new proprietary antibody technelogy that creates a
stable, smaller antibody format with an anticipated
longer therapeutic window than current small antibody

Release No. 5/2007



Preliminary Annual Report

2006

(February 13, 2007)

Directors’ Report

formats, based on pre-clinical studies to date. A
UniBody is about half the size of a regular type of inert
antibody called IgG4. This small size can be a great
benefit when treating some forms of cancer, allowing
for better distribution of the molecule over larger solid
tumors and potentially increasing efficacy. UniBodies
are cleared from the body at a similar rate to whole
IgG4 antibodies and are able to bind as well as whole
antibodies
antibodies which primarily work by killing targeted
cells, UniBodies only inhibit or silence cells. This
could be an advantage therapeutically when treating,

and antibody fragments. Unlike other

for example, allergies or asthma, when killing cells is
not the objective. The UniBody binds to only one site
on target cells and does not stimulate cancer cells to
grow like normal antibodies might, opening the door
for treatment of some types of cancer which ordinary
antibodies cannot treat,

Genmab believes its UniBody technology has the
potential to targeted
therapeutics, in particular for some cancer and

expand the market for
autoimmune discases, We intend to use the UniBody
technology to develop our own antibody products,
work with partners who have accéss to ‘targets for
which this technology may be beneficial and may out-

license the technology to other companies.

Proprietary protection for our products, processes and
know-how is important to our business. Currently, we
own and license patents, patent applications and other
proprietary rights relating to our human antibody
technology and our antibody products against CD4,
EGFr, IL-15, CD20, TAC, Hepatitis C virus, CD38, the
Ganymed  target targets
Europroteome, including ZP3 and/er uses of these
products in the treatment of diseases. In addition, under
the terms of our Technology Agreement with Medarex,

and acquired  from

we have rights to file patent applications for future
antibody preducts developed using cur human antibody
technology. Our policy is to file patent applications to
protect technology, inventions and improvements
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relating that we consider
important to the development of our business.

to antibody products

Human Resources

One of Genmab's greatest assets is our people. Skill,
knowledge, experience and employee motivation are
essential to Genmab as a fast paced high technology
company. The ability to organize our highly skilled and
very experienced employees into interactive functional
teams, however, is the key factor in achieving
the high goals we establish to cnsure Genmab’s
continuing growth. Throughout our four international
locations, Genmab emphasizes an open and supportive
professional work environment. During 2006, the
nuember of Genmab employees increased from 215 to
248. Qur workforce is concentrated in research and
development, At the end of 2006, 206 people, or 83%
of our employees, were employed in research and
development activities compared to 180 or 84% at the

end of 2005.

The technical demands of biotechnology require a high
employee education level. At the end of 2006, 52
employeces, or 21%, hold a Ph.D. or a doctoral degree,
including 3 who hold both an M.D. and a Ph.D. In
addition, 65 employees, or 26%, hold Masters’ degrees.
In total, at the end of 2006, 47% of employees hold
advanced degrees.

Educational Level

[ Doctoral
Master
O Other

Genmab’s tcam is also wvery experienced in the
biotechnology
particularly among the more senior personnel. On

pharmaccutical ~ and industry,

average, employees at the manager level and above
each have nearly 17 years of experience.
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Experience in the Pharmaceutical/Biotech
Industry

m <l years

O 1-5 years
D 5-10 years
D 10-15 years

@ > 15 years

To further attract and retain our highly skilled
offer competitive
packages including a warrant program, under which

workforce, we remuneration
warrants are granted to all employees. Please refer to
Notes 3 and 14 of the financial statements for further

details on the remuneration and warrant programs.

Financial Development

The statements have been prepared in
accordance with the provisions of the I[ntemational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS} as endorsed by
the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements
for annual reports of listed companies. For the
convenience of the reader, in the accompanying notes,
a reconciliation has been provided between the
reporied net result under the IFRS and the
correspending net result under US Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (US GAAP).

financial

New Accounting Policies

Effective from January 1, 2006, the Group has adopted
the new and amended standards issued by the
Accounting  Standards Board with
effective dates as of January 1, 2006. The adoption of
these new and amended standards has not affected the
financial reporting of the Group or the parent company
for any periods presented. Please refer to Note 1 to the

International

financial statements for a description of our accounting
policies.

Result for the Year

The Group's operating loss for 2006 was DKK 472
million and the net loss was DKK 438 million. This
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compates to the 2005 operating loss and net loss of
DKK 428 million and DKK 394 million, respectively.
Revenues increased significantly from DKK 99 million
in 2005 to DKK 136 million in 2006. The increase in
revenues is primarily attributable to proportionate
recognition of the income from Serono, to be
recognized over the expected period of completion of
the ongoing studies with HuMax-CD4.

2006 was the third year in a row where Genmab’s cash
position increased over the year. During 2006,
Genmab's cash position increased by DKK 471
million, primarily due to the private placement
completed in January 2006, raising gross proceeds to
the company of DKK 845 million.

The net loss for 2006 was in line with management’s
expectations for the year, and in accordance with the
lower end of the guidance previously announced.

Revenues

During 2006, Genmab recognized total revenues of
DKK 136 million compared to revenucs of DKK 99
million in 2005. The revenues in 2006 primarily arise
from the HuMax-CD4 agreement with Seronc and
services provided under our other collaboration
agreements. The payment received from Serono in
2005 for pgranting the rights to develop and
commercialize HuMax-CD4 included an upfront
license fee and a premium lo the equity investment
made in Genmab by Secrono. Because of the close
connection between the initial pavment and the
premium  on sha‘rc's purchased by Serono, these
amounts were jointly processed. A part of the license
fee and the premium on the equity invesiment was
recognized as deferred income to be recognized as
revenues over the period where Genmab will conduct
clinical trials with HuMax-CD4 on behalf of Serone. In
2005, Genmab recognized revenues from this
agreement totalling DKK 27 millien, and DKK 142
million was deferred. During 2006, an additional DKK
71 million was recognized as revenues,
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As revenues comprise milestone payments and other
income from research and development agreements,
recognition of revenues may vary from period to
period.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs increased by DKK 71
million, or 16%, from DKK 442 million in 2005 to
DKK 513 million for the year ended December 31,
2006. The increase is primarily attributable to the costs
of increasing clinical and manufacturing activilies in
connection with the advancement of our pipeline of
clinical product candidates through the development
process.

R&D Share of Operating Costs

84%
82%
80%
78%
T6%

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
DKK 10 million, or 12%, from DKK 85 millien in
2005 10 DKK 95 million for the year ended December
31, 2006. The general and administrative expenses
have increased as a natural consequence of the growth
in the organization and the increasing development
activities, In line with the advancement of broducts
through the pipeline and the increasing pre-clinical and
clinical activities, the need for administrative support
also increases. On an overall basis, general and
administrative expenses account for 15.6% of our total
costs of operations compared te 16.1% in 2003.

Financial Items

Financial income increased by DKK 18 million, from
DKK 80 million in 2005 to DKK 98 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006. The income is
primarily derived from our investments in marketable
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securities, which have generated significant income,
primarily in the second hatf of 2006. In addition, our
average cash position has been higher in 2006
compared 1o 2005, primarily following from the private
placement completed in January 2006, raising gross
proceeds 10 the company of DKK 845 million.

Financial expenses of DKK 64 million are significantly
higher than the 45 million reported for 2005. The
financial expenses are affected by increasing interest
rates, primarily in the first half year of 2006, causing
the market value of our portfolios to decrease and a
continued weakening of the USD towards the DKK,
resulting in significant exchange rate losses on the
USD portion of our investments,

Our USD position is a natural hedge to our USD
denominated expenses and, accordingly, the recognized
losses on the USD portion of our investment portfolio
are offset by decreased operating expenses when
converted to DKK in 2006. Had the USD remained
constant against the DKK throughout 2006, net
financial income would have been approximately DKK
11 million higher.

Genmab has a cash position of DKK 1.724 billion,
primarily invested in marketable securities, and
accordingly we are sensitive to changes in interest rates
and valuation of marketable securities. Qur financial
reporting is affected by fluctuating exchange rates, and
during 2006, the USD decreased by [0% against the
DKK. from 6.3241 DKK/USD at the end of 2005 to
5.6614 DKK/AUSD at the end of 2006, For comparison,
during 2005, the USD increased by 16% against the
DKK. Please refer to the section on financial risks for
further details on the financial risk factors affecting the
comparny.

Cash Flow

On December 31, 2006, cash, cash equivalents and
short-term marketable securities equalled DKK 1.724
billion compared to DKK 1.253 billion on December
31, 2005.
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During 2006, the company’s cash flow to operating
activities was DKK 380 million compared to DKK 209
million in 2005. In 2005, the cash flow from operating
activities was significantly influenced by the payments
received from the HuMax-CD4 agreement, which
contributed to the operating cash flow by DKK 169
million,

The net cash flow from financing activities was DKK
879 million in 2006 compared 1o DKK 297 in 2005.
This reflects primarily the net cash inflow from the
international private placement in szuai'y 2006 of
approximately DKK 800 million and the exercise of
warrants of approximately DKK 90 million.

Currencies

The company’s financial statements are published in
Danish Kroner (DKK). Solely for the convenience of
the the financial
conversion of certain DKK amounts into US Dollars
(USD) at a specified rate. These converted amounts are

reader, stalements contain  a
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unaudited and should not be construed as
representations that the DKK amounts actually
represent such USD amounts or could be converted
into USD at the rate indicated or at any other rate.

Unless otherwise indicated, conversion herein of
financial information into USD has been made using
the Danish Central Bank closing spot rate on December
31, 2006, which was USD 1.00 = DKK 5.6614.

Consolidated Key Figures

The following key figures and financial ratios have
been prepared on a consolidated basis and include five
years of operation. The financial ratios have been
calculated in accordance with the recommendations of
the Association of Danish Financial Analysts. Key
figures comply with the requirements under the Danish
Financial reporting requircments and the [FRS. All key
figures and financial ratios are in conformity with the
current accounting policies.
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2006 2006 2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2002
DKK'000 USD'0c0 DKK'000 USD'000 DKK'000 USD'000 DEK'000 USD'o00 DKK'000 USD'o00
{Unaudited) (Unaudited) {Unaudited) {Unaudited) {Unaudited)

Income Statement
Revenues 135,547 23942 93,505 17,399 4,101 724 68,326 12,069 . -
Research and development
costs (5§3,065)  (90,625) (441 689)  (78.018) (378,537 (66,863} (347,085) (61,307} (196,234) (69,989)
General and administeative
expenses {94,696) (16,727) (84,740) (14,968) (75.053) (13,257 {64,650) {11,419} {86,847) {15.340)
Operating loss (472.214) (83,410} (427.924) (75,587) (449.489) (79,395} {343,409) (60,658} (525.988) (92,908)
Net financial income 31,978 6,001 34334 6,064 26,061 4603 15,029 2,655 46,985 8,199
Net Joss (438,236) (77,409} (393.,590)  (69,523) (423.428) (74,792)  {328.314) (57,992} (479.329) (84,666)
Balan¢e Shect
Cash and marketable
secyrnitics 1,724,313 304,577 1,252,902 221,306 1,153,428 204619 1,035,716 182,954 1,368,735 241,766
Totl assets 1,804,629 318,761 1,370,431 242,066 1,271,908 224,663 1,180,108 208,448 1,583,126 219,657
Shareholders equity 1,607,582 283955 1,118,770 197,614 1,180,986 208,603 1,086,434 191,902 1,399,169 247,142
Share capinal 39,643 7,003 3,108 5,848 29,752 5,253 22,981 4,059 22N7 4,013
Investments in tangible
fixed assets 5343 945 §223 1,452 23,049 4,071 21,722 3,837 111,038 19,613
Cash Flow Statemend
Cash flow from operating
activities (379,623)  (67,054) (208,644)  (36,854) (367.984) {64,999) (302,364) (53,408) (J0B,316) (54459}
Cash Now frem investing
activities (451,373) (79,728) {127,547) {22,530} {25.065) (4,427 361,905 63,925 238,552 42,137
Cash flow from financing
activities 879,03 155,268 297,357 52,523 503,413 §8.920 3,571} {6311) 156,849 27,705
Cash and cash equivalents 429,075 75,790 1813406 67,359 419,566 74,110 303,916 54,565 252,946 44,679
Financial Ration
Basic and diluted net loss
per share (11.26) (1.99} (12.59) (2.22) (16 00y {2.83) (14,38 (2.54) (2).46) (3.79)
Year-end share markest price 330 00 67.12 13589 24.00 99.57 17.59 50.66 895 2433 4.30
Price / book value 9137 9.37 402 4.02 2.51 251 1.07 1.07 040 0.40
Sharcholders' equity per
share 40.54 716 3 597 39.69 1.0 47.28 835 61.59 10.68
Average number of
employees 237 237 213 213 206 206 199 1599 157 157
Number of employees st
year-end 248 243 215 215 209 209 20 20t 192 192

Subsequent events

On January 31, 2007, Genmab announced that elfective
immediately, Irwin Lemer resigned from Genmab's
Board of Directors in the light of his recently ¢xpanded
responsibilities as Interim President and Chief
Executive Officer of Medarex, Inc.

On February 5, 2007, Genmab announced that the
worldwide agreement with GlaxoSmithKline to co-
develop and commercialize HuMax-CD20 had
received antitrust clearance from the Federal Trade
Commission and the Antitrust Division of the
Department of Justice under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Act, and thereby became effective. The investment in
shares will be recognized in sharcholders' equity based
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on the markel value on the date of the agreement. Due
to the close connection between the initial license fee
of DKK 582 million and the DKK 504 million
premium to the market value on shares subscribed by
GSK, these amounts will be jointly processed and
recognized as revenues on a straight-line basis over a
five-year peried.

No other significant events have occurred since the

batance sheet date which could significantly affect the
financial statements as of December 31, 2006.
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Corporate Governance

During 2006, Genmab has continued the work of
improving our guidelines and policies for corporate
governance besed on the most recent trends in
international and  domestic  requirements  and
recommendations. Genmab’s commitment to corporate
governance is rooted in the aim of generating value for
the Company, and it forms a key element in our efforts
to strengthen the confidence that existing and luture
shareholders, partners and employees have in the
Company. The role of the shareholders and their
interaction with the Company is considered important
to Genmab. Genmab acknowledges that an open
communication is necessary to maintain the confidence
of our shareholders and we seek to maintain such open
communication through stock exchange releases,
investor meetings and company presentatiens. We are
to provide reliable transparent
information about the business, development and
results in an open and timely manner. As part of these
initiatives, Genmab’s website contains information
about the Company, our products in development,

news releases and events with participation of Genmab.

committed and

As the majority of the company’s stakeholders have an
international background we believe that it is sufficient
that the main content on the website is preseated in
English only. All corporate documents and stock
exchange releases are, however, available in both
Danish and English. ’

Effective for financial years beginning on or after
January 1, 2006, Danish companies listed on the
Copenhagen Stock Exchange shall disclose in their
annual reports how they address the Recommendations
for Corporate Governance published by the
Copenhagen Stock Exchange Committee on Corporate
Governance (the “Recommendations™). The companies
shall adopt the “comply-or-explain™ principle with
respect to the Recommendations. Genmab complies
with the majority of the Recommendations, although
specific sub-areas have been identified, where the
company's corporate governance principles differ from

the Recommendations. We believe adaptation of
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certain elements within the Recommendations to the
company’s specific circumstances and international
operations is beneficial to the Company and its
shareholders. Areas of non-compliance with the
Recommendations are explained in these sections and
Unless specifically
with the

in previous Annual Reports,

addressed, Genmab complies

Recommendations.

The Board of Directors plays an important role to
Genmab, being actively involved in determining the
strategics and goals for the Company and by
monitoring the operations and results on an ¢ngoing
basis. As part of these functions, the Board of Directors
assesses the company’s capital and share structure and
is responsible for share issues and grant of warrants.
Relevant knowledge and professional experience are
key parameters when nominating Board members, The
majority of Genmab's elected Board members are
considered independent of the Company, and we
believe no member has relations or interests that may
be contrary to the company’s businesses or may
conflict with the duty as a Board member. Adequate
procedures have been established to avoid conflicts of
interests in the Board members’ professional duties
including conducting executive sessions.

The Recommendations prescribe that Board members
be up for election every year, but Genmab has designed
three-year election periods 1o balance continuity and
stability on the Board. The Board of Directors performs
regular assessments of its own performance, of the
Management and of the collaboration between the
parties to identify any areas in potential need of
improvement. The collaberation is based on a natural
element of control, but it is also characterized by
interaction and teamwork for the purpose of developing
the Company. To an innovative company as Genmab,
it is especially important for the Board of Directors 1o
liaise actively with the Management in a respectful and
trusting manner. During 2006, the Board of Directors
held 15 scheduled meetings, in addition to the more
informal ongeing communication among the Board
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members and with the Management.

The Copenhagen Stock Exchange Committce on
Corporate that Board
members hold a limited number of directorships in
companies outside the Group. Genmab considers it
appropriate for the individual members of the Board to
determine the reasonable number of directorships held
outside Genmab.

Governance  recommends

To support the Board of Directors in its duties, three
committees have been established. These are the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee, the
Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee,
Written  charters  specifying  the and
responsibilities have been adepted for each of these
Committees. Each Commitice held 2-5 meetings
during the financial year 2006. Please refer to the
section *Board of Directors™ in the Annual Report to

tasks

see the members of the individual committees.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
monitors the work of the Board of Directors and the
established Committees, including regular reviews of
the size, cemposition and performance. The tasks
include evaluation of the individual Board members
and recommendation to the Board with respect to re-
nomination of existing Directors and identification of
new candidates to serve on the Board. Although the
Recommendations prescribe recruitment criteria for
new DBoard members are discussed with the
shareholders, the Board’s professional experience and
the use of external advisors is gencrally believed to
ensure that the recruitment criteria are adequate and
that the best suited candidates are identified. Similarly,
it is recommended thai remuneration of the Board of
Directors be presented for adoption at the general
meeting. The remuneration of Genmab's Board of
Directors is determined with basis in markeét levels
based on benchmark analyses and is not presented for
adoption at the general meeting. The Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee also oversees the
standards for independence ‘of Directors. Further, this
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oversees the company's corporate
governance functions and work with the Management

Committee

to menitor important corporate governance issues and

trends in corporate governance practices and

recommendations.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities by monitoring the system of internal
control and the financial reporting process and by
examining the Interim and Annual Reports prior to
adoption by the Board and release to the Copenhagen
Stock Exchange. The Audit Commitlee also reviews
the company’s accounting policies and evaluates
significant accounting and reporting issues. The Audit
Committee pre-approves the fees, terms and other
conditions of engagements with the independent
auditors and monitors  the process, The
independent auditors report directly to the Audit
Committee with respect to audit findings and other

audit

recommendations, including issues regarding the
accounting policies and financial reporting process.
Audit findings and the
independent auditors are reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the company’s CFO to ensure that any

issues are properly addressed, and all material items

recommendations from

and conclusions are made available to the Board of
Directors.

Fhe role of the Compensation Committee is 1o advise
the Board on the adoption of policies that govern the
company’s compensation programs, including warrant
and benefit plans. The Committee supports the Board
in setling goals and objectives for the Management,
evaluating performance and deciding on the annual
compensation. The Compensation Committee monitors
the trends within management compensation plans to
ensure that the company’s exccutive compensation
programs are able to attract, retain and motivate the
Executive Managers and align Lhe interests of key
leadership with the long-term interest of the company’s
The Copenhagen
Committee on Corporate Governance recommends

shareholders. Stock Exchange

disclosure of remuneration of the individual members
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of the Board of Directors and the Management.
Genmab considers its members of Management as a
tcam providing the skills and competences needed to
develop the Company for the benefit of the
shareholders. Accordingly, Genmab believes that
remuneration of the management team preferably
should be considered on an aggregated level and that
disclosure of remuneration of individuals would not
additional company relevant
information. The company’s Board of Dircctors is

necessarily provide

composed as considered necessary by the Nominating
Committee and the
members are remunerated at market levels. As with the
Management team, remuncration of the Board of
Directors is not disclosed at a disaggregated level.
Total remuneration of the Board of Directors is
disclosed in Note 3 to the Financial Stalements,
According to the Recommendations, the Board of
Directors and the Execulive Management shall
preferably not be remunerated through share option
{warrant) schemes, and if so, such schemes shall be set
up as roll-over schemes with a redemption price higher
than the market price at the time of allocation. Within

and Corporate Governance

the biotech sector, it is customary to grant warrants to
the members of the Board and the Management,
Genmab has adopted a remuneration system that we
believe is most efficient to attract and rctain’ suitably
qualified people to the Board and the Management.
The Board members and the Management participate in
the company's warrant scheme, under which warrants
are granted at market price on the day of grant and the
warrants vest over a period of 4 years.

Risk Management

Genmab performs global rescarch and development
activities with offices located in four countries and
clinical trials conducted in almost a dozen different
countries. Through our activities, we are exposed to
various risks, which may have significant impact on
our business if not properly assessed and controlled.
with
adequate procedures for identification and assessment
of risks and adhering to operational policies designed

Maintaining a strong control environment
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to reduce such risks to an acceptable level is essential
for the continued development of the company. It is
our policy to identify and reduce the risks derived from
our operations and to establish insurance coverage 1o
hedge any residual risk, wherever considered efficient.
We are exposed 1o a number of specific risk areas such
development, financial  and
environmental risks. Below is a summary of some of
Genmab’s key risk areas and how we address such
risks.

as commercial,

Development Risk

The creation and development of therapeutic products
within the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry
is subject to considerable risks. Since everything is not
known about the nature of disease or the way new
potential therapeutic products can affect the discase
process, a significant number of products do not
successfully reach the marketplace in this industry.
Genmab has established various committees o ensure
the optimal selection of disease targets and antibody
product candidates and to monitor the progress of all
projects, The commitieces combine knowledge and
competences of key employees across the organization
with the primary focus of optimizing the development
of our projects by closely monitoring and assessing
data and other information.

Any product undergoing pre-clinical or clinical
development is subject to an inherent development
risk, which includes factors such as timeliness and
quality of clinical supplies and the availability of
suitable patients to be enrolled in the clinical trials.
Further, the outcome of pre-clinical as well as clinical
studies is never certain, and the subsequent ability to
obtain regulatory approval of the products is not
guaranteed. Genmab secks to minimize such risk by
developing a broad portfolio of products, including a
number of products against validated targets, thus
the opportunities for success
diversifying the development risk.

increasing and
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Commercial Risk

Genmab is subject 10 commercial risk factors of a
diverse nature, including, among others, market size
and competition for our products in development, the
ability to attract the interest of potential partners and
investors, development of our
development programs, and patent protection. We
attempt these by
continually monitoring and evaluating current market

time and cost

to  control commercial risks
conditions and patent positions. Over the recent years,
we have sirengthened our efforts in this area by
establishing in-house competencies within sales and
marketing and by allocating more resources to the
analyses of market potential for our products in

development.

We have u flexible commercialization strategy, and
seek partners for some products, and might develop a
sales and marketing force in selected territories for
others. As part of our commercialization strategy, we
established a partnership with Serono for our first
product candidate, HuMax-CD4 and entered a co-
development and collaboration with
GlaxoSmithKline on HuMax-CD20, where we have an

option to co-premote the product in a targeted

agrcemcm

oncology setting in the US and in the Nordic region.
We acknowledge that the successful marketing of some
of our potential product candidates might be beyond
the capabilities of all but the largest pharmaceutical
companies. For this reason, we consider licensing to
major pharmaceutical companies individual products
that may serve very large markets or those that may be
widely distributed geographically, if the products are
approved by the FDA, European, or other regulatory
agencies. .

Financial Risk

Currency Lxposure

As Genmab incurs income and expenses in a number of
different currencies, the company is subject to a
currency risk, Increases or decreases in the exchange
rate of such foreign currencies against our functional
currency, the DKK, can affect the company’s results
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and cash position negatively or positively. The most
significant cash flows of the company are, in quantity
wise descending order, DKK, EUR, USD and GBP.

Genmab maintains cash positions in all these major
currencies, and we also keep certain amounts invested
in USD in order to maintain a natural hedge of future
expenses in USD for a period of up to 12-18 months.
As per end of 2006, approximately 7% of our
UsD-
denominated securities. This position exposes Genmab
to a risk of foreign currency fluctuation in the short
term. No financial instruments, such as options or
futures contracts, have been entered into to reduce the
exposure to short-lerm changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, as the open position will be offset by
planned expenses to be incurred in USD. Based upon
the amount of assets and liabilities denominated in
USD as of December 31, 2006, a 10% change in the
USD to DKK exchange rate will impact our net
financial items by approximately DKK 12 million.
Accordingly, significant changes in exchange rates
could cause our operating loss and net financial income

marketable  securities was  invested in

to fluctuate significantly.

For EUR and GBP, our risk position, defined as the
expected cash flow multiplied by the expected
exchange rate volatility against the DKK is considered
immaterial, and no hedging activities in the form of
financial instruments or similar have been put in place.

Interest Rate Risk

Genmab's exposure lo interest rate risk is primarily
ascribable to the positions of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities, as we do not have significant
interest bearing debts. The primary objective of
Genmab’s investment activities is to preserve capital
while at the same time maximizing the income derived
from security investments without significantly
increasing risk. Currently, a portfolio of cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities is maintained by
investing primarily in DKK-denominated notes issued

by the Danish government as well as USD-denominated
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notes issued by the US government, mortgage bonds and
corporate bonds, Some of the securities in which the
company has invested bear interest rate risk, as a change
in market derived interest rates may cause fluctuations in
the fair value of the investments, In accordance with the
objective of the investment activities the portfolio of
securities is monitored on a total return basis.

To minimize the interest rale risk, the company
maintains an investment portfolio in a variety of
Our
investment policy for invesiments in marketable

securities with a relatively short duration.

securities only allows investments in cenain low-risk
securities with an effective average duration of less
than three years, Due to the short-term nature of the
current investments, we consider our current exposure
to changes in fair value due to interest rate changes to
be insignificant compared to the fair value of the
portfolio.

Environmental Risk

Our in-house research activities are carried out from
our state-of-the-art laboratory facilities in Utrecht,
which are designed to reduce any environmental
impact. Nevertheless, Genmab is aware of the
company’s potential environmental impact and we
have implemented policies for the handling of waste
materials from our laboratory facilities in accordance
with regulatory requirements. As Genmab's activities
have a very limited impact on the environment, we
have chosen not to issuc separate environmental
reports.

Ownership and Shareholder Information

On December 31, 2006, the share capital of Genmab
AJS comprised 39,648,355 shares of DKK 1 each. All
shares have the same rights. The number of registcred
sharcholders totalled 13,002 shareholders holding a
total of 36,140,440 shares, which represented 91% of

v
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the share capital. Genmab is listed at the Copenhagen
Stock Exchange under the symbol GEN,

In 2006, Genmab A/S completed an international
private placement of 5,750,000 new shares at a price of
DKK 147.00 per share.

Also, 790,257 new shares were subscribed at a price of
DKK 33.70 to 190.00 per share by the exercise of a
total of 790,257 employee warrants,

The costs incurred in connection with the capital
increases in 2006 amounted to approximately DKK
46.9 million and were primarily incurred in connection
with the international private placement.

As of today, the following shareholders are listed in the
register of shareholders as the owners of a minimum
5% of the votes or a minimum 5% of the share capital:

» GenPharm International, Inc., 2350 Qume Drive,
San Jose, CA 95131, USA (16.7 %)

¢ Glaxe Group Limited, Glaxo Wellcome House,
Berkley Avenue, Greenford, Middlesex, UB6
ONN, United Kingdom (10.1%}

Distribution of Year’s Result
It is proposed that the year’s loss of DKK 438 million
be carried forward by transfer to accumulated deficit.

Approval of the Annual Report for 2006
Management and the Board of Directors have, as of
today, reviewed and approved the Annual Repont for
the Group and the parent company Genmab A/S for
2006.

The Annual General Meeting will be held on April 19,

2007 at 2 PM CEST at the Radisson SAS Royal Hotel,
Hammerichsgade 1, 1611 Copenhagen, Denmark.
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Income Statement

Revenues

Research and development costs
General and administrative
expenses

Operating loss

Financial income
Financial expenses

Loss before tax
Corporate tax

Net loss

Preliminary Annual Report

2006

{February 13, 2007)

Basic and diluted net loss per share

(in DKK/USD)

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares outstanding during

the period - basic and diluted

The Board of Directors proposes the net loss be carried

forward 10 next year.

Genmab A/S

Genmab Group Genmab Group Parent Company
Note 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
DKK'000 DKK'000 UsSD'ooo UsD'eo0 DKK'000 DKK'000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
135,547 98,505 23,942 17,399 135,432 98,505
2,3 (513,065) (441,689 (90,625) (78,018} (519,693 (443,852)
2,3 (94.696) (84,740) (16,727) (14,968) (86,602) (77,521)
(472,214 (427,924} (83,410) (75,587 (470,863) (422,868)
4 98,231 79,647 17,350 14,068 99,985 81,214
5 (64,253} (45,313} (11,349) (8,004) {64,029) (44,904)
(438,236) (393,590) (77,409} (69,523) (434,907) (386,558)
6 . - . . -
(438,236) (393,590) (77,409) (69,523) (434,907) {386,558)
{11.26) {12.5%) (1.99) (2.22) (LI (1237
38,926,758 31,254,973 38,926,758 31,254,973 38,926,758 31,254,973
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Balance Sheet — Assets

L.easehold improvements
Equipment, furniture and fixtures
Fixed assets under construction

Tetal tangible fixed assets

Equity interests in subsidiaries
Other securities and equity interests

Total financial fixed assets
Total non-current assets
Receivables from subsidiaries
Other receivables
Prepayments

Total receivables
Marketable securities

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Genmab A/S
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Genmab Group

Genmab Group

Parent Company

December 31, December 31, December 31,  December 31, December 31, December 31,
Note 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
DKK'000 DKK'00¢ Uspooo usp'eoo DKK'000 DKK'000
{Unaudited) (Unaudited)
8 3,094 8,365 547 1,478 1,053 3,492
8 28,170 27,595 4,976 4,874 2,691 3,371
8 - 8,233 - 1,454 - -
31,264 44,193 8,523 7,806 3,744 6,863
9 - - - - 23,355 22,245
10 2453 3,066 433 542 2,453 3,066
2,453 3,066 433 542 25,808 25,311
33,717 47,259 5,956 8,348 29,552 32,174
- . B - 18,206 23,441
11 40,968 54,213 7,236 9,576 33,993 46,516
5611 16,057 992 2,836 1,526 12,192
46,579 70,270 8,228 12,412 53,725 82,149
12 1,295,258 871,556 228,787 153,947 1,295,258 871,556
17 429,078 381,346 75,790 67,359 422,100 371,465
1,770,912 1,323,172 312,805 233,718 1,771,083 1,325,170
1,804,629 1,370,431 318,761 242,066 1,800,635 1,357,344
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Balance Sheet — Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities

Genmab Group Genmab Group Parent Company
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Note 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
DKK'000 DKK'000 UsD'o00 UsD'000 DKK'000 DKK'000

(Unaudited) {Unaudited)

Share capital 39,648 33,108 7,003 5,848 39,648 33,108
Share premium 3,776,893 2,894,992 667,131 511,356 3,776,893 2,894,992
Reserve for share-based payment 72,454 33,254 12,798 5,874 72,454 33,254
Translation reserves 4,433 5,026 783 388 - -
Accumulated deficit (2,285.846)  (1,847,610) {403,760) (326,352) (2,266,019)  (1,831,112)
Shareholders' eguity 1,607,582 1,118,770 181,955 197,614 1,622,976 1,130,242
Lease liability 8,17 11,251 14,485 1,988 2,559 11,251 14,485
Total non-current liabilities 11,251 14,485 1,988 2,559 11,251 14,485
Current portion of lease liability 8,17 6,955 8,551 1,228 1,510 6,955 5.856
Payable 1o subsidiaries - - - - 6,095 2,658
Accounts payable 47,352 14,494 8,364 2,560 44,902 11,747
Deferred income 13 71,177 148,527 12,572 26,235 71,177 148,527
Other liabilities 60,312 65,604 10,654 11,588 37,279 43,829
Total current liabilities 185,796 237,176 32,818 41,893 166,408 212,617
Total liabilities 197,047 251,661 J4 806 44,452 177,659 227,102

Total shareholders' equity and

liabilities 1,804,629 1370,431 318,761 242,066 1,800,635 1,357,344
Warrants 14
Internal sharcholders 15
Related party disclosures 16
Commitments 17
Contingent assets and contingent

liabilities 18
Fees to auditors appointed at the

Annua] General Meeting 19
Reconciliation from IFRS 10 US

GAAP 20
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Genmab Group Genmab Group Parent Compony
Note 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
DKK'000 DKK'000 UsD'000 USD'000 DKK'000 DKK'000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Net loss (438,236) (393,550) (77,409} (69,523) (434,907) (386,558)
Reversal of financial items, net {33,978} (34,334) (6,001} (6,064} {35,956) 36,310y
Adjustments for non-cash transactions'

Depaeciation and amortization 17,500 31,775 1081 5613 3,834 17,086

Net gain on sale of equipment (335) {31) (5% {5) (336} {65)

Warrant compensation expenses 19,200 23,839 6,524 4211 28,844 16,523
Changes in curren! assets and liabilitics:

Other receivables 18,716 (29.531) 3,306 {5.216) 17923 {29,522}

Prepayments 10,427 (6,443) 1,842 {1,138) 10,666 (5,584)

Deferred income (77.350) 148,527 {13,663) 26,235 {77,350} 148,527

Accounts payable and other liabihtics 29,386 14,938 5,192 2,638 26,633 19,477
Cash flow frem operating activities before
financial items {434,670) (244,852) (16,777) (43,250) (460,649) (256,026)
Financial receivables 55,047 36,208 9,723 6,396 56,176 37,349
Corporate taxes paid - - - - . -
Cash Now from cperating activities {379,623) (208,644} {67,054} {36,854) (404,473) {218,67T)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1.939) (2,434) {342) (430) (1,001) {1,400)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 621 1,242 109 219 620 961
Sate of other securities and equity interests 2,796 . 494 - 2,756 -
Receivables from subsidiarics - . - - 21,817 8,052
Nan-current receivables - 6,057 - 1,070 B 6,057
Marketable securities bought (2,448,512) (1,072,535) (432,492) (189,447) (2,448,512) {1,072,535)
Marketable securities sold 1,993,661 940,123 152,503 166,058 1,995,661 940,123
Cash flow from investing activities {451,373} (127,547) (79,728) {22,530) (426,619) (118,742)
Warrants exercised 90,065 47,210 15,909 8339 50,065 47,210
Shares issued for cash 845,250 258,800 149,101 45713 845,250 258 800
Costs related to issuance of shares (46,874} 1,027 (8,280) 181 {46,874) 1,027
Paid installments on lease liabilities (2,408) (9,680} {1,662) (£710) (6,714) 16,871}
Cash Now from finnncing sctitivies 879,033 297357 155,268 52,513 581,727 300,166
Ingrease in cash and cash equivaleats 48,037 {38,334) 8,486 {6,861) 50,635 (31.253)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the period 181,346 419,560 67,359 74,010 171,465 408,718
Exchange rate adjustment of cash {308} 614 (55) 110 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period 429,078 381346 75,790 67,159 422,100 371,465
Cash and cash equivaleats include:
Bank deposits and petty cash 426,021 360,281 75,251 63,638 422,100 353,455
Restricted bank deposits 17 3,054 21,065 539 3721 - 18,010

429,078 381 346 75,790 67,159 422,100 371,465

Non-cash transactions:

Assets acquired 4,579 3,628 809 64) 4,579 3,628

Liabilities assumed {4,579) {1,628) {80%) {641) {4579} (3.628)

Genmab A/S
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity — Consolidated

December 31, 2004
Comprehensive incoms:

Adjustment of foreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiaries

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income

Exercise of warrants
Capital increase

Expenses related to capital increases,
refund of VAT on expenses and foreign

currency fluctuations related to share issues

Warrant compensation expenses
December 31, 2005
Comprehensive income:

Adjustment of [oreign currency
fluctuations on subsidiaries

Loss for the peried

Total comprehensive income

Exercise of warrants
Capital increase
Expenses related to capital increases

Warrant compensatich expenses

December 31, 2006

Genmab A/S

Reserve for
Number of Share Share share-based Translation Accumulated Sharehotders’ Sharcholders'
shares capital premium payment TeSErves deficit cquity equity
DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000  DKK'000 DKK'000 DKK'000 LSD'000

(Unaudited)

29,752,363 19,752 2,591,311 9,415 4,528 {1,454,020) 1,180,986 108,603
498 498 88
(393,590) (393,590} {69,522)
(393,092} (69,434)

857,228 857 46,353 47,210 8339
2,498,507 2,499 253 854 256,353 457281
3474 3474 614

23,839 23,839 4,211

33,108,098 33,108 2,894,992 33,254 5,026 (1,847,610) 1,118,770 197,614
(593) (593) (105)
(438,236) (438,236 (77,4093
(438,829) (77.514)

790,257 790 89,275 90,065 15,909
5,750,000 5,750 839,500 845,250 149,301
(46,874) (46,874) (8.280)

39,200 39,200 6,924

39,648,355 39,648 3,776,893 71454 4,433 (2,285,846) 1.607,582 283,955
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity — Parent Company

December 31, 2004
Comprehensive income:

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income
Exercise of warrants
Capital increase

Expenses related to capital increases, refund of VAT
on expenses and foreign currency fluctuations related
to share issues

Warrant compensation expenses
December 31, 2005

Comprehensive income:
Loss for the period

Tatal comprehensive income

Exercise of warrants
Capilal increase
Expenses related to capital increases

Warrant compensation eXpenses

December 33, 2006

Genmab A/S

Reserve for

Nuritber of Share Share share-based Transtation Accumulated Sharcholders'  Sharchelders'

shares capital premium payment reserves deficit equity cquity

DKK'000 DKK000 DKK'000 DKK000  DKK'00Q DKK'000 usD'o0g
(Unaudited)
29,752,363 29,752 1,591,311 9,418 - (1,444,554) 1,155,924 209,475
{385,558) (386,558) {68,280)
(386,558) (68,280)
857,228 857 46,353 47,210 8,339
2,498,507 1,499 253,854 256,353 45,281
3474 3,474 614
23,539 23,839 4,211
33,108,098 33,108 2,894,992 33,154 - (1,831,112) 1,130,242 199,640
(434,907 (434,907) {76,820}
(434,907) (76,820)
790,257 790 89,275 90,065 15,909
5,750,000 3,750 839,500 845,250 149,301
(46,874) (46,874) {8.280)
39,200 39,200 6,924
39,648,355 39,648 3,776,893 72,454 - (2,266,019) 1,622,976 286,674
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

Number of Share Share
shares capital capital
DKK'000 USD'000
(Unaudited)
December 31, 2001 21,812,020 21,812 3,852
January 2002, Exercise of warrants 14,500 15 3
February 2002, Exercise of warrants 10,000 10
June 2002, Issuance of shares for cash 880,100 380 155
December 31, 2002 22,716,620 22,717 4,012
July 2003, [ssuance of shares by debt conversion 246,914 247 44
August 2003, Exercise of warrants 15,000 15 3
Qctober 2003, Exercise of warrants 2,000 2 1
December 31, 2003 22,980,534 22,981 4,060
February 2004, Exercise of warrants 253,599 253 45
March 2004, Exercise of warrants 44,000 44 8
April 2004, Exercise of warranis 12,750 13 2
May 2004, Exercise of warrants 463,124 463 82
June 2004, Exercise of warrants 77,125 ) 14
July 2004, Issuance of shares for cash 5,623,000 5,623 993
July 2004, Exercise of warrants 290,826 291 51
November 2004, Exercise of warrants 7,405 7 I
December 31, 2004 29,752,363 29,752 5,256
February 2005, Exetcise of warmants 273,491 274 43
March 2005, Exercise of warrants 29.550 30 5
May 2005, Exercise of warrants 274,412 274 48
June 20035, Exercise of warrants 211,400 211 37
August 2005, Exercise of warrants 21,850 22 ]
August 2005, Issuance of shares for cash 2,498,507 2,499 442
November 2005, Exercise of warrants 32,375 32 6
December 2005, Exercise of warranis 14,150 14 2
December 31, 2005 33,108,098 33,108 5,848
Janwvary 2006, Issuance of shares for cash 5,750,000 5,750 1,016
March 2006, Exercise of warrants 338,667 339 60
May 2006, Exercise of warrants 227,648 227 40
July 2006, Exercise of warrants 45,874 46 B
September 2006, Exercise of warrants 99,587 99 17
November 2006, Exercise of warrants 77,981 T8 14
December 2006, Exercise of warrants 500 1 0
December 31, 2006 39,648,355 39,648 7,003
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Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

The parent company was formed in June 1998 but did
not conduct any business until 1999,

In February 1999, Medarex and Bankforeningernes
Erhvervsudviklingsforening Biomedicinsk Udvikling,
Bf Asset Management Fondsmaglerselskab A/S,
Lonmodtagemes Dyrtidsfond, A/S Dansk
Erhvervsinvestering and Leif Helth Care A/S (the
“Bank Invest Group™) entered into an agreement in
which the Bank Invest Group invested cash and
Medarex granted licenses in exchange for equity
interests in the company. In May 1999 and March
2000, Medarex and the Bank Invest Group made
additional contributions to the company in proportion
1o their existing equity interests.

In June 2000, Genmab completed a private offering
with issuance of 576,646 new shares, raising
approximaiely DKK 321 million from Medarex, the
Bank Invest Group and new investors. In August 2000,
a total of 27,976 new shares were issued to Medarex
under the Genomics Agreement. In August 2000,
Genmab’s sharcholders approved a conversion of all
existing classes of shares to one class of ordinary
shares and a bonus share issuance of nine ordinary
shares for each ordinary share.

In October 2000, Genmab completed an Initial Public
Offering. The global offering of 6,000,000 new shares
equaled approximately 28% of the company’s issued
share capital after the listing.

Genmab A/S
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In May 2002, Genmab cntered into a collaboration
agreement with Roche, Following this agreement,
Roche subscribed 1o 880,100 shares in the company in
June 2002,

in July 2003, Genmab issued 246,914 ordinary shares
to Medarex, pursuant to the Genomics Agreement.

In July 2004, Genmab completed an international
private placement with issuance of 5,623,000 new
ordinary shares, raising gross proceeds to the company
of DKK 478 million,

In August 2005, Genmab entered into a license and
collaboration agreement with Serono concurrently with
a securities purchase agreement, under which Serono
subscribed to 2,498,507 new shares in the company.

In January 2006, Genmab completed an international
private placement with issuance of 5,750,000 new
ordinary shares, raising gross proceeds to the company
of DKK 845 million,

On December 31, 2006, the total number of

outstanding shares was 39,648,355, Each share has a
nominal value of DKK 1 and one vote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and endorsed by the EU,
effective for 2006, and additional Danish disclosure
requirements for annual repons of listed companies,
including those issued by the Copenhagen Stock
Exchange. The financtal statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, and
financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or
loss.

The financial statements have been prepared in Danish
Kroner (DKK), which is the functional and
presentation currency of the parent company.

Solely for convenience of the reader, the financial
statements contain a conversion of certain DKK
amounts into US Dollars (USD) at a specified rate.
This conversion has been made at the exchange rate in
effect at the balance sheet date. These convered
amounts should not be construed as representations that
the DKK amounts actually represent such USD
amounts or could be converted into USD at the rate
indicated or at any other rate. Only the consolidated
financial statements have bgen converted to USD.
Accordingly, financial statements for the parent
company are disclesed only in DKK, except for certain
disclosures in the notes.

In the notes to the financial statements, a reconciliation
has been provided of the reported net result under IFRS
to the corresponding net result under US GAAP.

New Accounting Policies

Effective from January 1, 2006, Genmab has adopted
the new and amended standards issued by the
Inernational  Accounting  Standards Board with

Genmab A/S
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effective dates as of January 1, 2006. These include the
amendment of 1AS 39, “The fair value option” under
which an entity cannot continue to classify financial
assets other than trade instruments as at fair value
through profit unless specified criteria are met. As
explained in the section “Marketable securities™ the
Group meets these criteria and consequently, the
amendment has not affected the financial reporting of
the Group. Other new and amended standards include
IFRS 6, “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources”, the amendments to tAS 19, “Employee
Benefits”, amendments to 1AS 21 "The effects of
changes in foreign exchange rates” and further
amendments 1o 1AS 39, “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”™. The adoption of these
new and amended standards has not affected the
financial reporting of the Group or the parent company
for any periods presented.

Management’s Judgments under IFRS

In preparing financial statements under IFRS, certain
provisions in the standards require management’s
judgments. Such judgments are considered important to
understand the accounting policies and the company’s
compliance with the standards. The following
summarizes the most significant judgments made under
the company’s accounting policies.

Internally Generated Intangible Assets

According to the Intemational Accounting Standard
{1AS) 38, “Intangible Assets”, intangible assets arising
from development projects should be recognized in the
balance sheet. The criteria that must be met for
capitalization are {1) the development project is clearly
defined and identifiable, (2) the technotogical
feasibility, adequate resources to complete and a
market for the product or an internal use of the product
can be documented, and (3) management has the intent
to produce and market the product or to use it
internally. Such an intangible asset should be
recognized if sufficient certainty can be documented
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting Policies (continued)

that the future income from the development project
will exceed the aggregate cost of production,
development and the sale and administration of the
product.

Receiving final regulatory approval for pharmaceutical
products is associated with significant development
risk. As a result, it is considered reasonable not to
recognize such internally generated assets until late in
the development process. Accordingly, the company
has not recognized such assets at this time.

Joint Yentures/Collaboration Agreements

The company has entered into various collaboration
agreements, primarily in connection with the
company’s research and development projects and the
clinical testing of the product candidates.
Collaborations are often structured so that each party
contributes its respective skills in the various phases of
the development project. No joint control exists for
such collaborations and the parties do not have any
financial obligations towards each other. Accordingly,
the collaborations are not considered to be joint
ventures as defined in 1AS 31, “Financial Reporting of
Interests in Joint Ventures”, Expenses in connection
with collaboration agreements are treated as described
under “Research and Development Costs.”
Revenue Recognition )

The company's revenues comprise milestone payments
and other income from rescarch and development
agreements. IAS 18, “Revenue”, prescribes the criteria
to be fulfilled for revenue being recognizable.
Evaluating the criteria for revenue recognition with
respect to the company’s research and development
and collaboration agreements requires management’s
judgment to ensure that all criteria have been fulfilled
prior to recognizing any amount of revenue. In
particular, such judgments ar¢ made with respect to
determination of the nature of transactions, whether
simultaneous transactions shall be considered
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one or more revenue-generating transactions, allocation
of the contractual price to several elements included in
an agreement, and the determination of whether the
significant risks and rewards have been transferred to
the buyer. All the company’s revenue-generaling
transactions, including those with Roche, Amgen and
Serono, have been subject to such evaluation by
management.

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include Genmab
A/S (the parent company) and subsidiaries in which the
parent company directly or indirectly exercises a
controlling interest through sharcholding or otherwise.
Accordingly. the consolidated financial statements
include Genmab A/S, Genmab B.V., Genmab, Inc., and
Genmab Ltd. (collectively referred to as the Genmab
Group).

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the basis of the financial statements
of the parent company and subsidiarics — prepared
under the Group’s accounting policies — by combining
similar accounting items on a line-by-line basis, On
consolidation, intercompany income and expenses,
intercompany receivables and payables, and unrealized
gains and losses on transactions between the
consolidated companies are eliminated.

The recorded value of the equily interests in the
consolidated subsidiaries is eliminated with the
proportionate share of the subsidiaries’ equity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when
control is transferred to the Group.

The income statements for foreign subsidiaries are
translated into the Group’s reporting currency at the
year's weighted average exchange rate and the balance
sheets are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the
balance sheet date. Exchange rate differences arising
from the translation of foreign subsidiaries
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shareholders’ equity at the beginning of the year, and
exchange rate differences arising as a result of foreign
subsidiaries’ income statements being translated at
average cxchange rates, are recorded in translation
reserves in shareholders’ equity.

Foreign Currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates in effect at the date of the transaction.

Exchange rate gains and losses arising between the
transaction date and the settlement date are recognized
in the income statement as financial itetmns.

Unsettled monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates in effect
al the balance sheet date. Exchange rate gains and
losses arising between the transaction date and the
balance sheet date are recognized in the income
statement as financial items.

Income Statement

Revenues

Revenues comprise milestone payments and other
income from research and development agreements.
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that future
cconomic benefits will flow to the Company and these
benefits can be measured reliably. Further, revenue
recognition requires that all significamt risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods or services included
in the transaction have been transferred to the buyer.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs primarily include
salary and related expenses, license  costs,
manufacturing costs, clinical costs, amortization of
licenses and rights, and depreciation of tangible fixed
assets, to the extent such costs are related to the
Group’s research and development activities.
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Research costs are recognized in the income statement
in the period to which they relate.

A development project involves a single product
candidate undergoing a high number of tests to
illustrate its safety profile and the effect on human
beings prior to obtaining the necessary approval of the
final product from the appropriate autharities. The
future economic benefits associated with the individual
development projects are dependent on obtaining such
approval, Considering the general risk related to the
development of pharmaceutical products, management
has concluded that the future economic benefits
associated with the individual projects cannot be
estimated with sufficient certainty until the project has
been finalized and the necessary approval of the final
product has been obtained. Accordingly, all
development costs are recognized in the income
statement in the period to which they relate.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses relate to the
administration of the Group, including depreciation of
long-lived assets to the extent such expenses are related
to the administrative functions. General and
administrative expenses are recognized in the income
statement in the period to which they relate.

Stock-Based Compensation

The company has granted warrants to employees, the
Board of Directors, and non-employce consultants
under various warrant programs. For warrants granted
after November 7, 2002, the Group applies IFRS 2,
according to which the fair value of the warrants at
grant date is recognized as an expense in the income
statement over the vesting period. A cormresponding
amount is recognized in a separate reserve under
shareholders’ equity. Warrants granted prior (o
November 7, 2002 are not comprised by [FRS 2. For
these warrants, the Company accounts for the
compensation by use of the intrinsic value method for
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employees and the Board of Directors and the fair
value method for non-employee consultants.

Financial Income and Expenses

Financial income and expenses include interest as well
as realized and unrealized exchange rate adjustments
and realized and unrealized gains and losses on
marketable securities and other securities and equity
interests.

Corporate Tax

Corporate t1ax expense, which consists of current tax
and the adjustment of deferred taxes for the year, is
recognized in the income statement to the extent that
the tax is attributable to the net result for the year, Tax
attributable to entries directly to shareholders’ equity is
recognized in sharcholders’ equity.

Current tax liabilities include taxes payable based on
the expected taxable income for the year and any
adjustments to prior years' tax expense as recorded in
the income statement. Any prepaid taxes are recognized
in other receivables in the balance sheet.

Balance Sheet
Non-Current Assets

Licenses and Rights

Licenses and rights are initially measured at cost and
include the net present value of any fulure payments.
The net present value of any future payments is
recognized as a liability.

Licenses and rights are amortized using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life of five years.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost net
of accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost comprises acquisition price and direct
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costs related to the acquisition until the asset is ready
for use.

Depreciation, which is stated at cost net of any residual
value, is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
expecled useful lives of the assets, which are as
follows:

Equipment, fumniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Leaseheld improvements 5 years

or the lease term, if shorter

Depreciation, impairment losses and gains or losses on
the disposal of tangible fixed assets are recognized in
the income statement as research and development
costs or as general and administrative expenses, as
appropriate.

Fixed Assets under Construction

Fixed assets under construction include the design and
building of laboratory facilities. The costs incurred are
capitalized until the facilities are completed. Costs
include direct costs o employees, salary related
expenses and costs to subcontractors. Fixed assets
under construction are not depreciated.

Equity Interests in Subsidiaries

[n the separate financial statements of the parent
company Genmab A/S, cquity interests in subsidiaries
are recognized and measured at cost. Equily interests in
foreign currencies are translated to the reporting
currency by use of historical exchange rates prevailing
at the time of investment,

Income is recognized from the investments only to the
extent that distributions from accumulated profits are
received. Distributions received in excess of such
profits are regarded as a recovery of investment and are
recognized as a reduction of the cost of the invesiment.
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Other Securities and Equity Interests

Other securities and equity interests, which have been
acquired for long-term strategic holding, include the
company’s ownership of listed and non-listed
companies. The financial assets have been classified as
*Available-for-sale™ as the company's management
intends to hold these investments for an indefinite
period of time. However, if the company’s business
strategy chanpes, the assets can be sold. The
company’s management assesses the classification of
financial fixed assets at the time of acquisition and
reviews such classification on a regular basis.

Other securities and equity interests are measured at
fair value at the balance sheet date. The fair value for
listed shares is the listed market price. If the fair value
cannot be reliably determined for interests in non-listed
companies. the asscts are measured at cost.” Realized
gains and losses are recognized in the income
statement as financial items, whereas unrealized gains
and losses are recognized in shareholders’ equity.
Transactions are recognized at trade date.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

If circumstances or changes in the company’s
operations indicate that the carrying amount of long-
lived assets may not be recoverable, management
reviews the asset for impairment. The basis for the
review is the assets’ recoverable amount, determined as
the greater of the net selling price or its value in use.
Value in use is calculated as the net present value of
future cash inflow generated from the asset.

If the carrying amount of an asset is greater than the
recoverable amount, the asset is written down to the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized
in the income statement when the impairment is
identified.
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Current Assets

Antibody Clinical Trial Material

Antibody clinical trial material includes antibodies
purchased from third parties. If all criteria for
recognition as an asset are fulfilled, in particular that
sufficient certainty can be determined that future
income from the use of such material will exceed the
aggregate cost of the antibodies, the antibodies are
recognized in the balance sheet at cost and expensed in
the income statement when consumed. [f sufficient
certainty cannot be obtained, such material is expensed
in the income statement at the time of acquisition.

On a regular basis, the carrying value of such assets is
reviewed to ensure thal no impairment has occurred
and that the gquantities do not exceed the planned
consumption in the development activities.

Receivables

Receivables are measured in the balance sheet at
amortized cost, which generally corresponds (o
nominal value less provision for bad debts.

The provision for bad debts is calculated on the basis
of an individual assessment of each receivable.

Prepayments

Prepayments recognized as current assets include
expenditures related to a future financial year.
Prepayments are measured at nominal value,

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of investments in
securities with a maturity greater than three months at
the time of purchase. The company invesis its cash in
deposits with major financial institutions, in mortgage
bonds, corporate bonds and notes issued by the Danish
or US government. The securities can be readily
purchased and sold using established markets. When
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sold, the cost of marketable securities is determined
based on the “first-in first-out” principle.

The company’s portfolio of investments has been
classified as “Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” as the portfolio is managed and
evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the
company’s investment guidelines,

Marketable securities are measured at fair value, which
equals the listed price. Realized and unrealized gains
and losses (including unrealized foreign exchange rate
gains and losses) are recognized in the income
statement as financial items. Transactions are
recognized at trade date.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank
deposits and marketable securities with a maturity of
three months or less on the date of acquisition, Cash
and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Shareholders’ Equity

The share capital comprises the nominal amount of the
company’s ordinary shares, each al a nominal* vatue of
DKK 1. All shares are fully paid.

Share premium reserve comprises the amount received,
attributable to shareholders® equity, in excess of the
nominal amount of the shares issued at the company’s
offerings, reduced by external expenses directly
atiributable to the offerings.

Reserve for share-based payment includes the
corresponding figures to the warrant compensation
expenses recognized in the income stalement under
IFRS 2.

Translation reserves in the consolidated financial
statements include exchange rate adjusiments of equity
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investments in subsidiaries. Translation reserves cannot
be used for distribution.

Non-current Liabilities

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has an
existing legal or constructive obligation as a result of
events occurring prior to or on the balance sheet date,
and it is probable that the utilization of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are measured at fair value.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is accounted for under the liability method
which requires recognition of deferred tax on all
temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities and the tax base of such assets and
liabilities, This includes the tax value of tax losses
carried forward.

Deferred tax is calculated in accordance with the tax
regulations and current tax rates in the individual
countries. Changes in deferred tax as a result of
changes in tax rates are recognized in the income
statement,

Deferred tax asscis resulting from temporary
differences, including the tax value of losses to be
carried forward, are measured at the value at which the
asset is expected to be utilized in future taxable
income, based on the company’s planned use of the
individual assets. Deferred tax asscts which are not
recognized in the balance sheet are disclosed in a note
to the financial statements.

Current Liabilities
Leasing

Lease contracts, which in all material respects transfer
the significant risks and rewards associated with the
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ownership of the asset to the lessee, are classified as
finance leases. Assets treated as finance lcases are
recognized in the balance sheet at the inception of the
lease term at the lower of the fair value of the asset or
the net present value of the future minimum lease
payments. A liability equaling the asset is recognized
in the balance shect. Each lease payment is separated
between a finance charge, recorded as a financial
expense, and a reduction of the outstanding liability,

Assets under finance leases are depreciated in the same
manner as owned assels and are subject to regular
reviews for impairment.

Lease contracts, where the lessor retains the significant
risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the
asset, are classified as operating leases. Lease
payments under operating leases are recognized in the
income statement ratably over the lease term. The total
lease commitment under operating leases is disclosed
in the notes to the financial staterents.

Accounts Payable

Accounts payable are measured in the balance sheet at
amortized cost, which is considered to be equal to the
fair value due to the short-term nature of the liabilitie